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NOVAK DRUCE + QUIGG LLP

ATTORNEYS AT LAW

July 22, 2011

First Class Mail

United States Patent and Trademark Office

Trademark Trial and Appeal Board
P.O. Box 145 1

Alexandria, Virginia 22313-1451

Re: Opposition No. 91194928

Appl. Ser. No. 77/769,844

Opposed Mark: BERRYWAV (and Design)
Our Matter No.: 8173.172

Dear Commissioner:

Enclosed for filing in connection with the above-referenced opposition is Opposer’s Notice of

Reliance # 5, together with the supporting exhibits, filed under certificate of mailing dated July

22, 2011.

In accordance with 37 CFR § 2.197, the undersigned hereby certifies that this letter along with

the documents described in the foregoing paragraph, was deposited with the United States Postal

Service with sufficient postage as first class mail in an envelope addressed to: United States

Patent and Trademark Office, Trademark Trial and Appeal Board, P.O. Box 1451, Alexandria,

Virginia 22313-1451, on this 22nd day of July, 2011.

Thank you for your attention to this matter.

Respectfully yours,

NOVAK DRUCE + QUIGG LLP

Je y J. Morgan
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I hereby certify that this correspondence is being deposited with the
United States Postal Service with sufficient postage as first-class
mail in an envelope addressed to: Trademark Trial and Appeal

Board. United States Patent and Tr%demark Office, P.O.Box I451,, 201 l.Ale ia, VA 22313-1451, on July Q

By:
Jeffrey J. Morgan

CERTIFICATE or MAII '

IN THE UNITED STATES PATENT AND TRADEMARK OFFICE

BEFORE THE TRADEMARK TRIAL AND APPEAL BOARD

RESEARCH IN MOTION

LIMITED

Opposer,

Serial No.: 77/769,844

v. Mark: BERRYWAV (and Design)

Opposition No. 91 194928

BERRYWAV, LLC
\J§/Q/Q/%\—/%%%%%/%

Applicant.

OPPOSER’S NOTICE OF RELIANCE #5:

PRINTED PUBLICATIONS

Opposer Research In Motion Limited (“RIM” or “Opposer”), pursuant to 37 C.F.R. §

2.l22(e), hereby gives notice that it will rely on Research In Motion Limited’s 2009 and 2010

Annual Reports, attached hereto as Exhibits 8 and 9, respectively. The Annual Reports are

available to the general public on the Internet by download from clickable links at RIM’s website

at the URL shown in Exhibit 10. The Annual Reports show financial data related to the sale of

goods and services under the BLACKBERRY trademark and are relevant to show the fame,

notoriety, reputation, prestige and scope of use of the mark.

Additionally, Opposer hereby gives notice that it will further rely on RIM’s Annual

Information Forms for the fiscal year ended February 28, 2009 and the fiscal year ended



February 27, 2010, attached hereto as Exhibits 11 and 12, respectively. The Annual Information

Forms are available to the general public on the Securities and Exchange Commission’s website

on the Internet at the URLs shown in Exhibits 11 and 12. The Annual Information Forms show

financial data related to the sale of goods and services under the BLACKBERRY trademark and

are relevant to show the fame, notoriety, reputation, prestige and scope of use of the mark.

Dated: July , 2011 Wi R. Towns

Jeffrey J. Morgan

Novak Druce + Quigg LLP

1000 Louisiana Street, 53rd Floor

Houston, Texas 77002

Attorneys for Opposer
Research In Motion Limited



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that a copy of the foregoing OPPOSER’S NOTICE OF RELIANCE

#5 was sent by U.S. First Class Mail, postage prepaid, to the following on this 27-“ Oéay of

July, 2011:

Hunter S. Freeman

McNair Law Firm, P.A.
PO Box 447

Greenville, South Carolina 29602-0447

OfNovak Druce + Quiggh§LP
300 New Jersey Ave. NW

Washington, DC 20001



EXHIBIT 8

Submitted with Opposer’s Notice of Reliance # 5

Research In Motion Limited v. BerryWav, LLC.

Opposition No. 91 194928
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Connect to everything you love in life...
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with Blacl<Berry.

Research In Motion (RIM) is proud to be celebrating 25 years of innovation

and 10 years of Blacl<Berry“°. With over 50 million smartphones shipped, RIM
helps users all over the globe connect to the specific people, information and

media that makes their worlds go round. The success of Blacl<Berry products
and services is driven by passionate employees, outstanding partnerships,
distinctive technological expertise, a commitment to quality and a culture that
embraces innovation, customer service and operational excellence.

 
Years of

BlackBerry..



Connect to your favorite entertainment.

Your BlackBerry smartphone puts powerful audio, video and gaming
capabilities at your fingertips. Listen to music or watch videos

whenever you wish. Play mobile games when you have time on

your hands. Take photos or shoot videos of friends. And use built—in

GPS to ensure that you find thatshop, restaurant or dinner party.

 
Purchase a novel, order flowers, reserve concert tickets and book

your next trip — all on your BlackBerry smartphone.
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Keep tabs on your social circles. Share recent baby photos and make sure

friends see your vacation video clips. Wish Uncle Stu "Happy Birthday,”
instant message Sophie about lunch, email the mechanic or call Grandma

just to say hello. Stay linked to the office while in the field or traveling,

send important files to your co—workers and edit documents on the spot.

Plan a night out with the girls or a poker game with the guys. Connecting
to your social networks has never been easier.

1999 2002
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Catch up on the latest news while waiting for your flight. Review last

night's sports scores. Review your stock portfolios performance. Find

a great bistro for next Thursday's business lunch. Check the weather

before heading to the soccer game. investigate the registry for gift
ideas and get directions to the wedding. Make sure tomorrow's

meeting is still on and review the big presentation. Connecting to all

of your important information while on the go has never been easier.
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The following discussion contains forward-looking statements
within the meaning of the US. Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995 and applicable Canadian securities laws,
including statements relating to R/M's plans and expectations
for fiscal 2010, Many factors could cause RIM '5 actual results,
performance or achievements to differ materially from those
expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements, as
described below under "Management's Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations -
Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.”

Fellow Shareholders:

Fiscal 2009 was another year of exceptional growth for
Research In Motion (RIM). The BlackBerry subscriber account

base grew by almost 80% in fiscal 2009, driven by strong sales
in both enterprise and consumer markets as well as excep-
tional market acceptance of the new BlackBerry products
launched throughout the year. We are also pleased to report
that BlackBerry was the number one selling smartphone brand
in North America.

2009 marks the 10th anniversary of the BlackBerry wireless
solution, and we are proud to have recently shipped our 50
millionth BlackBerry smartphone. RIM also achieved record

financial results with strong revenue and earnings growth, and
maintained a strong balance sheet with over $2 billion in cash

and investments and no debt. RIM introduced an unprec-
edented number of new smartphones during the year, with
the majority launched in the second half, and continued to

expand the reach of the BlackBerry platform into broader
market segments. -

RlM continues to benefit from the industry shift to smart-
phones and achieved significant market share in both North

America and abroad during fiscal 2009. RlM’s position in the
market and strong partnerships allowed us to grow substan-
tially despite the turbulent economic environment that has

been prevalent throughout fiscal 2009. We are confident in

RlM’s ability to thrive in fiscal 2010 and are taking steps to
position the company to take advantage of the opportunities
ahead.

We are proud of RlM’s accomplishments during the year
and are grateful to the over 12,000 employees around the
world whose talents, hard work and determination enabled
RIM to maintain its market leading position. We would also like

to communicate sincere appreciation to our customers, part-
ners and shareholders for their support throughout fiscal 2009.
Some of RlM’s achievements during the past year included:

0 Revenue growth of 84% from approximately $6 billion
to approximately $11 billion;

- The introduction of many new and powerful BlackBerry
smartphones, including the BlackBerry” Bold" smartphone,
BlackBerry” Pearl” Flip smartphone, B|ackBerry® Storm”
smartphone, BlackBerry” Curve” 8350i smartphone,
BlackBerry” Curve-"‘ 8330 smartphone and BlackBerry”
Curve" 8900 smartphone; '

' Expansion of the BlackBerry subscriber account base to

approximately 25 million subscribers, with record quarterly
net subscriber account additions of 3.9 million in the fourth
quarter;

- The launch of a new, global BlackBerry brand campaign;

0 BlackBerry ranked on the Millward Brown Top 100 Most
Powerful Brands list at number 51 in the world, and rated as
the fastest growing brand on the list with a 390% increase in
brand value;

0 Shipment of the 50 millionth BlackBerry smartphone in
January, with approximately 26 million smartphones shipped
in fiscal 2009 alone;

0 The addition of over 100 new carrier and distribution
partnerships globally;

' Successful penetration of new market segments with
approximately 60% of net subscriber account additions in

fiscal 2009 coming from non-enterprise customers;

0 Enhancement of the mobile experience through powerful
partnerships that helped deliver a wide range of compelling
mobile applications;

0 Expansion of manufacturing capabilities through the
addition of new outsourcing partners around the world
which allowed us to almost double the number of devices
shipped during fiscal 2009; and

0 Receipt of the 2009 GSMA Chairman's Award in recognition
of RlM’s role in pioneering the wireless data industry.



Financial Highlights

(in thousands of‘U'.S. dollars,-except perushare amounts)

 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
  

 

 
 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 

 

U.$. GAAP ‘March 1, 2008 ‘March 3, 2007

Statementiof Operat‘ions~data

 

 
 

 

Revenue ............................................................. .. $ 6,009,395 ’ '$ 3,037,103
Gross ‘margin .............................................................. .. $ 3,080,581 $1 2,657,802
Research -& development and selling, 1 , _ '
‘general and -administration ........ .. 1,241,310 774,095

Amortization .......................... .. 108,112 ' _ 76,879 _
"Investment income ............... .. . v =79,36’l .52,-117
-income before:~.incomes.taxes.. ....... .. 1 . 1,8.-‘l0,52O - " ‘858,'945‘ '-
.=Provision':for‘income taxes 1 516,653 ~ , 1' 227,373 "
‘Net’-‘income ...................... .. ‘:$ 1.,‘293,'867 . '$ 631,572
Earningsrper=share.... ' - . .

«Basic .; . . . . . . . . i . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. .'$ 2.31 _ '$ 11.14
{Diluted ........ ....................................................... .. .$ _ .2.'_26 ’$ :1.‘-.10_

"opeEating edata -(percentage :'o'f-ssrevenue) _
Grossrnargin ............................................... .. .‘51..'3% 54.6%
Research and development ....................... .. 60% 7.8%

‘ Selling, marketing and administration ......................... .. 14.7% 17.7%
2-:Balance1Sheet-data

Cash, cash equivalents, shortaterm .
-investments and investments $ 2,343,996 .$ 1,412,878

Total assets ...................................................................... .. $ 5,511,187 ..$ 3,088,949
Shareholders"‘=‘equity . $3,933,566 $12,483,500  

 

‘BlackBerry Subscriber Account Base -Annual ‘Revenue
lin milliunsl lin billions oi U.S. dollars}
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Financial Results and Administration

Revenue in fiscal 2009 grew to approximately $11 billion from
$6 billion in the previous year. Hardware continued to repre
sent the largest percentage of revenue at 82%, with service

contributing-approximately 13%, and software, accessories,
‘ and other revenue contributing the remainder. RlM shipped

approximately 26 million smartphones in fiscal 2009, which
was driven by strong demand from new customers as well as
handset upgrades from a loyal customer base.

-Gross margin for the year was approximately 46%, down
from fiscal 2008. This decline was principally related to the
introduction of new feature-rich, premium smartphones with
higher associated costs (such as the BlackBerry Bold smart-
phone, BlackBerry Storm smartphone and BlackBerry Curve
8900 smartphone), an increased percentage of revenue derived
from hardware sales relative to software and service fees, and
unfavorable trends in foreign exchange rates.

The past year has been a period of significant investment

for RIM with the launch of a new brand campaign, an aggres-
sive entry into broader market segments and the expansion of
our global R&D capabilities. We plan to leverage these types
of investments and take advantage of opportunities for cost
improvements to grow RlM’s market share and profitability in
fiscal 2010.

Operating expenses for the year totaled approximately
$2.38 billion and remained flat with the previous year as a
percentage of revenue as we continued to invest in brand,
channels and R&D.

Net income in fiscal 2009 increased to $1.89 billion or $3.30
per share fully diluted versus $1.29 billion or $2.26 per share
fully diluted in the prior year.

Capital expenditures increased from approximately $350
million in fiscal 2008 to approximately $834 million in fiscal
2009. The majority of this investment was for new facilities,
computers and equipment to support RlM’s growing employee
base and the expansion and enhancement of the BlackBerry‘‘‘’
infrastructure. RIM also invested $736 million during the year
for acquisitions of intellectual property and companies with
strategic technologies that enhance RlM’s business.

RIM continues to have a strong balance sheet with no debt
and approximately $2.24 billion in cash, cash equivalents,
short-term investments and long-term investments.

 
RlM had over 12,000 employees at the end of fiscal 2009,

up from approximately 8,400 employees at the end of fiscal
2008. This increase was spread across all areas of the com-

pany including R&D, carrier support, business development,
marketing, customer care and manufacturing. We continue to
recruit the best talent and believe that RlM’s team of dedicated
employees is our strongest asset.

Sales, Marketing 8: Distribution

During the past year, RlM continued to expand the availability
of BlackBerry products and services through expansion of dis-
tribution channels in North America and around the world. We
made significant inroads with retail partners and saw the con-

tribution from these channels grow substantially over the year.
Retail sales during the holiday buying season this year were the
strongest ever for RIM, and independent surveys indicated that
BlackBerry smartphones consistently ranked in the top three
bestsellers in North America. BlackBerry smartphones are now
available through approximately-475 carriers and distribution
channels, in over 160 countries around the world.

R&D and Manufacturing

RlM’s product development philosophy has always been
defined by the underlying values of innovation, quality and effi-
ciency; and in fiscal 2009, the R&D team did an exceptional job
of delivering on these values. RIM undertook the ambitious

task of launching a record number of new BlackBerry smart-
phones that incorporated the latest chipset technologies, next
generation network support, new high resolution displays, new
and innovative input technologies and completely new user
interfaces. The launches of these new products — including the
BlackBerry'Bold smartphone (RlM’s first HSDPA smartphone),
the BlackBerry Storm smartphone (RlM’s first touch—screen

smartphone with the award-winning SurePress"‘ technology),
the BlackBerry Pearl Flip smartphone (RlM’s first “c|am~shell"

smartphone), the iDen-based BlackBerry Curve 8350i smart-
phone (with Push-to-Talk) and the BlackBerry Curve 8900
smartphone (based on a next generation platform) - were key
factors that contributed to the stellar revenue and market share
growth experienced by Rllvl this year.



 

RlM continues to focus on scaling its R&D, manufacturing
and new product introduction capabilities. During the year
RIM opened two. new R&D centers - one in Germany and one
in the United States - while also continuing to grow our Ca-
nadian presence. RlM's R&D organization now has over 5,000
employees engaged in areas including advanced research,
product development, standards and licensing. In order to
support the growing demand for our products, we added sig-
nificant capacity to our manufacturing organization by adding
new outsourcing partners globally to increase flexibility and
scalability. in addition, we invested in the upgrade of certain
production and test equipment in our own manufacturing
facility to enable faster production. These efforts were instru-

mental in allowing RIM to ramp production quickly during the
fall in order to meet the strong demand generated by the new
product launches.

Another area of focus during the year was the development
of BlackBerry” Enterprise Server version 5.0. This initiative

involves a substantial effort from hundreds of engineers and
will provide enterprises and their IT departments with the most

scalable, manageable and reliable BlackBerry solution yet. We
are looking forward to launching the product in the comingmonths.

BlackBerry in the Enterprise

The enterprise market continues to be very important to RlM’s
business and there are now over 175,000 organizations with
BlackBerry Enterprise Sewer installed behind the corporate
firewall. RlM’s enterprise customer base is diversified with sig-
nificant growth in the past year coming from sectors including
Government, Law Enforcement, Health Care and Education.

The BlackBerry” Mobile Voice System (BlackBerry MVS) is
also beginning to gain traction as organizations look for ways
to leverage their existing BlackBerry infrastructure to reduce
telecom costs. BlackBerry MVS enables BlackBerry smart-
phones to effectively become a mobile desk-phone, with one
phone number ringing all devices, a singlevoice mailbox to
manage, internal extension dialing capabilities, and added
benefits for IT departments that want better control of the

mobile phones in their organization. BlackBerry MVS can also
help enterprises reduce international calling costs by lever-
aging wireline calling rates. Rather than slowing the adoption
of BlackBerry MVS, the difficult economic times actually appear
to be accelerating interest in the platform due to its potential
for a compelling return on investment. Many organizations are
looking for ways to reduce costs and BlackBerry MVS is a good
fit as it plugs into existing BlackBerry Enterprise Server and
telecom infrastructures at very little incremental cost.

BlackBerry Enterprise Server version 5.0 will be the most sig-
nificant upgrade to BlackBerry Enterprise Server in over three

years and, after many months of planning and testing at over
1,000 beta sites, BlackBerry Enterprise Server V5.0 will be ready
soon. This latest release delivers on several key corporate IT
imperatives, including increased manageability, lower total cost
of ownership, scalability, support for very large scale deploy-
ments and easy mobilization of hundreds of applications.
BlackBerry Enterprise Server 5.0 will also introduce a number

‘of highly desired user capabilities, including file sharing, the
ability to securely download files from the corporate network
and enhanced email management features including the ability
to create/delete/rename folders and assign flags to messages.
This is the most powerful version of BlackBerry Enterprise
Server ever and we believe it will further cement RlM’s leader-
ship position in the enterprise market.

BlackBerry Application Ecosystem

RIM continued to expand the BlackBerry developer community
and to enhance the platform to make it easier for our partners
to develop compelling BlackBerry applications. RIM works with

a broad range of developers, solution providers and system
integrators. Together these groups have already brought thou-
sands of BlackBerry applications and solutions to market and

we expect this number to significantly increase with the launch
of BlackBerry App World”. BlackBerry App World is an online
application storefront designed to help application developers
and carriers reach millions of BlackBerry smartphone users and
to provide consumers with greater choice, enhanced applica-
tion discovery and an easy method for managing the purchase,
installation and upgrades of mobile applications.

Unprecedented Global Growth

V BlackBerry presence

 
 W5’! Countries Carriers & Distribution Channels

 2008 7200‘.-'
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In fiscal 2009 there was a marked increase in the number

of consumer applications being developed for the BlackBerry
platform as the multimedia features on BlackBerry smart-
phones continued to increase and as the number of consumers

selecting BlackBerry smartphones continued to grow. Applica-
tion availability for corporate and business use also remains

robust with new solutions launched this year for the Health
Care, Government, Law Enforcement, Education, Manufac-

turing, Retail and Professional Services markets, among others.
Other initiatives in fiscal 2009 that were focused on sup-

porting a thriving developer community included the launch of

the BlackBerry Partners Fund in partnership with RBC Capital
and Thomson Reuters, the hosting of the first annual Black-
Berry Developer Conference in California and the introduction

of new easy-to—use development tools such as the BIacl<Berry®
JDE Plug-in for Eclipse”.

We look forward to supporting the continued proliferation
of the BlackBerry application ecosystem throughout fiscal 2010.

BlackBerry infrastructure

We continue to invest in the BlackBerry Infrastructure to en-

hance the BlackBerry smartphone experience and support the
growing subscriber account base. In fiscal 2009, the BlackBerry
Infrastructure supported more than triple the amount of traffic

it did in fiscal 2008 with over 3 petabytes of traffic flowing
through the system each month. Our proactive and ongoing
investment in infrastructure has enabled us to continue to

provide the industry-leading functionality, quality of service, se-

curity and scalability required to continue leading the industry
and to continue meeting the growing needs of our customers
and partners.

Customer Support

Providing exceptional support for the growing number of
BlackBerry customers is an important competitive advantage
for RIM and its partners. There are now over 1,500 dedicated
technical and affiliated support staff working at five customer

support facilities around the world providing 24-hour, 7—days
per week, multi-lingual support to meet the needs of our

expanding customer base. Four new initiatives were launched

by the BlackBerry” Technical Support Services Team in fiscal

2009, including the BlackBerry“ Certification Program to allow
our partners to enhance their knowledge of BlackBerry hard-
ware and software; BlackBerry“ Support Community Forums,
a self-service discussion medium where device users and IT

administrators come together to ask questions of one another;
BlackBerry Expert Support Center (BESC) to provide on-line
technical support for accounts that have technical support
contracts with RIM; and BlackBerry Answers which acts as

both a mobile and desktop self-serve Q&A center. Many of
the steps taken by the BlackBerry Technical Support Services
Team in fiscal 2009 are designed to support the growing base
of consumers and small business users. These new programs
are designedto find new efficiencies, automate and streamline

support processes, and utiiize smart-technologies to aid our
customers and partners.

The‘\v'ear Ahead

We believe RIM is well positioned to take advantage of the
exciting opportunities that lie ahead in fiscal 2010. Some of our
goals for the year include:

' Expand our customer base in existing and new markets by
growing and strengthening our relationships with carriers
and distribution partners across the globe;

0 Effectively manage costs and operating expenses to grow
earnings;

0 Continue to launch innovative new products and services to
address existing and new market segments;

° Extend RlM’s market leadership through innovation and
focused investments in R&D;

0 Launch BlackBerry Enterprise Server V5.0 and increase the
adoption of BlackBerry® MVS in the enterprise;

0 Continue to expand and grow our presence in the
enterprise market;

- Expand the number and variety of applications and
content available for BlackBerry smartphone users through
BlackBerry App World and through other partnerships;

0 Attract, hire and retain the best available talent to support
RlM's customers and partners and to maintain RIM’s market
leading position; and

0 Continue to focus on delivering strong financial
performance for our shareholders.
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For the Year Ended
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._____________
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 Revenue $ 43,212
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Selling, marketing and
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3% (24,977) Research and development 33 (11,053)
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18. SEGMENT DISCLOSURES
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We love what we do at REM and it shows.

RIM is focused on delivering rich user experiences to our customers through the

design and engineering of BlaclxBerrg smartphones and servic hat are scalable

and sustainable on our partners‘ wireless networl«;s We focused on efficiencg right from

the start In the earlg dogs. BlaCi«;Berrg devices were designed to run on little more than

glorified paging networks. So efficiencg is in our DNA. Our unique experience and e;-Lpertise

gives Blaci\Berrg smartphones significant advantages including long batterg life, real—tirne

detiverg of information and cost effectiveness for our partners and end—users. To those of

gou who choose to dream and live big. we put that i'~.ii"IC.l of spirit into our smartphones so gou

can pursue gout‘ own passions at ang time.

Blacl/;Berrg smartphones were among the first smartphones in North /—\merica and

remain the leading smartphone platform in this marl«;et Now we are seeing a similar

revolution happening around the world. Both enterprises and Consumers recognize our

streng h as a world class platform for all l-:.inds of communications 4 instant messaging.

social networkinge»mail. texting, multimedia and more The tight integration of leading

edge hardware. purpose built software and the Blacl~;Berrg infrastructure has generated

one of the most robust and secure solutions on the mari<et. Couple this with the multi-

tasking. push-based applications capabilities of the platform and Blacl<Berrg smartphones

standout. Blacl<Berrg is a smartphone platform that tiou can run gour life on.

Success follows passion.

BlackBerm



At RIM, we build groundbreaking wireless technologg. We pioneered

push email and made smartphones before most people knew what

a smartphone was. Todag, feature phone users are rapidlg aspiring

to smartphones, and this transition is propelling our industrg and the

adoption of the BlackBerrg platform.

Message from the Co-CEOs
Fiscal 2010 was another successful gear for Research In Motion

with strong financial results and record shipments of 37 million
BlackBerrg’ smartphones. RIM was able to successfullg expand
its global market share while continuing to achieve strong sales in
North America. This exceptional performance was fueled bg a broad

portfolio of compelling products and services and solid business
execution bg R|M’s emplogees and partners.

Against the backdrop of a challenging global economg, RIM
grew revenue 35% to $15 billion and GAAP net income 30% to $2.5
billion in fiscal 2010. At the end ofthe gear, the BlackBerrg subscriber
account base was over 41 million with approximatelg 17 million net
new subscriber accounts added and over a third of our customers

residing outside North America. There
are now approximatelg 550 carriers
and distribution partners offering
BlackBerrg products and services in
175 countries around the world. RIM

continues to expand the reach ofthe
BlackBerrg platform in new market
segments while maintaining its
leadership position in the enterprise .
market.

In fiscal 2010, over 35% of total
revenues came from outside
North America. RIM’s international

presence grew significantlg during
the gear, with robust growth in Latin
America, Asia Pacific, the Middle East

and Western Europe. Smartphones such

as the BlackBerrg’ Curve" 8520 and the BlackBerrg‘ Bold“ 9700, as
well as popular applications that leverage the BlackBerrg platform
such as push email and BlackBerrg‘ Messenger (BBM'"), have been
instrumental in driving RIM’s internationalgrowth. BBM use increased
five-fold during fiscal 2010 and we believe this growth is a strong
indicator of the potential for keg applications to drive even greater
adoption and logaltg to the BlackBerrg platform in the coming gear.

The value ofthe BlackBerrg brand also increased substantiallg
during fiscal 2010. Last gear we were pleased to have been included
on the Millwa rd Brown Top 100 Most Powerful Brands list. This

gear ourfocused business efforts, including integrated marketing
programs and new advertising campaigns, helped move the
BlackBerrg brand from 51st to 16th on the list. We continue to invest
in the BlackBerrg brand in order to grow consumer interest and
purchase intent both internationallg and in North America.

Research and development efforts in fiscal 2010 remained
focused on developing world class products and services that deliver

 

a unique mobile experience for our customers. During the past gear
we launched several new BlackBerrg smartphones with enhanced

functionalitg, features, performance and designs, including the
BlackBerrg’ Tour“ 9630, BlackBerrg’ Curve" 8520/ 8530, BlackBerrg’
Storm2'" 9520/9550 and BlackBerrg Bold 9700.

Earlg in fiscal 2010, RIM launched BlackBerrg App World" and we
are pleased to report that the developer communitg is thriving. RIM
continues to provide developers with robust tools, technologies and
business services to assist them in creating and marketing even more

powerful and useful applications. Related initiatives in 2010 included
the second annual BlackBerrg Developer Conference, the introduction
of the BlackBerrg Academic Program and a varietg of new
development tools, such as BlackBerrg’ Theme Studio, BlackBerrg
Widgets, and new pagment and advertising tools and services to

help developers monetize their applications. RIM also previewed
a new WebKit-based browserthat is expected to launch in

fiscal 2011.

The BlackBerrg platform remains the
corporate standard for enterprise mobilitg. In

‘ recognition of its leadership in the enterprise
market in fiscal 2010, BlackBerrg’ Enterprise
Server version 5.0 received the Global

Mobile Award forthe ‘Best Mobile Enterprise
Product or Service’ at GSMA’s Mobile World

;‘ Congress and was also the first mobile

platform to receive the Common Criteria
EAL4+ Securitg Certification. We are
committed to maintaining our leadership
in this market and continue to strengthen

the BlackBerrg platform through enhanced

integration of value added services such as BlackBerrg’ Mobile Voice
Sgstem (mobilizes PBX sgstems and brings office phone features to
BlackBerrg smartphones), Chalk Pushcast Software (for corporate
podcasting) and enterprise social networking and collaboration
tools. We also recentlg launched BlackBerrg’ Enterprise Server
Express to further extend our market opportunitg bg providing
companies of all sizes with a cost-effective solution that supports
mobile connectivitg for emplogees without compromising securitg or
manageabilitg.

RIM is a pioneer in the wireless data industrg and the
BlackBerrg solution was purposefullg designed to deliver a true
'push’based user experience while also offering advanced securitg,
manageabilitg, spectral efficiencg and power management.
RIM’s BlackBerrg‘ Infrastructure is a keg component in the unique
BlackBerrg value proposition and continues to be an important
source of our competitive advantage. RIM’s proactive and ongoing
investment in infrastructure has enabled us to continue to provide the

 

 



 
industry—leading functionality, efficiency, security, scalability and
quality of service necessary to continue meeting the growing needs
of our customers and partners.

RIM’s global manufacturing and supply chain teams have
responded to the growing demand for BlackBerry smartphones by
expanding their capabilities while continuing to focus on meeting
customer expectations. In addition to strategic investments in our

Waterloo manufacturing facility, we have also grown manufacturing
capacity through the engagement of new outsourcing partners
and the addition of production capabilities in key locations around
the world. These new facilities complement our existing network

of manufacturing partners and meet R|M’s quality, cost, flexibility
and delivery expectations. We continue to invest in the integration
of our global supply chain by developing relationships with key
suppliers to support future product requirements and achieve greater
forecast accuracy through improved demand management. In
support of this supply chain integration and growth, RIM is investing
in a leading edge IT systems infrastructure and global information
management system, driving a world class supply chain engine to
achieve the highest possible levels of customer satisfaction. With
continued global supply chain investment and the addition of flexible
production capacity, RIM is well positioned to meet the requirements
of our global carrier partners and will continue to focus on improving
these capabilities to meet and exceed our partner expectations for on
time delivery of high quality products fortheir customers.

Providing exceptional support forthe growing number of
BlackBerry subscribers is an important competitive advantage for
RIM and its partners. Our customer support efforts in fiscal 2010

continued to focus on scalability, ease-of use, efficiency and cost-
effectiveness. In addition, we continue to build and strengthen RIM’s

corporate structure, including our capabilities in finance, operations,
administration and facilities to meet current and future growth. RIM

had approximately 14,000 employees at the end of fiscal 2010. We
continue to seek the best talent across all areas of the Company,

including R82D, carrier support. business development, marketing,
customer care and manufacturing. We also continue to recruit co—op
students and new graduates from top universities and colleges to
ensure that we have the best new talent to enable us to continue to

grow and innovate.
We are proud of RIM's accomplishments in fiscal 2010 and

would like to thank our employees around the world whose
abilities, hard work and determination enabled RIM to once again
execute effectively and deliver solid results. We would also like
to com municate sincere appreciation to our customers, partners,
suppliers and shareholders fortheir support throughout the year.

 

We believe that RIM is well positioned to take advantage ofthe

exciting opportunities that lie ahead in fiscal 2011. Some of our goals
for the coming year include;

- continue to enhance the user experience by launching a new
Webkit-based browser and new user interface for BlackBerry

smartphones, and by growing the number of applications and
services available forthe BlackBerry platform;

- launch several new BlackBerry smartphones and other products
and services to drive growth in both new and existing geographies
and market segments;

- build on the strong international growth achieved overthe past

year by launching tiered pricing and targeted products and
services within new market segments and geographies;

- continue to increase the value of the BlackBerry brand through

integrated marketing efforts;

- expand our leadership in the business market by leveraging
value-added services, including Chalk Pushcasts and BlackBerry
Mobile Voice System, while also aggressively targeting small and
medium sized business with BlackBerry Enterprise Server Express;

- aggressively grow the BlackBerry subscriber account base and
deliver solid financial performance and profitability for our
shareholders; and

- attract, hire and retain the best available talent to support RIM's

customers and partners and to maintain RIM’s market leading
position.

 
Mike Lazaridis
President and Co-CEO



\/\/ithcipproximdteig S50 corriers 82 distribution

portners in i7S countries RIM is vveii positioned to grow

the presence of the Bioci<Berrg picitform outsicie of North Americo.

Our internotionoi subscriber bdse neoriu doubled in fiscoi 20i0.

This growth hos been driven bu strong Bidci<Berrg cidoption in

mori<ets ‘inciuding Ldtin Americo, SouthEost Asia, the Middle Eost

ond V\/estern Europe.

Riivi hos civeroged over 80% Oi'1flUC1igi’O\A/‘Eh in our

subscriber bose since the iounch of Bioci<Berrg. Fiscoi 20i0 vvds

cinother geor of exceptionoi growth.

Over 250,000 orgdnizdtions Ground the world ore

currentig using Bioci<Berrg Enterprise Server ond in fiscoi 2010

RIM introduced Bioci<Berru Enterprise Server Express to better

oddress the needs of smoii ond medium sized businesses.

Reoi—time com municcitions ond deep, rich,

contextuoi ond integroteci oppiicotions moke

Bioci<Berrg smortphones port ofthe fobric oi‘ our end—users‘ iives.

These oppiicdtions ieverdge the push—bosed. multi-tosking copobiiities of

the Bioci<Berrg piottorm to deliver ci unique ond intuitive user e><perience.

Bicici<Berrg App V\/orid provides o singie point of occess to o vvorici of

compeiiing oppiicotions thot otiow gou to run uour tire on Bioci<Berrg.



Blacl<Berrg Subscriber Annual Revenue
ACCOU D-ts (in billions of US. dollars)
(in millions)

inl‘erna‘rional Subscriber Fiscal 20iO Geographic

ACCOUMS Revenue Mix
(inmillions)
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27% Other
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BlackBerrg Smarlpnone Worldwide Emplogees
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Research In Motion Limited

Research In Motion (RlM). a global leader in wireless innovation. revolutionized the mobile industru with

the introduction of the Blackiserru solution in 1999. Todag. BlackBerru products and services are used bu

millions of customers around the world to stag connected to the people and content that matter most

throughout their dag, For more information about RIM (TS><: RIM: NASDAQ: RIMM), visit www.rim.com or

www.blacl<berrg.com.

BlackBerrg Smartphone

EPS —Diluted Shipments Fiscal 2010 Revenue Mixliii 5» d0llCiiS) tin million: of devices)

(TAGR 85%

81% Devices

14% Services

2% Software
3% Other
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Financial Highlights

(in thousands of U.S. dollars, except per share amounts)

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Februarg 27, Februarg 28, March 1,
US. GAAP 2010 2009 2008

Statement of Operations data

Revenue ......... .. $ 14,953,224 $ 11,065,186 $ 6,009,395

Gross margin ..................................................................................... .. $ 6,584,266 $ 5,097,298 $ 3,080,581
Research 82 development and selling,

general and administration ........................................................... .. 2,872,239 2,180,399 1,241,310
Amortization .................................................. .. 310,357 194,803 108,112

Litigation ............... .. ........................................................ .. 163,800 - -
Investment income ............................................................................. .. 28,640 78,267 79,361

income before income taxes .............................................................. .. 3,266,510 2,800,363 1,810,520

Provision for income taxes ................................................................. .. 809,366 907,747 516,653

Net income ............... ....................................................................... .. 2,457,144 $ 1,892,616 $ 1,293,867

Earnings per share I

Basic ........... ..... fl ............................................................................. .. $ 4.35 $ 3.35 $ 2.31

“Diluted ............................................................................................... .. $ 4.31 $ . 3.30 $ 2.26

Operating data (percentage of revenue)

Gross margin ..................................................................................... .. 44.0% 46.1% 51.3%
Research and development ............................................................... .. 6.5% 6.2% 6.0%

Selling, marketing and administration ................................................ .. 12.8% 13.5% 14.7%

Balance sheet data

Cash, cash equivalents, short-term

investments and long-term investments ......................................... .. $ 2,869,723 $ 2,238,847 $ 2,343,996
Total assets ....................................................................................... .. $10,204,409 56 8,101,372 $ 5,511,187

Shareholders’ equitg .......................................................................... .. $ 7,602,663 $ 5,874,128 $ 3,933,566

international Subscriber

 

Annual Revenue Subscriber Accounts Accounts
(in billions of US. dollars) (in millions) (in millions)

CAGR 71% CAGR 84°/o CAGR 88%
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RESEARCH IN MOTION LIMITED

MD&2A
V Management’s Discussion and Analysis

of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
for the Three Months and Fiscal Year ended February 27, 2010

April 1, 2010

The following Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(“MD8iA“) should be read together with the audited consolidated financial statements and the accompanying
notes (the “Consolidated Financial Statements”) of Research In Motion Limited ('RIM” or the “Company”) for the

fiscal year ended February 27, 2010. The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in U.S. dollars and
have been prepared in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles (“U.S. GAAP”).
All financial information in this MD8lA is presented In U.S. dollars, unless otherwise indicated.

RIM has prepared this MD82A with reference to National Instrument 51-102 “Continuous Disclosure Obligations”
of the Canadian Securities Administrators. Under the U.S./Canada Multiiurisdictional Disclosure System, the

Company is permitted to prepare this MD&A in accordance with the disclosure requirements of Canada, which
requirements are different from those of the United States. This MD82A provides information for the fiscal year
ended February 27, 2010 and up to and including April 1, 2010.

Additional information about the Company, including the Company's Annual Information Form, which is

included in RIM’s Annual Report on Form 40—F, can be found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and on the US.
Securities and Exchange Commission’s (“SEC”) website at www.sec.gov.

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements
This MD82A contains forward—looking statements within the meaning of the U.S. Private Securities Litigation

Reform Act of 1995 and applicable Canadian securities laws, including statements relating to:

- assumptions and expectations described in the Company's critical accounting policies and estimates;

the Company’s expectations regarding the adoption and impact of accounting pronouncements;

- the Company’s expectations regarding the average selling price (‘ASP’) of its BIackBerry devices;

- the Company’s estimates regarding revenue sensitivity for the effect of a change in ASP;

- the Company’s expectations regarding gross margin;

- the Company’s estimates regarding its effective tax rate;

- the Company’s estimates of purchase obligations and other contractual commitments; and

- the Company’s expectations with respect to the sufficiency of its financial resources.

The words “expect”, “anticipate”, “estimate”, “may”, “will”, “should”, “intend”, “believe”, “plan” and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward—looking statements. Forward—looking statements are based on
estimates and assumptions made by RIM in light of its experience and its perception of historical trends,
current conditions and expected future developments, as well as other factors that RIM believes are

appropriate in the circumstances. Many factors could cause RIM’s actual results, performance or
achievements to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward—looking statements,

including, without limitation, the following factors, which are discussed in greater detail in the “Risk Factors”
section of RIM’s Annual Information Form, which is included in RIM’s Annual Report on Form 40-F:

- third—party claims for infringement of intellectual property rights by RIM and the outcome of any litigation
with respect thereto;
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- RIM’s ability to successfully obtain patent or other proprietary or statutory protection for its technologies
and products;

- RIM’s ability to obtain rights to use software or components supplied by third parties;

- potential impact of copyright levies in numerous countries;

- R|M’s ability to enhance current products and develop new products on a timely basis;

- intense competition within R|M’s industry, including the possibility that strategic transactions by R|M’s

competitors or carrier partners could weaken RIM’s competitive position or require RIM to reduce its prices

to compete effectively;

- RIM’s ability to establish new, and to build on existing, relationships with its network carrier partners and

distributors, and its dependence on a limited number of significant customers;

- R|M’s reliance on its suppliers for functional components and the risk that suppliers will not be able to

supply components on a timely basis or in sufficient quantities;

- the efficient and uninterrupted operation of R|M’s network operations center and the networks of its carrier

partners, and the risk of other business interruptions;

- dependence on key personnel and RIM’s ability to attract and retain key personnel;

- RlM’s ability to manage production facilities and its reliance on third-party manufacturers for certain
products;

- the occurrence or perception of a breach of RIM’s security measures, or an inappropriate disclosure of

confidential or personal information;

- the continued quality and reliability of RlM’s products and services and the potential effect of defects in

products and services;

- risks associated with RiM’s expanding foreign operations;

- reliance on strategic alliances and relationships with third-party network infrastructure developers, software
platform vendors and service platform vendors;

- effective management of growth and ongoing development of R|M’s service and support operations;

- regulation, certification and health risks, and risks relating to the misuse of R|M’s products;

- restrictions on import and use of R|M’s products in certain countries due to encryption of the products and
services;

- reduced spending by customers due to the uncertainty of economic and geopolitical conditions;

- risks associated with acquisitions, investments and other business initiatives;

- foreign exchange risks;

- tax liabilities, resulting from changes in tax laws or otherwise, associated with R|M’s worldwide operations;

- general commercial litigation and other litigation claims as part of R|M’s operations;

- changes in interest rates affecting RIM’s investment portfolio and the creditworthiness of its investment
portfolio;

- government regulation of wireless spectrum and radio frequencies;

- collection, storage, transmission, use and distribution of user and personal information could give rise to
liabilities or additional costs;

- expansion and availability of attractive content for BlackBerry App World;

- difficulties in forecasting R|M’s quarterly financial results and the growth of its subscriber base; and

- risks related to R|M’s historical stock option granting practices.

These factors should be considered carefully, and readers should not place undue reliance on RlM’s forward-
looking statements. RIM has no intention and undertakes no obligation to update or revise any

forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as
required by law.



Overview

RIM is a leading designer, manufacturer and marketer of innovative wireless solutions for the worldwide

mobile communications market. Through the development of integrated hardware, software and services that

support multiple wireless network standards, RIM provides platforms and solutions for seamless access to

time-sensitive information, including email, phone, short messaging service, Internet and intranet-based

applications. RIM technologg also enables a broad arrag of third partg developers and manufacturers to
enhance their products and services with wireless connectivitg to data. RiM’s portfolio of award—winning

products, services and embedded technologies are used by thousands of organizations and millions of
consumers around the world and include the BlackBerrg® wireless solution, the RIM Wireless Handheld”

product line, software development tools and other software and hardware. The Compang’s sales and

marketing efforts include collaboration with strategic partners and distribution channels, as well as its own

supporting sales and marketing teams, to promote the sale of its products and services.

Sources of Revenue

RiM’s primarg revenue stream is generated by the BlackBerrg wireless solution, which includes sales of

BlackBerrg wireless devices, software and service. The BIackBerrg wireless solution provides users with a
wireless extension of their work and personal email accounts, including Microsoft Outlook®, IBM® Lotus Notes®,

Novell® GroupWise®, and mang ISP email services.

RIM generates hardware revenues from sales, primarilg to carriers, of BlackBerrg wireless devices, which

provide users with the abilitg to send and receive wireless messages and data. R|M’s BlackBerrg wireless

devices also incorporate a mobile phone, web-browsing capabilitg and enables the use of data functions such
as calendar, address book, task and memo lists and other functions associated with personal organizers.

Certain BlackBerrg devices also include multimedia capabilities.

RIM generates service revenues from billings to its BlackBerrg subscriber account base primarilg from a

monthlg infrastructure access fee to a carrier or reseller where a carrier or other reseller bills the BlackBerrg
subscriber. The BlackBerrg subscriber account base is the total of all subscriber accounts that have an active

status at the end of a reporting period. Each carrier instructs RIM to create subscriber accounts and
determines whether each subscriber account should have an active status. Each carrier is charged a service

fee for each subscriber account each month, with substantiallg all of such service fees having no regard to the

amount of data traffic that the subscriber account passes over the BlackBerrg architecture. If a carrier

instructs RIM to deactivate a subscriber account, then RIM no longer includes that subscriber account in its

BlackBerrg subscriber account base and ceases billing the carrier with respect to such account from the date
of notification of its deactivation. On a quarterlg basis, RIM mag make an estimate of pending deactivations

for certain carriers that do not use a fullg—integrated provisioning sgstem. It is, however, each carrier’s

responsibilitg to report changes to its subscriber account status on a timelg basis to RIM. The number of
subscriber accounts is a non—fInancial metric and is intended to highlight the change in RiM’s subscriber base

and should not be relied upon as an indicator of RiM’s financial performance. The number of subscriber
accounts does not have ang standardized meaning prescribed bg U.S. GAAP and mag not be comparable to

similar metrics presented by other companies.

An important part of RiM’s BlackBerrg wireless solution is the software that is installed at the corporate or

small and medium size enterprise server level, and in some cases on personal computers. Software revenues

include fees from (i) licensing RIM’s Blackiserrg Enterprise Server” (‘BES”) software; (ii) BlackBerrg Client Access
Licenses (“CALs”), which are charged for each subscriber using the BlackBerrg service via a BES;

(iii) maintenance and upgrades to software; and (iv) technical support (‘T-Support”).

Revenues are also generated from non—warrantg repairs, sales of accessories and non—recurring engineering
development contracts (‘NRE").
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Fiscal 2010 Operating Results — Executive Summarg

The following table sets forth certain consolidated statement of operations data, which is expressed in
thousands of dollars, for the periods indicated, except for share and per share amounts, as well as certain

consolidated balance sheet data, as at Februarg 27, 2010, Februarg 28, 2009 and March 1, 2008, which is

expressed in thousands of dollars.

(in thousands, except for per share amounts)
As at and for the Fiscal Year Ended 

February 27, Februarg 28, Change March 1, Change
2010 2009 2010/2009 2008 2009/2008

Revenue ............................................. .. 3 14,953,224 $11,065,186 $3,888,038 $6,009,395 3 5,055,791

Cost of sales ...................................... .. 8,368,958 5,967,888 2,401,070 2,928,814 3,039,074

Gross margin ..................................... .. 6,584,266 5,097,298 1,486,968 3,080,581 2,016,717 

Operating expenses

Research and development ............. .. 964,841 684,702 280,139 359,828 324,874

Selling, marketing and

 

 

administration“) ........................... .. 1,907,398 1,495,697 411,701 881,482 614,215

Amortization .................................... .. 310,357 194,803 115,554 108,112 86,691

Litigationm ...................................... .. 163,800 — 163,800 - -

3,346,396 2,375,202 971,194 1,349,422 1,025,780

Income from operations ...................... .. 3,237,870 2,722,096 515,774 1,731,159 990,937
Investment income .............................. .. 28,640 78,267 (49,627) 79,361 (1,094)

Income before income taxes ............... .. 3,266,510 2,800,363 466,147 1,810,520 989,843

Provision for income taxes“) ................ .. 809,366 907,747 (98,381) 516,653 391,094

Net income ......................................... .. $ 2,457,144 $ 1,892,616 $ 564,528 $ 1,293,867 $ 598,749

Earnings per share
Basic ............................................... .. 3 4.35 $ 3.35 S 1.00 $ 2.31 $ 1.04

Diluted ............................................ .. 3 4.31 $ 3.30 $ 1.01 $ 2.26 $ 1.04

Weighted—average number of shares
outstanding (0O0’s)

Basic ............................................... .. 564,492 565,059 559,778

Diluted ............................................ .. 569,759 574,156 572,830

Total assets ........................................ .. $10,204,409 $ 8,101,372 3 2,103,037 $ 5,511,187 3 2,590,185
Total liabilities .................................... .. 3 2,601,746 $2,227,244 8 374,502 $ 1,577,621 3 649,623

Total long-term liabilities ..................... .. 3 169,969 $ 111,893 $ 58,076 $ 103,190 S 8,703
Shareholders’ e uit ........................... .. 8 7,602,663 $ 5,874,128 3 1,728,535 $ 3,933,566 $1,940,562       

Notes:

(1) Selling, marketing and administration includes unusual charges of $96.4 million and provision for income taxes includes
a benefit of $175.1 million, both recognized in fiscal 2010. These items related to a charge for the pagment on account of

certain emplogee tax liabilities related to certain previously exercised stock options with measurement date issues that
were exercised during certain time periods and the foreign exchange impact of the enactment of functional currencg

tax legislation in Canada. See 'Non—GAAP Financial Measures”.

(2) in fiscal 2010, the Compang settled all Visto Corporation (“Visto') outstanding worldwide patent litigation (the ‘Vista

Litigation‘). The keg terms of the settlement involved the Compang receiving a perpetual and fullg—paid license on all
Vista patents, a transfer of certain Visto intellectual propertg, a one-time payment bg the Compang of $267.5 million and

the parties executing full and final releases in respect of the Vista Litigation. Of the total pagment bg the Company,
$163.8 million was expensed as a litigation charge in fiscal 2010. The remainder of the payment was recorded as
intangible assets. See “Non-GAAP Financial Measures”.



The following table sets forth certain consolidated statement of operations data expressed as a percentage of
revenue for the periods indicated:

For the Fiscal Year Ended

 

 

 

February 27, February 28, Change March 1, Change
2010 2009 2010/2009 2008 2009/2008

Revenue ................................................ .. 100.0% 100.0% — 100.0% -

Cost of sales ......................................... .. 56.0% 53.9% 2.1% 48.7% 5.2%

Gross margin ........................................ .. 44.0% 46.1% (2.1%) 51.3% (5.2%)

Operating expenses

Research and development ................ .. 6.5% 6.2% 0.3% 6.0% 0.2%

Selling, marketing and administration .. 12.8% 13.5% (0.7%) 14.7% (1.2%)
Amortization ....................................... .. 2.1% 1.8% 0.3% 1.8% -

Litigation ............................................ .. 1.1% - 1.1% — -

22.5% 21.5% 1.0% 22.5% (1.0%)

income from operations ........................ .. 21.5% 24.6% (3.1%) 28.8% (4.2%)
Investment income ................................. .. 0.2% 0.7% (0.5%) 1.3% (0.6%)

income before income taxes .................. .. 21.7% 25.3% (3.6%) 30.1% (4.8%)

Provision for income taxes ..................... .. 5.4% 8.2% (2.8%) 8.6% (0.4%)

Net income ............................................ .. 16.3% 17.1% (0.8%) 21.5% (4.4%)

Revenue for fiscal 2010 was $14.95 billion, an increase of $3.88 billion, or 35.1%, from $11.07 billion in fiscal 2009. The number

of BlackBerry devices sold increased by approximately 10.7 million, or 41.1%, to approximately 36.7 million in fiscal 2010,
compared to approximately 26.0 million in fiscal 2009. Device revenue increased by $3.03 billion, or 33.3%, to $12.12 billion,
reflecting primarily the higher number of devices sold. Service revenue increased by $756.0 million, or 53.9% to $2.16 billion,
reflecting the increase of approximately 17 million net new BlackBerry subscriber accounts since the end of fiscal 2009. The
total BlackBerry subscriber account base increased to over 41 million at the end of fiscal 2010. Software revenue increased
by $6.7 million to $258.6 million in fiscal 2010 and Other revenue increased by $99.2 million to $420.2 million in fiscal 2010.

The Company’s net income for fiscal 2010 was $2.46 billion, an increase of $564.5 million, or 29.8%, compared

to net income of $1.89 billion in fiscal 2009. Basic earnings per share (‘basic EPS”) was $4.35 and diluted

earnings per share (“diluted EPS”) was $4.31 in fiscal 2010 compared to $3.35 basic EPS and $3.30 diluted EPS in
fiscal 2009, a 30.6% increase in diluted EPS compared to fiscal 2009.

The $564.5 million increase in net income in fiscal 2010 primarily reflects an increase in gross margin in the

amount of $1.48 billion, resulting primarily from the increased number of device shipments, additional
subscriber accounts and a decrease of $98.4 million for the provision for income taxes, which was partially

offset by the decrease of consolidated gross margin percentage, and by an increase of $971.2 million in the

Company’s operating expenses.

A more comprehensive analysis of these factors is contained in ‘Results of Operations’.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
General

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements requires management to make estimates and

assumptions with respect to the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. These estimates and assumptions are based upon

management’s historical experience and are believed by management to be reasonable under the

circumstances. Such estimates and assumptions are evaluated on an ongoing basis and form the basis for

making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other

sources. Actual results could differ significantly from these estimates.

The Company’s critical accounting policies and estimates have been reviewed and discussed with the

Company’s Audit 82 Risk Management Committee and are set out below. The Company’s significant

accounting policies are described in Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Except as noted below,

there have not been any changes to the Company’s critical accounting policies and estimates during the past
three fiscal years.
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Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when it is realized or realizable and earned. The Company considers
revenue realized or realizable and earned when it has persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the product

has been delivered or the services have been provided to the customer, the sales price is fixed or determinable

and collectability is reasonably assured. In addition to this general policy, the following paragraphs describe

the specific revenue recognition policies for each major category of revenue.

Devices

Revenue from the sale of BlackBerry devices is recognized when title is transferred to the customer and all

significant contractual obligations that affect the customer’s final acceptance have been fulfilled. For hardware
products for which the software is deemed not to be incidental, the Company recognizes revenue in
accordance with industry—specific software revenue recognition guidance. In addition, provisions are made at
the time of sale for warranties and royalties. For additional information on warranties and royalties, see below.

Service

Revenue is recognized rateably on a monthly basis when the service is provided. In instances where the
Company bills the customer prior to performing the service, the prebilling is recorded as deferred revenue. See
“Sources of Revenue” for more information on the calculation of the number of subscriber accounts.

Software

Revenue from licensed software is recognized at the inception of the license term and in accordance with

industry—specific software revenue recognition guidance. When the fair value of a delivered element has not
been established, the Company uses the residual method to recognize revenue if the fair value of undelivered
elements is determinable. Revenue from software maintenance, unspecified upgrades and T—Support contracts

is recognized over the period that such items are delivered or that services are provided.

Other

Revenue from the sale of accessories is recognized when title is transferred to the customer and all significant

contractual obligations that affect the customer’s final acceptance have been fulfilled. Revenue for non-

recurring engineering contracts is recognized as specific contract milestones are met. The attainment of
milestones approximates actual performance. Revenue from repair and maintenance programs is recognized
when the service is delivered which is when the title is transferred to the customer and all significant

contractual obligations that affect the customer’s final acceptance have been fulfilled.

Multiple-Element Arrangements

The Company enters into transactions that represent multiple-element arrangements which may include any
combination of hardware and/or service or software and T—Support. These multiple-element arrangements are

assessed to determine whether they can be separated into more than one unit of accounting or element for

the purpose of revenue recognition. When the appropriate criteria for separating revenue into more than one
unit of accounting is met and there is vendor specific objective evidence of fair value for all units of

accounting or elements in an arrangement, the arrangement consideration is allocated to the separate units of
accounting or elements based on each unit’s relative fair value. When the fair value of a delivered element has
not been established, the Company uses the residual method to recognize revenue if the fair value of
undelivered elements is determinable. This vendor specific objective evidence of fair value is established

through prices charged for each revenue element when that element is sold separately. The revenue

recognition policies described above are then applied to each unit of accounting.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts and Bad Debt Expense

The Company is dependent on a number of significant customers and on large complex contracts with respect

to sales of the majority of its products, software and services. The Company expects increasing accounts

receivable balances with its large customers to continue as it sells on increasing number of its wireless devices

and software products and service relay access through network carriers and resellers rather than directly.

The Company evaluates the collectability of its accounts receivables based upon a combination of factors on
a periodic basis, such as specific credit risk of its customers, historical trends and economic circumstances.

The Company, in the normal course of business, monitors the financial condition of its customers and reviews

the credit history of each new customer. When the Company becomes aware of a specific customer’s inability
to meet its financial obligations to the Company (such as in the case of bankruptcy filings or material

deterioration in the customer’s operating results or financial position, and payment experiences), RIM records

a specific bad debt provision to reduce the customer’s related accounts receivable to its estimated net



realizable value. If circumstances related to specific customers change, the Company’s estimates of the

recoverability of accounts receivables balances could be further adjusted.

inventories and Inventory Purchase Commitments
Raw materials are stated at the lower of cost and replacement cost. Work in process and finished goods
inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost includes the cost of materials plus

direct labor applied to the product and the applicable share of manufacturing overhead. Cost is determined
on a first—in—first-out basis.

The Company’s policy for the valuation of inventory, including the determination of obsolete or excess

inventory, requires management to estimate the future demand for the Company’s products within specific time
horizons. Inventory purchases and purchase commitments are based upon such forecasts of future demand
and scheduled rollout of new products. The business environment in which RIM operates is subject to rapid

changes in technology and customer demand. The Company performs an assessment of inventory during
each reporting period, which includes a review of, among other factors, demand requirements, component part

purchase commitments of the Company and certain key suppliers, product life cycle and development plans,
component cost trends, product pricing and quality issues. If customer demand subsequently differs from the
Company’s forecasts, requirements for inventory write—offs that differ from the Company’s estimates could
become necessary. If management believes that demand no longer allows the Company to sell inventories
above cost or at all, such inventory is written down to net realizable value or excess inventory is written off.

Furthermore, the Company records on accrual for estimated fees and vendor inventory liabilities related to

non-cancelable purchase commitments with contract manufacturers and suppliers for quantities in excess of
future demand forecasts.

For further details on the carrying value of inventory as at February 27, 2010, refer to Note 6 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements, and for further details on the vendor inventory liabilities refer to Note io to
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

intangible Assets and Goodwill

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and are comprised of acquired technology,
licenses and patents.

In connection with business acquisitions completed by the Company, the Company identifies and estimates

the fair value of (i) acquired technology, which is subsequently amortized straight-line over two to five years

and, (ii) net assets acquired, including certain identifiable intangible assets other than goodwill and liabilities

assumed in the acquisitions. Any excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair value of the net assets
acquired is assigned to goodwill.

Under certain license agreements, the Company is committed to current and future royalty payments based

on the sales of products using certain licensed technologies. License agreements involving up—front lump sum

payments are capitalized as part of intangible assets and are then amortized straight-line over the terms of
the license agreements or on a per unit basis based upon the anticipated number of units sold during the
terms, subject to a maximum of five years.

Patents include trademarks, internally developed patents, as well as individual patents or portfolios of patents

acquired from third parties or through the acquisition of third parties. Costs capitalized and subsequently
amortized include all costs necessary to acquire intellectual property, as well as legal costs arising out of the

defense of any Company—owned patents. Patents are amortized straight-line over 17 years or over their
estimated useful life.

The Company assesses the impairment of intangible assets and goodwill whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. In addition, goodwill is assessed for
impairment on an annual basis. Unforeseen and adverse events, changes in circumstances and market

conditions and adverse legal factors are potential indicators that the carrying amount of intangible assets

and goodwill may not be recoverable and may require an impairment charge.

The useful lives of intangible assets are evaluated quarterly to determine if events or circumstances warrant a

revision to their remaining period of amortization. Legal, regulatory and contractual factors, the effects of

obsolescence, demand, competition and other economic factors are potential indicators that the useful life of
an intangible asset may be revised.

 



 

 

 

 

The Company has concluded that no impairment relating to intangible assets and goodwill exists as of
February 27, 2010.

For further details on the intangible assets and goodwill, refer to Notes 8 and 9 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Uflgaflon V

The Company is involved in litigation in the normal course of its business. The Company may be subject to

claims (including claims related to patent infringement, purported class actions and derivative actions) either

directly or through indemnities against these claims that it provides to certain of it partners. Management
reviews all of the relevant facts for each claim and applies judgment in evaluating the likelihood and, if

applicable, the amount of any potential loss. Where it is considered likely for a material exposure to result and
where the amount of the claim is quantifiable, provisions for loss are made based on management’s

assessment of the likely outcome. The Company does not provide for claims that are considered unlikely to

result in a significant loss, claims for which the outcome is not determinable or claims where the amount of the

loss cannot be reasonably estimated. Any settlements or awards under such claims are provided for when

reasonably determinable. For further details on legal matters, see “Legal Proceedings” below and see “Results
of Operations — Litigation‘ for the fiscal year ended February 27, 20iO.

Royalties

The Company recognizes its liability for royalties in accordance with the terms of existing license agreements.

Where license agreements are not yet finalized, RIM recognizes its current estimates of the obligation in
accrued liabilities in the Consolidated Financial Statements. When the license agreements are subsequently

finalized, the estimate is revised accordingly. Management’s estimates of royalty rates are based on the

Company’s historical licensing, royalty payment experience and forward—looking expectations.

Warranty

The Company provides for the estimated costs of product warranties at the time revenue is recognized.

BlackBerry devices are generally covered by a time-limited warranty for varying periods of time. The

Company’s warranty obligation is affected by product failure rates, differences in warranty periods,

regulatory developments with respect to warranty obligations in the countries in which the Company carries
on business, freight expense, and material usage and other related repair costs.

The Company’s estimates of costs are based upon historical experience and expectations of future return
rates and unit warranty repair cost. To the extent that the Company experiences changes in warranty activity,

or changes to costs associated with servicing those obligations, revisions to the estimated warranty liability

would be required. For further details on the Company’s warranty expense experience and estimates for fiscal
2010, refer to Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Income Sensitivity

The Company estimates that a 10% change to either the current average unit warranty repair cost, measured

against the device sales volumes currently under warranty as at February 27, 2010, or to the current average

warranty return rate, would have resulted in adjustments to warranty expense and pre—tax income of
approximately $25.2 million, or i.O% of consolidated annual net income.

investments

All cash equivalents and investments, other than cost method investments of $2.5 million and equity method
investments of $4.1 million, are classified as available—for—sale and are carried at fair value with unrealized

gains and losses recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) until such investments mature or are sold. in
the event of a decline in value which is other than temporary, the investment is written down to fair value by a

charge to income.

The Company defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a

liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. when determining the
fair value measurements for assets and liabilities required to be recorded at fair value, the Company
considers the principal or most advantageous market in which it would transact and considers assumptions

that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, such as inherent risk, non—performance risk



and credit risk. The Company applies the following fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in the

valuation methodologies in measuring fair value into three levels:

- Level 1 —- Unadjusted quoted prices at the measurement date for identical assets or liabilities in active
markets.

- Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar
assets and liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets

that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

- Level 3 — Significant unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity.

The fair value hierarchy also requires the Company to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize
the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value.

When determining the fair value of its investments, the Company primarily relies on an independent third

party valuator. Pricing inputs by the service provider are generally received from two primary vendors. The
pricing inputs are reviewed for completeness, tolerance and accuracy on a daily basis by the service provider.
The Company also reviews and understands the inputs used in the valuation process and assesses the pricing
of the securities for reasonableness. To do this, the Company utilizes internally developed models to estimate

fair value. Inputs into the internally developed models may include benchmark yields, reported trades, quotes,

issuer spreads, benchmark curves (including Treasury benchmarks, LIBOR and swap curves), discount rates,
derivative indices, recovery and default rates, prepayment rates, trustee reports, bids/offers and other

reference data. in the event the Company disagrees with the pricing from the service provider, the Company

will challenge the pricing and work with the service provider to determine the fair value.

Given the current market conditions and economic uncertainties, management exercises significant judgment

in determining the fair value of the Company’s investments and the investment’s classification level within the
three-tier fair value hierarchy. As at February 27, 2010, the Company had approximately 98% of its
available-for—sale investments measured at fair value classified in Level 2.

The Company regularly assesses declines in the value of individual investments for impairment to determine
whether the decline is other-than—temporary. The Company makes this assessment by considering available

evidence, including changes in general market conditions, specific industry and individual company data, the

length of time and the extent to which the market value has been less than cost, the financial condition, the
near—term prospects of the individual investment and the Company’s intent and ability to hold the investments

to maturity. In the event that a decline in the fair value of an investment occurs and the decline in value is
considered to be other—than—temporary, an appropriate write—down would be recorded. The Company’s
assessment on whether an investment is other—than—temporarily impaired or not, could change due to new

developments or changes in assumptions or risks to any particular investment.

For further details on the Company’s investments and fair value conclusions, refer to Note 4 and Note 5 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Income Taxes

The Company uses the liability method of tax allocation to account for income taxes. Under this method,
deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized based upon differences between the financial

reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, and measured using enacted tax rates and laws that will be
in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. The Company’s deferred income tax asset balance

represents temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities,

including research and development costs and incentives, capital assets, non-deductible reserves and

operating loss carryforwards, net of valuation allowances. The Company records a valuation allowance to
reduce deferred income tax assets to the amount management considers to be more likely than not to be

realized. The Company considers both positive evidence and negative evidence, to determine whether, based

upon the weight of that evidence, a valuation allowance is required. Judgment is required in considering the
relative impact of negative and positive evidence. If the Company determines that it is more likely than not
that it will not be able to realize all or part of its deferred income tax assets in future fiscal periods, the

valuation allowance would be increased, resulting in a decrease to net income in the reporting periods when
such determinations are made.

 

 

 



 
 

 

Significant judgment is required in evaluating the Company’s uncertain tax positions and provision for income

taxes. The Company uses a two—step process in assessing its uncertain tax positions. The two—step process

separates recognition from measurement. The first step is determining whether a tax position has met the

recognition threshold by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not
to be sustained upon examination. The second step is measuring a tax position that has met the recognition

threshold as the largest amount of benefit that is more than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement. The

Company continually assesses the likelihood and amount of potential adjustments and adjusts the income tax

provisions, income tax payable and deferred taxes in the period in which the facts that give rise to a revision
become known. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as interest

expense that is netted and reported within investment income. For further details, refer to Note i0 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Company uses the flow—through method to account for investment tax credits (‘|TCs”) earned on eligible

scientific research and experimental development expenditures. The Company applies judgement in

determining which expenditures are eligible to be claimed. Under this method, the iTCs are recognized as a
reduction to income tax expense.

The Company’s provision for income taxes is based on a number of estimates and assumptions as

determined by management and is calculated in each of the jurisdictions in which it conducts business. The

Company’s consolidated income tax rates have differed from statutory rates primarily due to the tax impact

of foreign exchange differences, |TCs, manufacturing activities, the amount of net income earned in Canada

versus other operating jurisdictions and the rate of taxes payable in respect of those other operating

jurisdictions, and non-deductible stock compensation. The Company enters into transactions and

arrangements in the ordinary course of business in which the tax treatment is not entirely certain. In particular,
certain countries in which it operates could seek to tax a greater share of income than has been provided. The

final outcome of any audits by taxation authorities may differ from estimates and assumptions used in

determining the Company’s consolidated tax provision and accruals, which could result in a material effect on
the consolidated income tax provision and the net income for the period in which such determinations are
made.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has an incentive stock option plan for officers and employees of the Company or its
subsidiaries.

The Company estimates stock—based compensation expense at the grant date based on the awards fair
value as calculated by the Black—Scholes—Merton (“BSM”) option—pricing model and is recognized rateably over

the vesting period. The BSM model requires various judgmental assumptions including volatility, forfeiture
rates and expected option life. if any of the assumptions used in the BSM model change significantly, stock-

based compensation expense may differ materially in the future from that recorded in the current period.

In connection with its stock option review and the restatement of prior year financial statements, the Company

applied judgment in choosing whether to revise measurement dates for prior option grants described below
under “Restatement of Previously issued Financial Statements”. While the Company believes it made

appropriate judgments in determining the correct measurement dates for its stock option grants in connection
with the restatement, the issues surrounding past stock option grants and financial statement restatements are

complex and guidance in these areas may continue to evolve. if new guidance imposes additional or different

requirements or if the SEC or the Ontario Securities Commission (“OSC”) disagrees with the manner in which

the Company has accounted for and reported the financial impact, there is a risk the Company may have to
further resta-te its prior financial statements, amend its filings with the SEC or the OSC (including the

Consolidated Financial Statements and this MD8lA), or take other actions not currently contemplated.

The Company has a Restricted Share Unit Plan (the ‘RSU Plan”) under which eligible participants include any

officer or employee of the Company or its subsidiaries. The RSU Plan was approved at the Company’s Annual

General Meeting on July 18, 2005 and received regulatory approval in August 2005. Restricted Share Units

(“RSUs”) are redeemed for either common shares issued by the Company, common shares purchased on the

open market by a trustee selected by the Company or the cash equivalent on the vesting dates established
by the Board of Directors or the Compensation, Nomination and Governance Committee of the Board of

Directors. The compensation expense is calculated based on the fair value of the equity award and the

amount is recognized over the vesting period of the RSU.



The Company has a Deferred Share Unit Plan (the “DSU Plan’), adopted by the Board of Directors on
December 20, 2007, under which each independent director will be credited with Deferred Share Units (“DSUS”)

in satisfaction of all or a portion of the cash fees otherwise payable to them for serving as a director of the

Company. Grants under the DSU plan replace the stock option awards that were historically granted to

independent members of the Board of Directors. After such a director ceases to be a director, DSUs will be
redeemed for cash with the redemption value of each DSU or, at the Company’s option and subject to receipt

of shareholder approval, by way of shares purchased on the open market or issued by the Company. DSUs

are accounted for as liability-classified awards.

For further details on the Company’s stock—based compensation, refer to Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Impact of Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet implemented

in January 2010, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued authoritative guidance to improve
disclosures about fair value measurements. The guidance amends previous literature to require an entity to

provide a number of additional disclosures regarding fair value measurements including significant transfers
between Leveli and Level 2 on a gross basis and the reasons for such transfers, transfers in and out of

Level 3 on a gross basis and the reasons for such transfers, the entity's policy for recognizing transfers
between Levels and to disclose information regarding purchases, sales, issuances and settlements on a gross

basis in the Level 3 reconciliation of recurring fair value measurements. The guidance also further clarifies

existing guidance on disclosure requirements around disaggregation and valuation techniques for both

recurring and non—recurring fair value measurements in either Level 2 or Level 3. The new authoritative

guidance is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2009, except for the

requirement to separately disclose purchases, sales, issuances and settlements in the Level 3 reconciliation,
which is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2010. The Company will adopt

the guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 2011 and the first quarter of fiscal 2012, respectively. The Company is

currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of this guidance will have on its financial statement
disclosures.

In October 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on revenue recognition for arrangements with multiple

deliverables. The guidance amends previous literature to require an entity to use an estimated selling price

when vendor specific objective evidence or acceptable third party evidence does not exist for any products or
services included in a multiple element arrangement. The arrangement consideration should be allocated

among the products and services based upon their relative selling prices, thus eliminating the use of the
residual method of allocation. The guidance also requires expanded qualitative and quantitative disclosures

regarding significant judgements made and changes in applying the guidance. The new authoritative

guidance is effective for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years beginning

after June 15, 2010, with early application permitted. The Company plans to adopt the guidance in the first

quarter of fiscal 2011 and the Company does not expect the adoption will have a material impact on the
Company’s results of operations and financial condition.

In October 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on certain revenue arrangements that include

software elements. The guidance amends previous literature to exclude tangible products containing software

components and non—software components that function together to deliver the product’s essential

functionality from applying software revenue recognition guidance to those products. The new authoritative

guidance is effective for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified in fiscal years on or after
June 15, 2010 with early application permitted. The Company plans to adopt the guidance in the first quarter
of fiscal 2011 and the Company’s does not expect the adoption will have a material impact on the Company’s

results of operations and financial condition.

In June 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance to amend the manner in which an enterprise performs an

analysis to determine whether the enterprise’s variable interest gives it a controlling interest in the variable
interest entity (“VIE”). The guidance uses a qualitative risks and rewards approach by focusing on which

enterprise has the power to direct the activities of the VIE, the obligation to absorb the entity's losses and

rights to receive benefits from the entity. The guidance also requires enhanced disclosures related to the VIE.
The new authoritative guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after November 15, 2009. The

Company will adopt the guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 2011 and the Company does not expect the

adoption will have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations and financial condition.

In June 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance amending the accounting for transfers of financial
assets. The guidance, among other things, eliminates the exceptions for qualifying special—purpose entities
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from the consolidation guidance, clarifies the requirements for transferred financial assets that are eligible for

sale accounting and requires enhanced disclosures about a transferor’s continuing involvement with
transferred financial assets. This new authoritative guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after

November 15, 2009. The Company will adopt the guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 2011 and the Company

does not expect the adoption will have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations and
financial condition.

in November 2008, the SEC announced a proposed roadmap for comment regarding the potential use by US.

issuers of financial statements prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

("iFRS"). IFRS is a comprehensive series of accounting standards published by the international Accounting

Standards Board. On February 24, 2010, the SEC issued a statement describing its position regarding global

accounting standards. Among other things, the SEC stated that it has directed its staff to execute a work plan,
which will include consideration of IFRS as it exists today and after completion of various “convergence”

projects currently underway between U.S. and international accounting standards setters. By 2011, assuming

completion of certain projects and the SEC staff’s work plan, the SEC will decide whether to incorporate IFRS
into the US. financial reporting system. The Company is currently assessing the impact that this proposed

change would have on the consolidated financial statements, accompanying notes and disclosures, and will
continue to monitor the development of the potential implementation of IFRS.

Restatement of Previously issued Financial Statements
Overview

As discussed in greater detail under “Explanatory Note Regarding the Restatement of Previously Issued

Financial Statements‘ in the MD82A for the fiscal year ended March 3, 2007 and Note 12(c) to the audited

consolidated financial statements of the Company for the fiscal year ended March 3, 2007, the Company

restated its consolidated balance sheet as of March 4, 2006 and its consolidated statements of operations,

consolidated statements of cash flows and consolidated statements of shareholders’ equity for the fiscal

years ended March 4, 2006 and February 26, 2005, and the related note disclosures (the "Restatement"), to
reflect additional non—cash stock compensation expense relating to certain stock—based awards granted prior

to the adoption of the Company’s stock option plan on December 4, 1996 (as amended from time to time, the

“Stock Option Plan’) and certain stock option grants during the 1997 through 2006 fiscal periods, as well as

certain adjustments related to the tax accounting for deductible stock option expenses. The Restatement was

the result of a voluntary internal review (the ‘Review”) by the Company of its historical stock option granting

practices. The Restatement did not result in a change in the Company’s previously reported revenues, total
cash and cash equivalents or net cash provided from operating activities.

OSC Settlement

As discussed in greater detail under “Restatement of Previously issued Financial Statements — OSC Settlement”

in the MD8iA for the fiscal year ended February 28, 2009, on February 5, 2009, a panel of Commissioners of

the OSC approved a settlement agreement (the ‘Settlement Agreement”) with the Company and certain of its

officers and directors, including its Co—Chief Executive Officers (“Co-CEOs") relating to the previously disclosed

OSC investigation of the Company’s historical stock option granting practices.

As part of the Settlement Agreement, the Company agreed to enter into an agreement with an independent

consultant to conduct a comprehensive examination and review of the Company and report to the Company’s

board of directors and the staff of the OSC the Company’s governance practices and procedures and its

internal control over financial reporting. The Company retained Protiviti Co. (“Protiviti”) to carry out this

engagement. See “independent Governance Assessment” and Appendix A to this MD8iA for a further

description of Protiviti’s engagement, its recommendations and the Company’s responses to such

recommendations. A copy of Protiviti’s recommendations will also appear on the website of the OSC.

Independent Governance Assessment

As described above, the Company’s historical stock option granting practices were the subject of an internal

review by a special committee (the "Special Committee’) of the Board of Directors (“Board”) and investigations

by government authorities in Canada and the United States. in March 2007, the Special Committee made
recommendations to the Board on corporate governance that were adopted by the Board. Later in the same

year, the Company resolved litigation brought by a pension fund, which resulted in the Company

implementing additional corporate governance changes. Since March 2007, five new independent directors

have joined the Board. As a result of these developments, and the importance placed by the Board on



enhanced governance standards, the Board has devoted a considerable amount of time and attention to

corporate governance, and has had significant involvement in reviewing and improving the Company’s

corporate governance practices prior to the engagement of Protiviti described below.

Pursuant to the Settlement Agreement, the Company agreed to submit to an independent assessment of its

governance practices and procedures by Protiviti. Protiviti is a consultant selected by staff of the OSC as

being an independent entity with experience in governance assessments. Schedule ‘C’ to the Settlement

Agreement prescribed the procedures to be followed by the Company and Protiviti in conducting the
assessment. Protiviti proceeded to conduct its review subject to the terms of the Settlement Agreement.

Schedule “C” to the Settlement Agreement required Protiviti to prepare a draft report and submit that report to

the Company for review and comment before the report was finalized. Schedule “C” contemplates that, with
respect to each of the recommendations in the final report, the Company will (a) adopt the recommendation,
(b) adopt alternative measures that the Company and Protiviti agree are acceptable to address the
consultant’s recommendation, or (c) decline to adopt the recommendation.

Where the Company has agreed to adopt a recommendation, either as initially proposed or as modified, the

Company is required to disclose in its MD82A a description of the recommendation that the Company has

agreed to implement, together with the Company’s plan, along with any actions already taken, to implement
the recommendation. A decision to decline to adopt a recommendation must be made by the Company’s

independent directors and the reasons for that decision must be set out in writing and disclosed in the
Company’s MD8lA.

Arising from the events leading to the Settlement Agreement, the Company’s Board and senior management
team, including the Company’s Co—CEOs, are committed to establishing and maintaining high standards of

corporate governance. This has been demonstrated by significant governance improvements adopted by the
Company over the past four and a half years, together with additional improvements that the Company is in

the process of adopting or has agreed to adopt.

Following field work, on October 26, 2009, Protiviti submitted a draft report to the Board and to staff of the

OSC, as of June 30, 2009, regarding certain of the Company’s corporate governance practices. The Lead
Director and the Chair of the Board's Compensation, Nomination and Governance Committee, representing the

independent directors of the Board, consulted with other Board members, participated in subsequent
discussions with Protiviti concerning its draft reports and provided direction in connection with the Company’s

responses to the draft reports.

in the course of providing comments on the draft reports, the Lead Director and the Chair of the Board’s

Compensation, Nomination and Governance Committee and Protiviti had contemporaneous discussions

concerning the necessity or appropriateness of the recommendations and the steps required by the Company
to address certain of the recommendations, with a view to completing those discussions with the issuance of

the final report contemplated by the Settlement Agreement. Following the conclusion of those discussions
Protiviti issued its final report.

The final report contains 29 recommendations in 13 subject areas. The Company has addressed, agreed to

adopt or has already adopted 27 of these recommendations in whole and two others in part.

The Board found the final report helpful in many respects, and considered all of the recommendations.

Because the report reflects field work to June 30, 2009, it does not take into account certain governance

changes and other enhancements adopted by the Company over the past nine months, many of which were

contemplated or in progress during the course of Protiviti’s engagement. Some recommendations have

already been implemented or are being implemented by the Board because of the corporate governance
work described above. In considering further changes to the Company’s corporate governance practices, the

Board is cognizant of the rapid and extraordinary growth of the Company, in terms of number of employees
and its expanding operations around the world. It is also recognizes that the Company’s entrepreneurial
culture has been a significant factor in the Company’s success and that no one set of governance practices

fits all companies. The Board wants to ensure that its governance practices, while fully compliant, are

necessary or appropriate for the unique company that is RIM. As Protiviti itself notes in its report, considerable

professional judgment is involved in evaluating the information provided and developing its observations and
recommendations, such that others could evaluate the information differently and draw other conclusions.

Ultimately, the Board believes that it is best situated, in terms of access to information and knowledge of the
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Company and its current governance practices, to determine which of the recommendations are necessary or

appropriate for the Company and how such recommendations should be implemented.

Attached as Appendix A are the recommendations made by Protiviti in its final report, together with the

Company’s response to each recommendation. Where the Company has declined to adopt a
recommendation, that decision was made by the Company’s independent directors, and the reasons for that

decision are set out in Appendix A. Appendix A also contains a brief discussion about Protiviti’s scope of review
as set out in Attachment “I” to Protiviti’s final report.

SEC Settlements

As discussed in greater detail under ‘Restatement of Previously Issued Financial Statements — SEC

Settlements” in the MD82A for the fiscal year ended February 28, 2009, on February 17, 2009, the Company, and

certain of its officers, including its Co—CEOs, entered into settlements with the SEC that resolved the previously

disclosed SEC investigation of the Company’s historical stock option granting practices.

Actions Taken as a Result of the Review

As previously disclosed and before the retention of Protiviti, the Board, based on the recommendations of the
Special Committee, implemented a number of measures in response to the findings of the Special Committee,
including measures that are designed to enhance the oversight and corporate governance of the Company
and to strengthen the Company’s control over its stock option granting process in particular. These measures
include:

- Benefits from Option Grants — All directors and each of R|M’s Co—CEOs and Chief Operating Officers (“c-

level officers‘) agreed in respect of options that were incorrectly priced to return any benefit on previously
exercised options and to reprice unexercised options that were incorrectly priced. All vice presidents of the

Company were asked to agree to similar treatment for their options that have dating issues, where those
options were granted after the employee’s commencement of employment and in the employee’s capacity
as vice president. All of the stock options held by directors, c—level officers and vice presidents that were

subject to such repricing have been repriced, and the Company received $8.7 million, including interest, in
restitution payments from its directors, c—level officers and vice presidents in fiscal 2008. In addition to the
repricings described above, certain employees of the Company agreed in fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2009 to

reprice stock options held by them that were incorrectly priced. In fiscal 2010, the Company completed the
repricing to a higher exercise price of certain of its outstanding stock options. Repriced options in fiscal
2010, which were all done on a voluntary basis between the Company and the option holder, include 27

stock option grants in respect of options to acquire 456,800 common shares and in fiscal 2009 43 stock
option grants in respect of options to acquire 752,775 common shares.

- Changes to the Company’s Stock Option Granting Practices — In June 2007, the Board approved a formal
policy on granting equity awards, the details of which are described in the Company’s Management
Information Circular, dated May 28, 2008 (the “Management information Circular‘), a copy of which can be
found on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov. In addition, in July 2007, the

Board of Directors determined to exclude independent directors from future stock option grants.

- Changes to the Board, Board Committees and Organizational Structure — In accordance with the Special
Committee’s recommendations and other considerations, the Board established in 2007 an Oversight

Committee, separated the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, implemented other changes to the
Board, Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, and Nominating Committee, and changed various

management roles. In addition to Barbara Stymiest and John Wetmore, who became directors of the

Company in March 2007, David Kerr and Roger Martin were elected as directors of the Company at the

Annual General Meeting of the Company on July 17, 2007. Each of the new directors is “independent” within

the meaning of applicable securities laws and stock exchange rules. As previously disclosed, each of

Douglas Fregin, Kendall Cork and Douglas Wright did not stand for re-election at the Annual General

Meeting of the Company in 2007. Kendall Cork and Douglas Wright were appointed to the honorary

position of Director Emeritus of the Board effective July 17, 2007 in recognition of their substantial
contributions to the Company over many years.

- Other Changes — The Company established an internal audit department and an individual commenced

employment with the Company in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2008 in the position of Senior Vice President,
Risk Performance and Audit. This new officer reports directly to the Audit 82 Risk Management Committee as

well as administratively to the Co-Chief Executive Officer, Jim Balsillie. Additionally, the Company enhanced

its capabilities in US. GAAP and in securities disclosure and compliance matters issues by establishing two



new permanent full—time positions which have been filled, respectivelu, bu an emplouee with expertise in U.S.

GAAP and an emplouee with expertise in securities disclosure and compliance. The latter emplouee is

assisting in the administration of the Companu’s equitu awards granting program.

Review Costs

Included in the Companu’s selling, marketing and administration expenses in fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2009 are

legal, accounting and other professional costs incurred bu the Companu as well as other costs incurred bu the

Companu under indemnitu agreements in favor of certain officers and directors of the Companu, in each case
in connection with the Review, the Restatement, and the regulatoru investigations and litigation related thereto.

Jim Balsillie and Mike Lazaridis, the Companu’s Co-CEOs, voluntarilu offered to assist the Companu in

defrauing costs incurred in connection with the Review and the Restatement bu contributing CAD $10.0 million
(CAD $5.0 million each) of those costs. The Companu received these voluntaru pauments in the second quarter

of fiscal 2008, which were recorded net of income taxes as an increase to additional paid—in capital. In

addition, as part of the Notice of Application that was filed with the Ontario Superior Court of Justice-

Commercial List bu a pension fund shareholder, seeking various orders against the Companu and named

directors, the Companu and the other defendants entered into an agreement with the shareholder to settle the

Application and a proposed derivative action. Under the settlement, among other things, the Companu agreed

to the paument of CAD $1.1 million on account of the shareholder’s legal costs, and consistent with their earlier

voluntaru agreement to contribute CAD $5.0 million each to defrau the costs incurred bu RIM in connection with
the Review, Jim Balsillie and Mike Lazaridis, agreed to pau RIM a further CAD $2.5 million each to defrau the

Review costs incurred bu the Companu. The Companu received these voluntaru pauments of CAD $2.5 million

each in the third quarter of fiscal 2008, which were recorded net of income taxes as an increase to additional

paid—in capital. Under the Settlement Agreement, the Co-CEOs and R|M’s former Chief Financial Officer agreed
to contribute an additional CAD $29.8 million (a total of CAD $44.8 million) to defrau costs incurred bu the

Companu in the investigation and remediation of stock options, granting practices and related governance

practices at the Companu. These contributions are being made through those individuals undertaking not to

exercise vested RIM options to acquire an aggregate of 1,160,129 common shares of the Companu. These

options have a fair value equal to the aggregate contribution amounts determined using a BSM calculation
based on the last trading dau prior to the dau the OSC issued a notice of hearing in respect of the matters

giving rise to the settlement.

Risks Related to the Company’s Historical Stock Option Granting Practices

As a result of the events described above, the Companu continues to be subject to risks which are discussed in

greater detail in the “Risk Factors” section of RiM’s Annual information Form, which is included in RiM’s Annual

Report on Form 40—F.

Results of Operations — Fiscal 2010 Compared to Fiscal 2009 and Fiscal 2008

Fiscal year end February 27, 2010 compared to fiscal year ended February 28, 2009
Revenue

Revenue for fiscal 2010 was $14.95 billion, an increase of $3.88 billion, or 35.1%, from $11.07 billion in fiscal 2009.

A comparative breakdown of the significant revenue streams is set forth in the following table:

For the Fiscal Year Ended

Change Flscal

February 27, 2010 Februaru 28, 2009 2010/2009

Number of devices sold ............... .. 36,707,000 26,009,000 10,698,000 41.1%

Avera eSellin Price .................... .. $ 330 $ 349 3 (19) (5.4%)        

Revenue (in thousands)

Devices ........................................ .. 5 12,115,765 81.0% $ 9,089,736 82.1% $ 3,026,029 33.3%

Service ......................................... .. 2,158,591 14.4% 1,402,560 12.7% 756,031 53.9%

Softwa re ...................................... .. 258,635 1.7% 251,871 2.3% 6,764 2.7%

Other ........................................... .. 420,233 2.9% 321,019 2.9% 99,214 30.9%

$14,953,224 100.0% $ 11,065,186 100.0% $ 3,888,038 35.1%

Device revenue increased bu $3.03 billion, or 33.3%, to $12.12 billion, or 81.0% of consolidated revenue, in fiscal
2010 compared to $9.09 billion, or 82.1%, of consolidated revenue in fiscal 2009. This increase in device revenue

 

  

 

 

 

 



 

 

over the prior gear was primarilg attributable to a volume increase of approximatelg 10.7 million units, or 41.1%,

to approximatelg 36.7 million devices in fiscal 2010 compared to approximatelg 26.0 million devices in fiscal

2009. ASP decreased to $330 in fiscal 2010 from $349 in fiscal 2009 reflecting a shift in the mix of certain

products shipped in the fiscal gear and the expansion of the Compang’s focus into broader market segments

through the introduction of entrg—level BldckBerrg smartphones.

The Compang estimates that a $10, or 3.0%, change in blended ASP would result in a fiscal gear revenue

change of approximatelg $367.1 million, based upon the Compang’s volume of devices shipped in fiscal 2010.

Service revenue increased bg $756.0 million, or 53.9%, to $2.16 billion or 14.4% of consolidated revenue in fiscal

2010, compared to $1.40 billion, or 12.7% of consolidated revenue in fiscal 2009, reflecting the Compang’s

increase in BlockBerrg subscriber accounts since fiscal 2009. Net BlackBerrg subscriber account additions

were approximatelg 17 million for fiscal 2010 compared to approximatelg 11 million for fiscal 2009. The total

BlackBerrg subscriber account base at the end of fiscal 2010 was over 41 million compared to approximatelg
25 million at the end of fiscal 2009. The percentage of the subscriber account base outside of North America

at the end of fiscal 2010 was approximatelg 38%.

Software revenue includes fees from licensed BES software, CALs, technical support, maintenance and

upgrades. Software revenue increased $6.7 million, or 2.7%, to $258.6 million in fiscal 2010 from $251.9 million in

fiscal 2009. The majority of the increase was attributable to technical support and other software revenues,

partiallg offset bg a decrease in CALs.

Other revenue, which includes non-warrantg repairs, accessories, NRE and gains and losses on revenue

hedging instruments, increased bg $99.2 million to $420.2 million in fiscal 2010 compared to $321.0 million in

fiscal 2009. The majoritg of the increase was attributable to increases in non—warrantg repair and sales of

accessories offset partiallg bg losses realized from revenue hedging instruments. See “Market Risk of Financial

instruments —— Foreign Exchange” for additional information on the Compang’s hedging instruments.

Gross Margin

Consolidated gross margin increased bg $1.48 billion, or 29.2%, to $6.58 billion, or 44.0% of revenue, in fiscal
2010, compared to $5.10 billion, or 46.1% of revenue, in fiscal 2009. The decrease of 2.1% in consolidated gross

margin percentage was primarilg due to a decrease in the blended device margins driven bg shifts in product

mix, the transition to new device platforms, the introduction of feature rich products to address broader

market segments, and a decrease in device ASPs of approximatelg 5.4% compared to fiscal 2009. This

decrease in gross margin was partiallg offset bg higher service revenue which comprised 14.4% of total

revenue mix in fiscal 2010 compared to 12.7% in the same period of fiscal 2009 along with a lower percentage

of revenue from device shipments which comprised 81.0% of total revenue mix in fiscal 2010 compared to 82.1%

in the same period of fiscal 2009. Gross margin percentage for devices is generallg lower than the Compang’s

consolidated gross margin percentage.

Operating Expenses

The table below presents a comparison of research and development, selling, marketing and administration,

amortization and litigation expenses for fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009.

(in thousands)
For the Fiscal Year Ended

Change — Fiscal

February 27, 2010 Februarg 28, 2009 2010/2009

% of g % of % of
Revenue Revenue Change

Revenue ............................................. .. $14,953,224 $11,065,186 $3,888,038 35.1%

Operating expenses

Research and development ................ .. 3 964,841 6.5% $ 684,702 6.2% 3 280,139 40.9%

Selling, marketing and administration .. 1,907,398 12.8% 1,495,697 13.5% 411,701 27.5%
Amortization ....................................... .. 310,357 2.1% 194,803 1.8% 115,554 59.3%

Litigation ............................................ .. 163,800 1.1% — — 163,800 -

Total .................................................. .. 3 3,346,396 22.5% $2,375,202 21.5% 3 971,194 40.9%



 

Total operating expenses for fiscal 2010 as a percentage of revenue increased by 1.0% to 22.5% of revenue
compared to fiscal 2009.

Research and Development

Research and development expenditures consist primarily of salaries and benefits for technical personnel, new

product development costs, travel, office and building infrastructure costs and other employee costs.

Research and development expenditures increased by $280.1 million to $964.8 million, or 6.5% of revenue, in

fiscal 2010, compared to $684.7 million, or 6.2% of revenue, in fiscal 2009. The majority of the increases during

fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009 were attributable to salaries and benefits due to an increase in the

average headcount associated with research and development activities, new product development costs and
office and building infrastructure costs.

Selling, Marketing and Administration Expenses

Selling, marketing and administration expenses consist primarily of marketing, advertising and promotion,
salaries and benefits, external advisory fees, information technology costs, office and related staffing

infrastructure costs and travel expenses.

Selling, marketing and administration expenses increased by $411.7 million to $1.91 billion for fiscal 2010

compared to $1.50 billion for fiscal 2009. As a percentage of revenue, selling, marketing and administration

expenses decreased to 12.8% in fiscal 2010 versus 13.5% in fiscal 2009. The net increase of $411.7 million was

primarily attributable to increased expenditures for marketing, advertising and promotion, including additional

programs to support new product launches, increased salary and benefits expenses primarily as a result of
increased personnel, external advisory fees and information technology costs.

with the enactment of changes to the functional currency tax legislation by the Government of Canada in the

first quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company changed the basis for calculating its income tax provision for its

Canadian operations from Canadian dollars to the US. dollar, its reporting currency, with the effective date

being the beginning of fiscal 2009. Gains realized on the revaluation of these tax liabilities previously
denominated in Canadian dollars throughout 2009 were reversed upon enactment of the changes to the rules

in the first quarter of fiscal 2010. Included in the total selling, marketing and administration for fiscal 2010 is a

$54.3 million charge primarily relating to the reversal of foreign exchange gains previously recorded in fiscal
2009 on the revaluation of Canadian dollar denominated tax liability balances. Throughout fiscal 2009,

foreign exchange gains were offset by foreign exchange losses incurred as a part of the Company’s foreign

currency hedging program. See ‘income Taxes” for the fiscal year ended February 27, 2010 for further details

on the changes to the functional currency tax legislation in Canada, and ‘Market Risk of Financial
Instruments — Foreign Exchange” for additional information on the Company’s hedging instruments.

Selling, marketing and administration expenses for fiscal 2010 also included a charge of $42.1 million for the

payment on account of certain employee tax liabilities related to certain previously-exercised stock options
with measurement date issues that were exercised during certain time periods. The Company’s Board of

Directors approved the payment on account of certain incremental personal tax liabilities of certain

employees, excluding RiM’s Co—CEOs, related to the exercise of certain stock options issued by the Company.

Amortization Expense

The table below presents a comparison of amortization expense relating to capital assets and intangible
assets recorded as amortization or cost of sales for fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009. intangible assets are

comprised of patents, licenses and acquired technology.

(in thousands)
For the Fiscal Year Ended

included in Amortization Included in Cost of sales

February 27, February 28, February 28,February 27,
 2010 2009 Change 2010 2009 Change

Capital assets .............. .. $184,946 $119,209 3 65,737 $159,540 $ 84,168 8 75,372

Intangible assets ......... .. 125,411 75,594 49,817 145,724 48,925 96,799

3 310,357 $194,803 $115,554 $305,264 $133,093 $172,171
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Amortization .

The increased amortization expense primarilg reflects the impact of certain capital assets and intangible asset

additions made during fiscal 2010.

Cost of sales

The increased amortization expense in fiscal 2010, related to the Compang’s manufacturing operations and

BlockBerrg service operations, primarilg reflects the impact of amortization expense with respect to certain

intangible assets and capital asset additions made during fiscal 2010.

Litigation

In fiscal 2010, the Compang settled all the outstanding Vista Litigation. The keg terms of the settlement

involved the Compang receiving a perpetual and fullg—paid license on all Vista patents, a transfer of certain

Vista intellectual propertg, a one—time pagment bg the Compang of $267.5 million and the parties executing full
and final releases in respect of the Vista Litigation. Of the total pagment bg the Compang, $163.8 million was

expensed as a litigation charge in the second quarter of fiscal 2010. The remainder of the pagment was
recorded as intangible assets.

investment income

Investment income decreased bg $49.7 million to $28.6 million in fiscal 2010 from $78.3 million in fiscal 2009.

The decrease primarilg reflects the decrease in gields on investments due to lower interest rates when

compared to the same period in fiscal 2009, offset partiallg bg an increase in the Compang’s average cash
and cash equivalents, shart—term investments and long—term investments balances throughout fiscal 2010

compared to the prior fiscal gear and the gain on sale of ‘investments in fiscal 2009. See “Liquiditg and
Capital Resources”.

Income Taxes

For fiscal 2010, the Compang’s income tax expense was $809.4 million, resulting in an effective tax rate of

24.8% compared to income tax expense of $907.7 million and an effective tax rate of 32.4% for the some period

last gear. The Compang’s effective tax rate reflects the geographic mix of earnings in jurisdictions with
different tax rates.

In the first quarter of fiscal 2010, the Government of Canada enacted changes to its income tax legislation
which allows the Compang the option to elect, on an annual basis, to determine its Canadian income tax

based on its functional currencg (the U.S. dollar) rather than the Canadian dollar. While the Compang had

elected for Canadian tax purposes to adopt these rules in the third quarter of fiscal 2009, the Compang could

not recognize the related income tax benefit of electing to adopt these rules under U.S. GAAP until the first

quarter of fiscal 2010. As a result of the enactment of the changes to the legislation and the Compang’s

election, the Compang was able to recalculate its fiscal 2009 Canadian income tax iiabilitg based on its

functional currencg (the US. dollar) and record an incremental income tax benefit of approximatelg
$145.0 million to net income in fiscal 2010. This election should reduce the volatilitg in the Compang’s effective

tax rate due to changes in foreign exchange. See “Non—GAAP Financial Measures”.

The Compang’s effective tax rate in fiscal 2010 was lower due to the $145.0 million incremental tax benefit
related to fiscal 2009 that resulted from the Compang opting to elect to determine its Canadian income tax

results on its functional currencg (the U.S. dollar). The Compang’s adjusted tax rate for fiscal 2010 was

approximatelg 29.4% in line with management’s estimate of 29%—30%. The Compang’s effective tax rate in

fiscal 2009 was higher primarilg due to the significant depreciation of the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S.

dollar in the third quarter of fiscal 2009 and its effect on the Compang’s US. dollar denominated assets and
liabilities held bg the Compang’s Canadian operating companies that are subject to tax in Canadian dollars.

The incremental tax expense in fiscal 2009 resulting from the significant depreciation of the Canadian dollar
relative to the US. dollar was $99.7 million resulting in an adjusted tax rate for fiscal 2009 of 28.9%.

Management anticipates that the Compang’s effective tax rate for fiscal 2011 will be approximatelg 28%.

Management also anticipates the Compang’s effective tax rate will continue to decrease further in future gears
due to scheduled Canadian corporate tax rate reductions.

The Compang has not provided for Canadian income taxes or foreign withholding taxes that would applg on
the distribution of income of its non—Canadian subsidiaries, as this income is intended to be reinvested

indefinitelg bg these subsidiaries.



Net Income

Net income was $2.46 billion, or $4.35 basic EPS and $4.31 diluted EPS, in fiscal 2010 compared to net income of

$1.89 billion, or $3.35 basic EPS and $3.30 diluted EPS, in the prior fiscal gear. The common shares repurchased

bg the Compang in the third quarter of fiscal 2010 had an impact on the basic and diluted EPS amounts of
$0.03 per share for fiscal 2010.

Adjusted net income for fiscal 2010 was $2.49 billion and adjusted diluted EPS was $4.37 in fiscal 2010. See
“Non-GAAP Financial Measures’.

The $564.5 million increase in net income in fiscal 2010 reflects primarilg an increase in gross margin in the

amount of $1.48 billion, resulting primarilg from the increased number of device shipments, additional
subscriber accounts and a decrease in the provision of income taxes of $98.4 million, which included a benefit

of $145.0 million, which was partiallg offset bg the decrease in consolidated gross margin percentage, as well
as an increase of $971.2 million in the Compang’s operating expenses, which included a litigation charge of

$163.8 million relating to the Vista Litigation and unusual charges of $96.4 million. See ‘Results of Operations -

Selling, Marketing and Administration Expenses”, ‘Results of Operations — Litigation” and “Results of
Operations — income Taxes” for the gear ended Februarg 27, 2010.

The weighted average number of shares outstanding was 564.5 million common shares for basic EPS and
569.8 million common shares for diluted EPS for the fiscal gear ended Februarg 27, 2010 compared to
565.1 million common shares for basic EPS and 574.2 million common shares for diluted EPS for the fiscal gear

ended Februarg 28, 2009.

Common_Shares Outstanding
On March 30, 2010, there were 557.4 million common shares, 8.9 million options to purchase common shares,

1.4 million restricted share units outstanding and 34,801 deferred share units outstanding.

The Compang has not paid ang cash dividends during the last three fiscal gears.

On November 4, 2009, the Compang’s Board of Directors authorized a Common Share Repurchase Program for

the repurchase and cancellation through the facilities of the NASDAQ Stock Market, common shares having an

aggregate purchase price of up to $1.2 billion, or approximatelg 21 million common shares based on trading
prices at the time of the authorization. This represents approximatelg 3.6% of the outstanding common shares of
the Compang at the time of the authorization. In the third quarter of fiscal 2010, the Compang repurchased
12.3 million common shares at a cost of $775.0 million pursuant to the Common Share Repurchase Program.

There was a reduction of $46.5 million to capital stock in the third quarter of fiscal 2010 and the amounts paid in

excess of the per share paid—in capital of the common shares of $728.5 million were charged to retained

earnings. All common shares repurchased bg the Compang pursuant to the Common Share Repurchase

Program have been cancelled. The Common Share Repurchase Program will remain in place for up to 12 months
from November 4, 2009 or until the purchases are completed or the program is terminated bg the Compang.

Fiscal year end February 28, 2009 compared to fiscal year ended March 1, 2008

Revenue

Revenue for fiscal 2009 was $11.07 billion, an increase of $5.06 billion, or 84.1%, from $6.01 billion in fiscal 2008.

A comparative breakdown of the significant revenue streams is set forth in the following table:

For the Fiscal Year Ended 

Change Fiscal
 Februarg 28, 2009 March 1, 2008 2009/2008

Number of devices sold .............. .. 26,009,000 13,780,000 12,229,000 88.7%

Avera e Sellin Price .................. .. $ 349 $ 346 $ 3 0.9%        

Revenue (in thousands)
Devices ....................................... .. $ 9,089,736 82.1% $ 4,768,610 79.4% $ 4,321,126 90.6%
Service ....................................... .. 1,402,560 12.7% 860,641 14.3% 541,919 63.0%

Softwa re ..................................... .. 251,871 2.3% 234,388 3.9% 17,483 7.5%

Other .......................................... .. 321,019 2.9% 145,756 2.4% 175,263 120.2%

3 11,065,186 100.0% $ 6,009,395 100.0% 3 5,055,791 84.1% 
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Device revenue increased by $4.32 billion, or 90.6%, to $9.09 billion, or 82.1% of consolidated revenue, in fiscal

2009 compared to $4.77 billion, or 79.4%, of consolidated revenue in fiscal 2008. This increase in device

revenue over the prior gear was primarily attributable to a volume increase of approximately 12.2 million units,

or 88.7%, to approximately 26.0 million devices in fiscal 2009 compared to approximatelg 13.8 million devices
in fiscal 2008. ASP increased to $349 in fiscal 2009 from $346 in fiscal 2008 due primarilg to a change in the

BlackBerrg device mix of certain new products that were feature rich and designed to operate on new network
technologies.

Service revenue increased bg $541.9 million, or 63.0%, to $1.40 billion or 12.7% of consolidated revenue in fiscal

2009 compared to $860.6 million, or 14.3% of consolidated revenue in fiscal 2008, reflecting the Compang’s

increase in BlackBerrg subscriber accounts since fiscal 2008. Net BlackBerrg subscriber account additions

were approximatelg 11 million for fiscal 2009 compared to approximatelg 6.1 million for fiscal 2008. The total
BlackBerrg subscriber account base at the end of fiscal 2009 was approximatelg 25 million compared to

approximatelg 14 million at the end of fiscal 2008. The percentage of the subscriber account base outside of
North America at the end of fiscal 2009 was approximatelg 32%.

Software revenue includes fees from licensed BES software, CALs, technical support, maintenance and

upgrades. Software revenue increased $17.5 million, or 7.5%, to $251.9 million in fiscal 2009 from $234.4 million in
fiscal 2008. The majoritg of the increase was attributable to maintenance and CALs, offset by a decrease in
BES and other software revenues.

Other revenue, which includes accessories, non-warrantg repairs, NRE and gains and losses on revenue

hedging instruments, increased by $175.3 million to $321.0 million in fiscal 2009 compared to $145.8 million in
fiscal 2008. The majoritg of the increase was attributable to increases in non—warrantg repair, gains realized
from revenue hedging instruments and sales of accessories.

Gross Margin

Consolidated gross margin increased bg $2.02 billion, or 65.5%, to $5.10 billion, or 46.1% of revenue, in fiscal

2009, compared to $3.08 billion, or 51.3% of revenue, in fiscal 2008. The decrease of 5.2% in consolidated gross

margin percentage was primarilg due to a decrease in the blended device margins primarilg driven bg the
introduction of certain new feature rich products that incorporated new technologies which were adopted at a

faster rate than historicallg, lower than anticipated unit shipments of previous generation products, and a

higher percentage of device shipments which comprised 82.1% of the total revenue mix in fiscal 2009

compared to 79.4% in fiscal 2008. Gross margin percentage for devices is generally lower than the Compang’s
consolidated gross margin percentage. The decrease in gross margin percentage relating to devices was

offset in part bg improved service margins resulting from cost efficiencies in R|M’s network operations
infrastructure as a result of the increase in BlackBerrg subscriber accounts.

Operating Expenses

The table below presents a comparison of research and development, selling, marketing and administration,

and amortization expenses for fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal 2008.

(in thousands)
For the Fiscal Year Ended 

Change — Fiscal
 

 

 

February 28, 2009 March 1, 2008 2009/2008

% of % of % of

Revenue Revenue Change

Revenue ................................... .. $11,065,186 $ 6,009,395 $ 5,055,791 84.1%

Operating expenses

Research and development ...... .. 8 684,702 6.2% $ 359,828 6.0% $ 324,874 90.3%

Selling, marketing and
administration ....................... .. 1,495,697 13.5% 881,482 14.7% 614,215 69.7%

Amortization ............................. .. 194,803 1.8% 108,112 1.8% 86,691 80.2%

Total ........................................ .. 5 2,375,202 21.5% $ 1,349,422 22.5% $1,025,780 76.0%

Total operating expenses for fiscal 2009 as a percentage of revenue decreased bg 1.0% to 21.5% of revenue
compared to fiscal 2008.



Research and Development

Research and development expenditures increased bu $324.9 million to $684.7 million, or 6.2% of revenue, in

fiscal 2009, compared to $359.8 million, or 6.0% of revenue, in fiscal 2008. The majoritu of the increases during

fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal 2008 were attributable to salaries and benefits due to an increase in the

average headcount associated with research and development activities, new product development costs,

travel and office and related staffing infrastructure costs.

Selling, Marketing and Administration Expenses

Selling, marketing and administration expenses increased bu $614.2 million to $1.50 billion for fiscal 2009

compared to $881.5 million for the comparable period in fiscal 2008. As a percentage of revenue, selling,

marketing and administration expenses decreased to 13.5% in fiscal 2009 compared to 14.7% in fiscal 2008.

The net increase was primarilu attributable to increased expenditures for marketing, advertising and

promotion expenses including additional programs to support new product launches, salaru and benefits

expenses primarilu as a result of increased personnel, external advisoru fees, office and related staffing
infrastructure costs and travel expenses.

Amortization Expense

The table below presents a comparison of amortization expense relating to capital assets and intangible

assets recorded as amortization or cost of sales for fiscal 2009 compared to fiscal 2008. intangible assets are

comprised of patents, licenses and acquired technologu.

(in lhousands)
For the Fiscal'Year Ended

included in Amortization included In Cost of sales

February 28, March 1, February 28, March 1,

2009 2008 Change 2009 2008 Change

Capital assets ......................... .. $119,209 $ 87,800 $31,409 $ 84,168 $ 45,248 $38,920

Intangible assets ..................... .. 75,594 20,312 55,282 48,925 24,006 24,919

Total ....................................... .. $194,803 $ 108,112 $86,691 $133,093 $ 69,254 $63,839

Amortization

The increased amortization expense primarilu reflects the impact of certain capital assets and intangible asset

additions made during fiscal 2009.

Cost of sales

The increased amortization expense in fiscal 2009, related to the Companu’s manufacturing operations and

BlackBerru service operations, primarilu reflects the impact of amortization expense with respect to certain

intangible assets and capital asset additions made during fiscal 2009.

investment Income

investment income decreased bu $1.1 million to $78.3 million in fiscal 2009 from $79.4 million in fiscal 2008. The

decrease primarilu reflects the decrease in uields due to lower interest rates when compared to the prior uear,

offset partiallu bu an increase in the average cash and cash equivalents, short—term investments and long-
term investments balances throughout fiscal 2009 when compared to the same period in the prior uear and
the gain on sale of investments in fiscal 2009.

Income Taxes

For fiscal 2009, the Companu’s income tax expense was $907.7 million, resulting in an effective tax rate of
32.4% compared to income tax expense of $516.7 million and an effective tax rate of 28.5% for the same period

last uear. The Companu’s effective tax rate reflects the geographic mix of income in jurisdictions with different

tax rates. The Companu’s effective tax rate was approximatelu 3% higher than managements estimate of

29%-30% for the fiscal uear primarilu due to the significant depreciation of the Canadian dollar relative to the

US. dollar in the third quarter of fiscal 2009 and its effect on the Companu’s U.S. dollar denominated assets
and liabilities held bu the Companu’s Canadian operating companies that are subject to tax in Canadian

dollars. The incremental tax expense in fiscal 2009 resulting from the significant depreciation of the Canadian

dollar relative to the US. dollar was $99.7 million resulting in an adjusted tax rate of 28.9%. The lower effective

tax rate in fiscal 2008 was primarilu due to the favorable impact of the depreciation of the US. dollar relative
to the Canadian dollar.
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As noted above, on March 12, 2009, subsequent to the Compang’s fiscal gear end, the Government of Canada

enacted legislation to allow the Compang the option to determine its Canadian tax results based on its

functional currencg (the U.S. dollar) rather than the Canadian dollar. While the Compang elected for Canadian

tax purposes to adopt these rules in the third quarter of fiscal 2009, the Compang could not recognize the

related tax benefit of electing to adopt these rules for U.S. GAAP financial reporting purposes until the quarter

in which theg were enacted resulting in a $99.7 million higher provision for income taxes in fiscal 2009. As

noted above, in the first quarter of fiscal 2010, the Compang recorded an incremental, one time net benefit of

approximatelg $145.0 million to net income relating to the adoption of the amending legislation.

Net Income

Net income was $1.89 billion in fiscal 2009, compared to net income of $1.29 billion in fiscal 2008. Basic EPS

was $3.35 and diluted EPS was $3.30 in fiscal 2009 compared to $2.31 basic EPS and $2.26 diluted EPS, in fiscal
2008.

The $598.7 million increase in net income in fiscal 2009 reflects primarilg an increase in gross margin in the

amount of $2.02 billion, resulting primarilg from the increased number of device shipments, which was partiallg

offset bg the decrease of consolidated gross margin percentage and an increase of $1.33 billion in the

Compang’s research and development, selling, marketing and administration expenses and the Compang’s

provision for income taxes, which included the negative impact of $99.7 million due to the significant

depreciation of the Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar in the fiscal gear. See “income Taxes”.

The weighted average number of shares outstanding was 565.1 million common shares for basic EPS and
574.2 million common shares for diluted EPS for the fiscal gear ended Februarg 28, 2009 compared to
559.8 million common shares for basic EPS and 572.8 million common shares for diluted EPS for the fiscal gear
ended March 1, 2008.

Stock Split

The Compang declared a 3-for-1 stock split of the Compang’s outstanding common shares on June 28, 2007.

The stock split was implemented bg wag of a stock dividend. Shareholders received two common shares of

the Compang for each common share held. The stock dividend was paid in the second quarter of fiscal 2008.

All share, earnings per share and stock option data for the current fiscal gear and prior comparative periods
reflects this stock dividend.



Summary Results of Operations

Three months ended February 27, 2010 compared to the three months ended February 28, 2009

The following table sets forth certain unaudited consolidated statement of operations data, which is expressed
in thousands of dollars, except for share and per share amounts and as a percentage of revenue, for the

interim periods indicated.

(in thousands, except for per share amounts)
For the Three Months Ended

Change
Q4 Fiscal

February 27, 2010 Februarg 28, 2009 2010/2009

Revenue .................................................................. .. $ 4,079,712 100.0% 39 3,463,193 100.0% 3% 616,519
Cost of sales ........................................................... .. 2,216,622 54.3% 2,079,615 60.0% 137,007

Gross margin .......................................................... .. 1,863,090 45.7% 1,383,578 40.0% 479,512

Operating expenses

Research and development ..................................... .. 267,164 6.6% 182,535 5.3% 84,629

Selling, marketing and administration ..................... .. 497,642 12.2% 406,493 11.7% 91,149
Amortization ........................................................... .. 86,540 2.1% 61,595 1.8% 24,945

851,346 20.9% 650,623 18.8% 200,723

Income from operations .......................................... .. 1,011,744 24.8% 732,955 21.2% 278,789
investment income .................................................. .. 5,454 0.1% 10,568 0.3% (5,114)

income before income taxes ................................... .. 1,017,198 24.9% 743,523 21.5% 273,675

Provision for income taxes ...................................... .. 307,076 7.5% 225,264 6.5% 81,812

Net income ............................................................. .. $ 710,122 17.4% $ 518,259 15.0% $ 191,863

Earnings per share
Basic ................................................................... .. $ 1.27 $ 0.92 - 3 0.35

Diluted ................................................................ .. $ 1.27 $ 0.90 3 0.37

Weighted-average number of shares outstanding
(000’s)

Basic ................................................................... .. 557,114 566,105
Diluted ................................................................ .. 561,130 572,753

Revenue

Revenue for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 was $4.08 billion, an increase of $616.5 million, or 17.8%, from

$3.46 billion in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009.

A comparative breakdown of the significant revenue streams is set forth in the following table:

For the Three Months Ended

Change Q4 Fiscal

February 27, 2010 Februarg 28, 2009 2010/2009

Number of devices sold .................. .. 10,469,000 7,780,000 2,689,000 34.6%

Average Selling Price ...................... .. $ 311 $ 371 8 (60) (16.2%)

Revenue (in thousands)
Devices ........................................... .. 5 3,254,401 79.8% $2,883,399 83.3% $ 371,002 12.9%

Service ........................................... .. 640,517 15.7% 415,223 12.0% 225,294 54.3%

Software ......................................... .. 68,590 1.7% 58,756 1.7% 9,834 16.7%

Other .............................................. .. 116,204 2.8% 105,815 3.0% 10,389 9.8%

5 4,079,712 100.0% $ 3,463,193 100.0% S 616,519 17.8%

Device revenue increased by $371.0 million, or 12.9%, to $3.25 billion, or 79.8% of consolidated revenue, in the

fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 compared to $2.88 billion, or 83.3%, of consolidated revenue in the fourth quarter

of fiscal 2009. This increase in device revenue over the same period in the prior gear was primarilg

attributable to a volume increase of approximately 2.7 million units, or 34.6%, to approximately 10.5 million

devices in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 compared to approximatelg 7.8 million devices in the fourth quarter

of fiscal 2009. ASP decreased to $311 in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 from $371 in the fourth quarter of fiscal

2009 reflecting the shift in mix of certain products shipped in the quarter and the expansion of the Compang’s
 



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

focus into broader market segments. The Compang currentlg expects ASP in the first quarter of fiscal 2011 to

be slightlg lower than the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010. ASP is dependent on a number of factors including
projected future sales volumes, device mix, new device introductions for the CompanL_4’s enterprise, prosumer
and consumer offerings as well as pricing bg competitors in the industru.

The Compang estimates that a $10, or 3.2%, change in blended ASP would result in a quarterly revenue change

of approximatelg $104.7 million, based upon the Companu’s volume of devices shipped in the fourth quarter of
fiscal 2010.

Service revenue increased bg $225.3 million, or 54.3%, to $640.5 million, or 15.7% of consolidated revenue in the

fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, compared to $415.2 million, or 12.0% of consolidated revenue in the fourth quarter

of fiscal 2009, reflecting the Compang’s increase in BlackBerrg subscriber accounts since the fourth quarter of

fiscal 2009. Net BlackBerrg subscriber account additions were approximatelg 4.9 million for the fourth quarter

of fiscal 2010 compared to approximatelg 3.9 million for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009. The total BlackBerru
subscriber account base at the end of the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 was over 41 million subscribers

compared to approximatelg 25 million subscribers at the end of the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009.

Software revenue increased $9.8 million, or 16.7%, to $68.6 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 from

$58.8 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009. The majoritg of the increase was attributable to technical

support and other software revenues, partially offset bu a decrease in CALs.

Other revenue increased bg $10.4 million to $116.2 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 compared to

$105.8 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009. The majority of the increase was attributable to increases in

non-warrantg repair and sales of accessories, partially offset bg lower gains realized from revenue hedging
instruments. See “Market Risk of Financial Instruments — Foreign Exchange’ for additional information on the

Compang’s hedging instruments.

Gross Margin

Consolidated gross margin increased by $479.5 million, or 34.7%, to $1.86 billion, or 45.7% of revenue, in the

fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, compared to $1.38 billion, or 40.0% of revenue, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009.
The increase of 5.7% in consolidated gross margin percentage was primarilg due to an increase in the blended

device margins driven bg shifts in product mix and a lower percentage of revenue from device shipments

which comprised 79.8% of total revenue mix in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 compared to 83.3% in the same

period of fiscal 2009. As noted above, gross margin percentage for devices is generallg lower than the

Compangs consolidated gross margin percentage.

The Compang expects consolidated gross margin to be approximatelg 44.5% in the first quarter of fiscal 2011,

based on the Compang’s current expectation for product mix, device ASP, current product costs and foreign
exchange.

Operating Expenses

The table below presents a comparison of research and development, selling, marketing and administration,

and amortization expenses for the quarter ended February 27, 2010, compared to the quarter ended

November 28, 2009 and the quarter ended Februarg 28, 2009. The Compang believes that it is meaningful to

also provide a comparison between the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 and the third quarter of fiscal 2010 given
that R1M’s quarterlg operating results varg substantiallg.

(in thousands)
For the Three Months Ended

February 27, 2010 November 28, 2009 Februarg 28, 2009

 

 

% of % of % of
Revenue Revenue Revenue

Revenue ..................................... .. $ 4,079,712 $ 3,924,310 $ 3,463,193

Operating expenses

Research and development ........ .. $ 267,164 6.6% $ 242,329 6.2% $ 182,535 5.3%
Selling, marketing and

administration ........................ .. 497,642 12.2% 465,717 11.9% 406,493 11.7%

Amortization ............................... .. 86,540 2.1% 83,129 2.1% 61,595 1.8%

Total .......................................... .. 3 851,346 20.9% $ 791,175 20.2% $ 650,623 18.8% 



Total operating expenses for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 as a percentage of revenue increased bu 0.7% to
20.9% of revenues when compared to the third quarter of fiscal 2010.

Research and Development
Research and development expenditures increased bu $84.7 million to $267.2 million, or 6.6% of revenue, in the

fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, compared to $182.5 million, or 5.3% of revenue, in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009.

The majoritg of the increases during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 compared to the fourth quarter of fiscal
2009 were attributable to salaries and benefits due to an increase in the average headcount associated with

research and development activities, new product development costs and office and building infrastructure
costs.

Selling, Marketing and Administration Expenses

Selling, marketing and administration expenses increased by $91.1 million to $497.6 million for the fourth

quarter of fiscal 2010 compared to $406.5 million for the comparable period in fiscal 2009. As a percentage of
revenue, selling, marketing and administration expenses increased to 12.2% in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010

compared to 11.7% in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009. The net increase was primarilg attributable to increased

expenditures for marketing, advertising and promotion, including additional programs to support new product
launches, increased salary and benefits expenses primarilg as a result of increased personnel, external

advisorg fees and information technologg costs.

Amortization Expense

The table below presents a comparison of amortization expense relating to capital assets and intangible
assets recorded as amortization or cost of sales for the quarter ended February 27, 2010 compared to the

quarter ended Februarg 28, 2009. intangible assets are comprised of patents, licenses and acquired
technologg.

(in thousands)
For the Three Months Ended 

 

        

included in Amortization Included in Cost of sales

February 27, Februarg 28, February 27, Februarg 28,
2010 2009 Change 2010 2009 Change

Capital assets ............ .. $ 53,340 $ 36,662 ' $ 16,678 $ 50,741 $ 28,347 $ 22,394
Intan ible assets ........ .. 33,200 24,933 8,267 43,574 26,183 17,391

Total .......................... .. $ 86,540 $ 61,595 $ 24,945 3 94,315 $ 54,530 $ 39,785

Amortization

The increased amortization expense in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 primarilg reflects the impact of certain

capital assets and intangible asset additions made during fiscal 2010.

Cost of sales

The increased amortization expense in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, related to the Compang’s

manufacturing operations and BlackBerrg service operations, primarilg reflects the impact of amortization

expense with respect to certain intangible assets and capital asset additions made during fiscal 2010.

Investment Income

Investment income decreased bg $5.1 million to $5.5 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 from $10.6 million

in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009. The decrease primarilg reflects the decrease in gields on investments due

to lower interest rates compared to the same period in fiscal 2009, offset partiallg bg an increase in the

Compang’s average cash and cash equivalents, short—term investments and long—term investments balances.
See “Liquidity and Capital Resources”.

Income Taxes

For the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, the Compang’s income tax expense was $307.1 million, resulting in an

effective tax rate of 30.2% compared to income tax expense of $225.3 million and an effective tax rate of 30.3%
for the same period last gear. The Compang’s effective tax rate reflects the geographic mix of income in
jurisdictions with different tax rates.

Net Income

The Compang’s net income for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 was $710.1 million, an increase of $191.9 million,
or 37.0%, compared to net income of $518.3 million in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009. Basic EPS was $1.27 and  



diluted EPS was $1.27 in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 compared to $0.92 basic EPS and $0.90 diluted EPS in

the fourth quarter of fiscal 2009, a 41.1% increase in diluted EPS when compared to fiscal 2009. The common
shares repurchased by the Compang in the third quarter of fiscal 2010 had an impact on the basic and
diluted EPS amounts of $0.03 per share for the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010.

The increase in net income in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 in the amount of $191.9 million from the fourth

quarter of fiscal 2009 primarilg reflects an increase in gross margin in the amount of $479.5 million, resulting
primarilg from the increased number of device shipments and was partiallg offset bg the decrease of
consolidated gross margin percentage, as well as an increase of $200.7 million in operating expenses.

The weighted average number of shares outstanding was 557.1 million common shares for basic EPS and
561.1 million common shares for diluted EPS for the quarter ended Februarg 27, 2010 compared to 566.1 million
common shares for basic EPS and 572.8 million common shares for diluted EPS for the same period last fiscal

gear

 
1 Selected Quarterly Financial Data

The following table sets forth R|M’s unaudited quarterlg consolidated results of operations data for each of the
eight most recent quarters, including the quarter ended Februarg 27, 2010. The information in the table below
has been derived from RiM’s unaudited interim consolidated financial statements that, in managements

opinion, have been prepared on a basis consistent with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Compang and include all adjustments necessarg for a fair presentation of information when read in
conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Compang. R|M’s quarterlg operating
results have varied substantiallg in the past and mag varg substantiallg in the future. Accordinglg, the

information below is not necessarilg indicative of results for ang future quarter.

(in thousands, except per share data) Fiscal Year 2010 Fiscal Year 2009

Fourth Third Second First Fourth Third Second First
Quarter Quarter Quarter Qumer Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

, Revenue ............................................................. .. 5 4,079,712 $3,924,310 $3,525,692 $3,423,510 5 3,463,193 $2,782,098 $2,577,330 $2,242,565).

1 Gross margin ..................................................... .. $1,863,090 5 1,675,255 5 1,554,396 is 1,491,525 $1,383,578 5 1,269,506 $1,306,857 is 1,137,357

Operating expenses‘‘’9 ....................................... .. 851,346 791,175 902,411 801,464 650,623 629,035 604,624 490,920

L _ Investment income ............................................. .. (5,454) (6,425) (7,625) (9,136) (10,568) (31,554) (17,168) (18,977)
1 Income before income taxes .............................. .. 1,017,198 890,505 659,610 699,197 743,523 672,025 719,401 665,414
if Provision for income taxes”) ............................. .. 307,076 262,134 183,989 56,167 225,264 275,729 223,855 182,899

1 Net income ......................................................... .. 3 710,122 3 628,371 5 475,621 5 643,030 5 518,259 5 396,296 s 495.546 5 482,515

Earnings per share
; Basic .............................................................. .. s 1.27 s 1.11 s 0.84 s 1.13 $ 0.92 $ 0.70 s 0.88 s 0.861
1 Diluted ............................................................ .. s 1.27 s 1.10 s 0.83 5 1.12 s 0.90 s 0.69 s 0.86 s 0.84

  
Research and development ................................ .. 3 267,164 $ 242,329 3 235,571 3 219,777 $ 182,535 3 193,044 $ 127,776

Selling, marketing and administration“) .............. .. 497,642 465,717 429,748 514,291 406,493 382,968 326,592
Amortization ....................................................... .. 86,540 83,129 73,292 67,396 61,595 53,023 36,552

Litigationm .......................................................... .. - - 163,800 — - — —

Operating expenses ........................................... .. 3 851,346 3 791,175 5 902,411 $ 801,464 3 650,623 $ 629,035 $ 604,624 $ 490,920

NOTES:

‘” Selling, marketing and administration in the first quarter of fiscal 2010 included unusual charges of $96.4 million and provision for
income taxes includes a benefit of $175.1 million. These items related to a charge for the payment on account of certain emplogee tax
liabilities related to certain previouslg exercised stock options with measurement date issues that were exercised during certain time
periods and the foreign exchange impact of the enactment of functional currencg tax legislation in Canada. See ‘Non-GAAP Financial
Measures".

In the second quaiter of fiscal 2010, the Compang settled the Vista Litigation. The key terms of the settlement involved the Companu
receiving a perpetual and fuilg—paia license on all Vista patents, a transfer of certain Visto intellectual propertg, a one-time pagment bg
the Company of $267.5 million and the parties executing full and final releases in respect of the Vista Litigation. Of the total pagment bg
the Compang, $163.8 million was expensed as a litigation charge in the second quarter of fiscal 2010. The remainder of the paument
was recorded as intangible assets. See 'Non—GAAP Financial Measures’.

Provision for income taxes included the negative impact of fluctuations of the Canadian dollar relative to the US. dollar in the third
quarter of fiscal 2009 of approximatelg $103.2 million.

(2)



Non-GAAP Financial Measures

The Company’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP on a basis consistent for all
periods presented. In this MD8iA, the Company has presented the following “non-GAAP financial measures”:
adjusted net income and adjusted diluted earnings per share. The term “non-GAAP financial measure” is used
to refer to a numerical measure of a company’s historical or future financial performance, financial position or

cash flows that: (i) excludes amounts, or is subject to adjustments that have the effect of excluding amounts,

that are included in the most directly comparable measure calculated and presented in accordance with US.

GAAP in a company’s statement of income, balance sheet or statement of cash flows; or (ii) includes amounts,

or is subject to adjustments that have the effect of including amounts, that are excluded from the most directly

comparable measure so calculated and presented. Adjusted net income and adjusted diluted earnings per
share are non-GAAP financial measures that exclude the impact of the charge for the payment of the

settlement of the Vista Litigation in the second quarter of fiscal 2010, and the impacts of the benefit relating to
the enactment of functional currency tax reporting legislation by the Government of Canada and the charge

for the payment on account of certain employee tax liabilities related to certain previously exercised stock
options with measurement date issues that were exercised during certain time periods in the first quarter of
fiscal 2010. This section of the MD8iA describes the Company’s use of such non-GAAP financial measures.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company entered into a definitive agreement to settle the Vista

Litigation with Vista. The key terms of the settlement involved the Company receiving a perpetual and fully-
paid license on all Visto patents, a transfer of certain Visto intellectual property, a one—time payment by the

Company of $267.5 million and the parties executing full and final releases in respect of all outstanding

worldwide litigation. Of the total payment by the Company, $163.8 million ($112.8 million net of tax) was

expensed as a litigation charge in the second quarter of fiscal 2010. The remainder of the payment was
recorded as intangible assets. The settlement was completed on July 23, 2009.

The Company reported an income tax provision for fiscal 2009 that was higher than previously forecasted, the

majority of the incremental portion of which was reversed in the first quarter of fiscal 2010. The fiscal 2009
income tax provision reflects an effective tax rate that is significantly higher than the Company’s historical
effective tax rate due to the significant depreciation of the Canadian dollar relative to the US. dollar and its

effect on the Company’s U.S. dollar denominated assets and liabilities held by R|M’s Canadian operating

companies that are subject to tax in Canadian dollars. The majority of this effect was experienced in the third
quarter of fiscal 2009. As described in greater detail under ‘Results of Operations — Income Taxes” for fiscal

year end February 27, 2010, on March 12, 2009 changes to the Income Tax Act (Canada) that allow RIM to
calculate its fiscal 2009 Canadian income tax expense based on the U.S. dollar (the Company’s functional

currency) were enacted. Although the Company elected for Canadian income tax purposes to adopt these

rules in the third quarter of fiscal 2009, the Company could not recognize the related income tax reduction of

electing to adopt these rules for U.S. GAAP financial reporting purposes until the quarter in which they are

enacted, resulting in a higher provision in fiscal 2009. In the first quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company recorded
an incremental income tax benefit of approximately $145.0 million to net income relating to the enactment of

rules making the election effective to determine its Canadian income tax based on its functional currency. As

result of the enactment of the rules and the Company’s election to determine its Canadian income tax based

on its functional currency, future volatility in the Company’s effective tax rate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates should be reduced.

In the first quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company recorded an expense of $54.3 million ($37.4 million net of tax)

primarily relating to the reversal of foreign exchange gains previously recorded in fiscal 2009 on the
revaluation of Canadian dollar denominated tax liability balances. See ‘Results of Operations — Selling,

Marketing and Administration Expenses” for fiscal year end February 27, 2010.

Also, in the first quarter of fiscal 2010, there was a charge of approximately $42.1 million ($29.0 million net of

tax) for the payment on account of certain employee tax liabilities related to certain previously—exercised stock

options with measurement date issues that were exercised during certain time periods. The Company’s Board
of Directors approved the payment on account of certain incremental personal tax liabilities of certain

employees, excluding RIM’s Co—CEOs, related to the exercise of certain stock options issued by the Company.
See ‘Results of Operations — Selling, Marketing and Administration Expenses” for fiscal year end February 27,
2010.

Investors are cautioned that adjusted net income and adjusted diluted earnings per share do not have any
standardized meaning prescribed by GAAP and are therefore unlikely to be comparable to similarly titled

measures reported by other issuers. These non-GAAP financial measures should be considered in the context

of the Company’s U.S. GAAP results.
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There were no adjustments to US. GAAP net income in the third and fourth quarters of fiscal 2010.

The following table provides a reconciliation of net income to adjusted net income and diluted earnings per
share to adjusted diluted earnings per share for the fiscal year ended February 27, 2010:

For the Fiscal Year Ended

February 27, February 28,
2010 2009

Net income ................................................................................................................................................ .. $2,457,144 $ 1,892,616

Visto Litigation (net of tax) ......................................................................................................................... ., 112,809 -

Foreign exchange impact on the enactment of functional currency tax rules (net of tax) ........................ .. 37,396 -
Provision for employee tax obligations for stock options (net of tax) ....................................................... .. 28,952 -
Tax benefit recorded on enactment of functional currency tax rules ........................................................ .. (145,000) -

Foreign exchange impact on Canadian income taxes .............................................................................. .. — 99,700

Adjusted net income .................................................................................................................................. .. $2,491,301 :3 1,992,316

Diluted earnings per share ........................................................................................................................ .. $ 4.31 $ 3.30
Ad'usted diluted earnin s er share .......................................................................................................... .. 3 4.37 $ 3.47      

Financial Condition

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Cash and cash equivalents, short—term investments and long-term investments increased by $630.9 million to
$2.87 billion as at February 27, 2010 from $2.24 billion as at February 28, 2009. The majority of the Company’s
cash and cash equivalents, short—term investments and long-term investments are denominated in US. dollars
as at February 27, 2010.

A comparative summary of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and long-term investments is
set out below:

(in thousands)

 
 
 

  

 

As at

February 27, February 28,
2010 2009 Change

Cash and cash equivalents.... .................................................................................. .. $ 1,550,861 $ 835,546 $ 715,315
Short-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 360,614 682,666 (322,052)

Long-term investments .................... .. 958,248 720,635 237,613

Cash and cash e uivalents, short-term investments and ion -term investments .................... .. 82,869,723 $ 2,238,847 $ 630,876 

The increase in cash and cash equivalents, short—term investments and long-term investments is primarily due

to net cash flows provided from operating activities partially offset by net cash flow used in investing activities
and financing activities as set out below:

(in thousands) For the Fiscal Year Ended

February 27, February 28,
2010 2009 

Net cash flows provided by (used in):

Operating activities ................................................................................................................................ .. $ 3,034,874 $ 1,451,845

Investing activities .................................................................................................................................. .. (1,470,127) (1,823,523)
Financing activities ................................................................................................................................ .. (843,381) 25,367

Effect of foreign exchange gain on cash and cash equivalents ............................................................... .. (6,051) (2,541)

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash e uivalents ............................................................................. .. $ 715,315 $ (348,852)    

Cash flows for the fiscal year ended February 27, 2010

Operating Activities

Cash flow provided by operating activities was $3.03 billion for fiscal 2010 reflecting higher net income

compared to fiscal 2009, offset by lower net changes in working capital in fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal
2009.



The table below summarizes the current assets, current liabilities, working capital and certain working capital

items of the Company:

(in thousands)

 

As at

February 27, February 28,
2010 2009 Change

Current assets ........................................................................................................................... .. $ 5,812,656 $ 4,841,586 $ 971,070

Current liabilities ........................................................................................................................ .. 2,431,777 2,115,351 316,426

Workin ca ital ....................................................................................................................... .. 83,380,879 $ 2,726,235 $654,644   

The increase in current assets of $971.1 million at the end of fiscal 2010 from the end of fiscal 2009 was

primarily due to an increase in accounts receivables of $481.6 million and cash, cash equivalents and short
term investments of $393.3 million. At the end of fiscal 2010, accounts receivables were approximately
$2.59 billion, an increase of $481.6 million from the end of fiscal 2009 due to increased sales and customer mix.

Days sales outstanding increased to 58 days in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 from 56 days at the end of

fiscal 2009, primarily due to geographic and customer mix of sales in the quarter.

The increase in current liabilities of $316.4 million at the end of fiscal 2010 from the end of fiscal 2009 was

primarily due to increases in accrued liabilities and accounts payable, partially offset by a reduction in

income taxes payable. As at February 27, 2010, accrued liabilities were approximately $1.64 billion, an increase

of $400.0 million from the end of fiscal 2009 primarily due to vendor inventory liabilities. The increase of

accounts payable of $167.3 million from the end of fiscal 2009 was due primarily to the timing of payments

during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010. The decrease in income taxes payable as at February 27, 2010 of

$265.8 million compared to the end of fiscal 2009 was partially due to the Government of Canada enacting

changes to its income tax legislation in the first quarter of fiscal 2010 enabling the Company the option to

elect, on an annual basis, to determine its Canadian income tax results on its functional currency (the U.S.

dollar) rather than the Canadian dollar. The remaining decrease in income taxes payable as at February 27,
2010 was a function of the payment of the Company’s fiscal 2009 income tax liabilities in fiscal 2010 and the
timing of the Company’s fiscal 2010 income tax installment payments relative to its current income tax

expense for fiscal 2010.

Investing Activities

During the fiscal year ended February 27, 2010, cash flow used in investing activities was $1.47 billion and

included capital asset additions of $1.01 billion, intangible asset additions of $421.4 million and business

acquisitions of $143.4 million, offset by cash flow provided by transactions involving the proceeds on sale or

maturity of short—term investments and long—term investments, net of the costs of acquisitions in the amount of

$104.1 million. For the same period of the prior fiscal year, cash flow used in investing activities was $1.82 billion

and included capital asset additions of $833.5 million, intangible asset additions of $687.9 million, business

acquisitions of $48.4 million as well as transactions involving the proceeds on sale or maturity of short—term

investments and long—term investments, net of the costs of acquisitions in the amount of $253.7 million.

The increase in capital asset spending was primarily due to increased investment in buildings, renovations to

existing facilities, expansion and enhancement of the BlackBerry infrastructure and computer equipment

purchases. Investments in intangible assets in fiscal 2010 was primarily associated with the settlement of the

Vista Litigation, see ‘Results of Operations — Litigation’ for the fiscal year ended February 27, 2010 and

agreements with third parties for use of intellectual property. Business acquisitions in fiscal 2010 related to the

purchases of Certicom Corp. and Torch Mobile Inc., the purchase of a company whose proprietary software

will be incorporated into the Company’s software and the purchase of certain assets of a company that will

be used in next generation wireless technologies.

Financing Activities

Cash flow used in financing activities was $843.4 million for fiscal 2010 and was primarily attributable to the

Common Share Repurchase Program described above in the amount of $775.0 million, purchases of common

shares on the open market by a trustee selected by the Company in connection with its Restricted Share Unit
Plan, which are classified on the balance sheet for accounting purposes as Treasury Shares in the amount of

$94.5 million, the repayment of debt acquired through acquisitions in the amount of $6.1 million, offset partially

by the proceeds from the exercise of stock options in the amount of $30.2 million and tax benefits from the

exercise of stock options. Cash flow provided by financing activities was $25.4 million for fiscal 2009 and was

primarily provided by the proceeds from the exercise of stock options and tax benefits from the exercise of

stock options, offset in part by repayment of the long—term debt.  
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in the third quarter of fiscal 2010 the Company repurchased 12.3 million common shares at a cost of

$775.0 million pursuant to the Common Share Repurchase Program. The amounts paid in excess of the per

share paid—in capital of the common shares of $728.5 million in the third quarter of fiscal 2010 were charged to
retained earnings.

Auction Rate Securities

Auction rate securities are debt instruments with long-term nominal maturity dates for which the interest rates

are reset through a dutch auction process, typically every 7, 28 or 35 days. Interest is paid at the end of each

auction period, and the auction normally serves as the mechanism for securities holders to sell their existing

» positions to interested buyers. As at February 27, 2010, the Company held $40.5 million in face value of

investment grade auction rate securities which are experiencing failed auctions as a result of more sell orders

than buy orders, and these auctions have not yet returned to normal operations. The interest rate for these
securities has been set at the maximum rate specified in the program documents and interest continues to be

paid every 28 days as scheduled. As a result of the lack of continuing liquidity in these securities, the

Company has adjusted the reported value to reflect an unrealized loss of $7.7 million, which the Company

considers temporary and is reflected in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). in valuing these
securities, the Company used a multi—year investment horizon and considered the underlying risk of the
securities and the current market interest rate environment. The Company has the ability and intent to hold

these securities until such time that market liquidity returns to normal levels, and does not consider the

principal or interest amounts on these securities to be materially at risk at this time. As there is uncertainty as

to when market liquidity for auction rate securities will return to normal, the Company has classified the

auction rate securities as long-term investments on the balance sheet. As at February 27, 2010, the Company
does not consider these investments to be other—than—temporarily impaired.

Structured Investment Vehicle

A Structured Investment Vehicle (‘S|V”) is a fund that seeks to generate investment returns by purchasing high

grade long-term fixed income instruments and funding those purchases by issuing short—term debt
instruments. Beginning in late 2008, widespread illiquidity in the market has prevented many S|Vs, including

those held by the Company from accessing necessary funding for ongoing operations. in fiscal 2008, the
Company’s SIV holdings were placed with an enforcement manager to be restructured or sold at the election
of each senior note holder.

In the first nine months of fiscal 2010, the Company received a total of $2.4 million in principal payments from

the SIV holdings. In the third quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company elected to participate in the restructuring of
the securities and received a pro—rata distribution of proceeds from the income and principal payments on the

assets underlying the securities.

As at February 27, 2010, the Company held $21.3 million face value of assets received in the pro—rata

distribution of proceeds. During fiscal 2010, the Company received a total of $3.6 million in principal and

interest payments from the SIV and the assets received subsequent to distribution.

in determining the value for these assets, the Company has considered available evidence including changes

in general market conditions, the length of time and the extent to which the fair values have been less than
cost, the financial condition, the near—term prospects of the individual assets and the Company’s intent and

ability to hold the assets.

During fiscal 2010, the Company did not record any other—than—temporary impairment charges associated

with these investments. In fiscal 2008, the Company recorded an-other—than—temporary impairment charge of
$3.8 million on these securities. The Company has classified these securities as long-term investments.

Other

Since March 1, 2005, the Company has maintained an investment account with Lehman Brothers International

(Europe) (“LBIE”). As of September 30, 2008, the date of the last account statement received by the Company,

the Company held in the account $81.1 million in combined cash and aggregate principal amount of fixed-

income securities issued by third parties unrelated to LBIE or any other affiliate of Lehman Brothers Holdings
inc (“LBHI”). The face value, including accrued interest, as at February 27, 2010 is $84.8 million. Due to the

insolvency proceedings instituted by LBHI and its affiliates, including LBIE, commencing on September 15,

2008, the Company’s regular access to information regarding the account has been disrupted. Following the

appointment of the Administrators to LBIE the Company has asserted a trust claim in specie (the “Trust Claim”)

over the assets held for it by LBIE for the return of those assets in accordance with the insolvency procedure in

the United Kingdom. in the first quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company received a Letter of Return (the "Letter”)



from the Administrators of LBIE relating to the Trust Claim. The Letter noted that, based on the work performed
to date, the Administrators had identified certain assets belonging to the Company within the records of LBIE

and that they are continuing to investigate the records for the remaining assets included in the Trust Claim: an
additional asset was identified as belonging to the Company in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010. in the fourth

quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company signed the ’Form of Acceptance’ and ’Claim Resolution Agreement’, which

are the necessary steps to have the identified assets returned. The Company continues to work with the

Administrators to identify the remaining assets not specifically identified, along with the interest paid on these

assets since LBIE began its administration proceedings. The Company will continue to take all actions it deems

appropriate to defend its rights to these holdings and as a result, no impairment has been recognized against

these holdings in fiscal 2010.

Aggregate Contractual Obligations

The following table sets out aggregate information about the Company’s contractual obligations and the

periods in which payments are due as at February 27, 2010:

(in thousands)

Less than One to Four to Greater than
Total One Year Three Years Five Years Five Years

Operating lease obligations ............................................................... .. 3 208,386 $ 37,005 $ 59,817 $ 47,933 $ 63,631

Purchase obligations and commitments ............................................ .. 4,455,439 4,455,439 '- — -

Total .................................................................................................... .. $4,663,825 59 4,492,444 $ 59,817 $ 47,933 $ 63,631

Purchase obligations and commitments amounted to approximately $4.46 billion as of February 27, 2010, with

purchase orders with contract manufacturers representing approximately $3.82 billion of the total. The

Company also has commitments on account of capital expenditures of approximately $244.8 million included

in this total, primarily for manufacturing, facilities and information technology, including service operations.

The remaining balance consists of purchase orders or contracts with suppliers of raw materials, as well as

other goods and services utilized in the operations of the Company. The expected timing of payment of these
purchase obligations and commitments is estimated based upon current information. The timing of payments

and actual amounts paid may be different depending upon the time of receipt of goods and services,

changes to agreed-upon amounts for some obligations or payment terms.

The Company has obligations payable in the first quarter of fiscal 2011 of approximately $135 million for the

payment of income taxes related to fiscal 2010. The Company paid approximately $290 million in the first
quarter of fiscal 2010 for income taxes related to fiscal 2009. The amounts have been included as current

liabilities in income taxes payable as of February 27, 2010 and February 28, 2009 respectively, and the

Company intends to fund its fiscal 2010 tax obligations from existing financial resources and cash flows.

The Company has not paid any cash dividends in the last three fiscal years.

Cash and cash equivalents, short—term investments and long—term investments were $2.87 billion as at

February 27, 2010. The Company believes its financial resources, together with expected future income, are
sufficient to meet funding requirements for current financial commitments, for future operating and capital

expenditures not yet committed, and also provide the necessary financial capacity to meet current and future

growth expectations.

The Company has $150.0 million in unsecured demand credit facilities (the “Facilities”) to support and secure

operating and financing requirements. As at February 27, 2010, the Company has utilized $6.9 million of the

Facilities for outstanding letters of credit, and $143.1 million of the Facilities are unused.

The Company does not have any off—balance sheet arrangements as defined in item 303(a)(4)(ii) of

Regulation 5-K under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “U.S. Exchange Act”) and under applicable
Canadian securities laws.

Legal Proceedings

The Company is involved in litigation in the normal course of its business, both as a defendant and as a

plaintiff. The Company may be subject to claims (including claims related to patent infringement, purported

class actions and derivative actions) either directly or through indemnities against these claims that it provides

to certain of its partners. In particular, the industry in which the Company competes has many participants
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that own, or claim to own, intellectual propertg, including participants that have been issued patents and mag

have filed patent applications or mag obtain additional patents and proprietarg rights for technologies similar

to those used bg the Compang in its products. The Compang has received, and mag receive in the future,
assertions and claims from third parties that the Compang’s products infringe on their patents or other

intellectual propertg rights. Litigation has been and will likelg continue to be necessarg to determine the scope,
enforceabilitg and validitg of third—partg proprietarg rights or to establish the Compang’s proprietarg rights.

Regardless of whether claims that the Compang is infringing patents or other intellectual propertg rights have
ang merit, those claims could be time—consuming to evaluate and defend, result in costlg litigation, divert
management’s attention and resources, subject the Compang to significant liabilities and could have the other
effects that are described in greater detail under “Risk Factors — Risks Related to Intellectual Propertg” in R|M’s
Annual information Form, which is included in R|M’s Annual Report on Form 40—F. Additional lawsuits and

claims, including purported class actions and derivative actions, mag also be filed or made based upon the
Compang’s historical stock option granting practices.

Management reviews all of the relevant facts for each claim and applies judgment in evaluating the likelihood

and, if applicable, the amount of ang potential loss. Where it is considered likelg for a material exposure to
result and where the amount of the claim is quantifiable, provisions for loss are made based on

management's assessment of the likelg outcome. The Compang does not provide for claims that are
considered unlikelg to result in a significant loss, claims for which the outcome is not determinable or claims
where the amount of the loss cannot be reasonablg estimated. Ang settlements or awards under such claims

are provided for when reasonablg determinable.

Bg letter dated Februarg 3, 2005 (the “Letter”), TMO—DG delivered to RlM—UK a notice of a claim for indemnitg in
relation to litigation in Dusseldorf, Germang in which the plaintiff, inpro, brought action against TMO—DG (the
'Litigation") for infringement of European Patent EP0892947B1 (the “Patent”). The Compang joined the Litigation
as an intervening partg in support of the defendant TMO—DG. The Compang also filed an invaliditg action in

the patent court in Munich Germang. On Januarg 27, 2006, the Munich court declared the Patent invalid. inpro
had appealed the Munich court’s decision. On March 21, 2006, the Dusseldorf court staged the infringement
action until a final decision on validitg has been made. The Federal Supreme Court held an oral hearing on

March 18, 2010 and subsequentlg determined that the lnpro Patent is invalid in Germang. Accordinglg, no
amount has been recorded in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Compang was partg to numerous litigations with Vista Corporation (‘Vista’) in multiple jurisdictions. On

Julg 15, 2009, the Compang entered into a definitive agreement to settle all outstanding worldwide litigation
with Vista (‘Vista Litigations"). On Julg 23, 2009, the Compang settled the Vista Litigations. The keg terms of the

settlement involved the Compang receiving a perpetual and fullg—paid license on all Visto patents, a transfer

of certain Visto intellectual propertg, a one—time pagment bg the Compang of $267.5 million and the parties

executing full and final releases in respect of the Vista Litigation. Of the total pagment bg the Compang,

$163.8 million was expensed as a litigation charge in the second quarter of fiscal 2010. The remainder of the

pagment was recorded as intangible assets.

On June 6, 2007, Minerva industries ('Minerva”) filed a complaint in the Marshall District Court against the

Compang alleging infringement of U.S. Patent No. 6,681,120 (“120’) and seeking an injunction and monetarg

damages. On Januarg 22, 2008, Minerva filed a second complaint in the Marshall District Court against the
Compang alleging infringement of US. Patent No. 7,321,783 (‘”783”) and seeking an injunction and monetarg

damages. RIM answered the first Complaint on Januarg 28, 2008 and the second Complaint on March 14,
2008. On December 1, 2008, R|M’s motion to consolidate the two cases was granted. On Februarg 3, 2010, the

Court determined that the asserted claims of the ‘120 patent and one independent claim of the ‘783 patent

were invalid. As a result, onlg some claims of the ‘783 patent remain in the case. At this time, the likelihood of

damages or recoveries and the ultimate amounts, if ang, with respect to this litigation is not determinable.

Accordinglg, no amount has been recorded in the Consolidated Financial Statements as at Februarg 27, 2010.

On Februarg 16, 2008, the Compang filed a complaint in the Dallas District Court against Motorola alleging
breach of contract, antitrust violations, patent infringement of US. Patent No. 5,664,055; 5,699,485; 6,278,442;

6,452,588; 6,489,950; 6,611,254, 6,661,255; 6,919,879 and 7,227,536 and seeking a declaratorg judgment of non-

infringement and invaliditg against Motorola U.S. Patent Nos. 5,359,317; 5,074,684; 5,764,899; 5,771,353; 5,958,006;
5,706,211 and 6,101,531. On Februarg 21, 2008, RIM filed a second complaint in the Dallas District Court seeking a

declaratorg judgment of non—infringement and invaliditg of Motorola U.S. Patent No. 5,157,391; 5,394,140;
5,612,682 and 5,974,447. On April 10, 2008, Motorola filed a motion to dismiss R|M’s antitrust and contract

claims or, in the alternative, to bifurcate and stag R|M’s antitrust and contract claims until the resolution of the

co—pending patent claims. Motorola also asked the Court to dismiss, stag and or transfer to the Eastern



District (‘ED”) of Texas RIM’s declaratorg judgment claims against Motorola’s patents. Pleadings on this motion

closed on June 2, 2008. On September 19, 2008, the previouslg transferred case from the District of Delaware,
described below, was consolidated with this case. On December 11, 2008, Motorola’s motion to dismiss, stag

and/or transfer the proceedings was denied in full. On Januarg 9, 2009, Motorolafiled its answer to RIM’s

complaint including three new counterclaims for infringement of US. Patent Nos. 6,252,515, 5,189,389 and
5,953,413. On March 10, 2009, TIP Communications, LLC, a whollg—owned indirect subsidiarg of the Compang,

filed a complaint against Motorola in the Dallas District Court for infringement of U.S. Patent No. 5,956,329. On
June 15, 2009, the Court granted R|M’s motion to stag this case as to the patents that are currentlg in re-
examination in the United States Patent 82 Trademark Office. On October 14, 2009, Motorola added three new

counterclaims for infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 5,430,436; 6,807,317 and 6,636,223. On November 9, 2009, the
Court entered an order staging each of the actions and ordering mediation. On Januarg 29, 2010, Motorola
filed a motion to re—open the pending lawsuits and lift the stag that is pending before the Court. On March 23,

2010 the Dallas District entered the stag on the four patents transferred from Illinois and pending in the ITC

(i.e., U.S. Patent Nos. 5,319,712; 6,232,970; 6,272,333 and 5,569,550). On March 31, 2010 the case was re—assigned to

another Judge for coordination with the other pending Dallas District Court cases and the file was closed.
Proceedings are currentlg pending. At this time, the likelihood of damages or recoveries and the ultimate
amounts, if ang, with respect to this litigation (or ang related litigation) is not determinable. Accordinglg, no
amount has been recorded in the Consolidated Financial Statements as at Februarg 27, 2010.

On Februarg 16, 2008, Motorola filed a complaint against the Compang in the Marshall District Court alleging

infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 5,157,391; 5,359,317; 5,394,140; 5,612,682; 5,764,899; 5,771,353 and 5,974,447. On
Februarg 20, 2008, Motorola filed an amended complaint adding U.S. Patent Nos. 5,074,684; 5,706,211; 5,958,006
and 6,101,531 to the complaint. On March 31, 2008, RIM filed a motion to transfer Motorola’s ED of Texas case

involving Motorola’s patents to the Dallas District Court. On October 17, 2008, the Court granted RIM’s motion
~ to transfer this case to the Dallas District Court. This portion of the Motorola litigation is now closed.

On Februarg 16, 2008, Motorola filed another complaint in the District of Delaware against the Compang

seeking a declaratorg judgment of non—infringement and invaliditg related to U.S. Patent No. 5,664,055 and
5,699,485 assigned to RIM as well as U.S. Patent No. 6,611,254, 6,661,255 and 6,919,879. On Februarg 20, 2008, the

complaint was amended to include RIM’s U.S. Patent No. 6,278,442; 6,452,588; 6,489,950 and 7,227,536. On
March 31, 2008, RIM filed a motion to transfer Motorola’s District of Delaware case involving RIM’s patents to

the Dallas District Court. On April 10, 2008, RIM filed its answer and counterclaims to Motorola’s amended

complaint. Motorola filed its replg to RIM’s counterclaims on April 30, 2008. On August 26, 2008, the Court

granted R|M’s motion to transfer this case to the Dallas District Court. This portion of the Motorola litigation is
now closed.

On Januarg 6, 2009, Motorola filed a complaint in the United Kingdom against the Compang for infringement of
European patents EP (UK) 0 818 009 (the "009 patent”), EP (UK) 0 378 775 (the “775 patent‘), EP (UK) 0 551 289 (the
"289 patent”), and EP (UK) 0 932 320 (the "320 patent”). Motorola’s claim was filed as a counterclaim in response

to the Compang’s filing of a declaratorg judgment seeking to invalidate Motorola’s ‘O09 patent. A case

management conference was held on Januarg 12, 2009 at which the judge set a hearing date for on or about

Januarg 11, 2010 for the ’009 patent and the ‘320 patent, both of which are Motorola sgstem patents, and

another hearing date for on or about March 1, 2010 (subsequentlg changed to November 15, 2010) for the ‘775

patent and the ‘289 patent, both of which are Motorola handset patents. On Januarg 13, 2010, the Motorola

sgstem patents case went to trial and on Februarg 3, 2010, the Court found one of the two patents—in—suit invalid
and not infringed. Motorola subsequentlg surrendered the second patent—in—suit therebg completing the Motorola

sgstem patents portion of the lawsuit. For the handset patents—in—suit proceedings are currentlg pending.

A case management conference was held on March 20, 2009, in relation to the case filed in the United

Kingdom bg TIP Communications, LLC, a whollg—owned indirect subsidiarg of the Compang, for infringement of
EP (UK) 0 742 989. A second case management conference was held on April 8, 2009. The Judge had set and

then subsequentlg changed the trial date to begin on June 14, 2010.

On March 10, 2009, TIP Communications, LLC filed a lawsuit in the Northern District of Texas against Motorola

for infringement of US. Patent No. 5,956,329.

On Januarg 22, 2010, Motorola filed a lawsuit against the Compang in the United States District Court for the
Northern District of Illinois alleging infringement of US. Patent Nos. 5,319,712; 6,232,970; 6,272,333 and 5,569,550.

On Februarg 10, 2010, RIM filed a motion to transfer Motorola’s Northern District of Illinois case involving
Motorola’s patents to the Dallas District Court. On Februarg 25, 2010, RIM filed a motion to stag the

proceedings in the Northern District of Illinois pending the outcome of the ITC proceedings. On March 8, 2010,

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

the Court granted RiM’s motion to stag this case and transferred the case to the Dallas District Court. This

portion of the Motorola litigation is now closed.

On Januarg 22, 2010, Motorola filed a complaint with the U.S. International Trade Commission (“ITC”) against
the Compang alleging infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 5,359,317; 5,319,712; 6,232,970; 6,272,333 and 5,569,550. On

Februarg 18, 2010, the ITC sent a Notice of Investigation, which was published in the Federal Register on

Februarg 24,2010. On March 1, 2010, the Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) set a trial date of November 29

through December 9, 2010 and a target date for completion of the investigation bg the ITC of June 24, 2011.
The date set for the issuance of the Initial Determination is Februarg 24, 2011. Proceedings are still pending.

On March 7, 2008, FlashPoint Technologg inc. (“FlashPoint”) filed a patent infringement lawsuit against the

Compang and 14 other parties in the District of Delaware. The patents-in—suit include U.S. Patent Nos. 6,118,480,
6,177,956, 6,222,538, 6,223,190 (the ‘"190 Patent”), 6,249,316, 6,486,914 and 6,504,575. These patents are generallg

directed to digital camera and imaging technologies. On Mag 31, 2008, FlashPoint dismissed its complaint as
to 6 of the 7 patents-in—suit, leaving onlg the ’190 Patent in the litigation against RIM. On Februarg 6, 2009,

FlashPoint filed an amended complaint adding US. Patent Nos. 5,903,309, 6,278,447 (the "447 Patent’) and

6,400,471 (the ‘"471 Patent”). Onlg the ’447 Patent and the ’471 Patent have been asserted against RIM. The

complaint seeks an injunction and monetarg damages. On December 17, 2009, the Court staged the entire
litigation pending completion of all re—examinations of the patents—in—suit.

On Mag 20, 2008, the Compang filed a lawsuit in ltalg against lPCom GmbH (“lPCom”) for declaratorg
judgment of invaliditg of several lPCom patents. On Mag 21, 2008, the Compang filed a lawsuit in the U.K.
against lPCom for declaratorg judgment of invaliditg of several claimed standards—essential lPCom patents.
On Mag 27, 2008, the Compang filed a lawsuit in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Texas

against lPCom for declaratorg judgment of non-infringement and invaliditg of several lPCom patents. On

Mag 23, 2008, lPCom filed suit against the Compang for infringement of four claimed standards essential
German and European patents in the Hamburg, Germang court. On August 8, 2008, the parties agreed to
withdraw and terminate their respective European actions.

On June 20, 2008, St. Clair intellectual Propertg Consultants, Inc. filed a patent infringement lawsuit against the

Compang and other defendants in the District of Delaware. The patents-in—suit include U.S. Patent Nos.
5,138,459, 6,094,219, 6,233,010 and 6,323,899. These patents are generallg directed to image processing in digital

cameras. The court has set a trial date for September 7, 2010. The complaint seeks an injunction and

monetarg damages. Proceedings are ongoing.

On October 31, 2008, Mformation Technologies, Inc. filed a patent infringement lawsuit against the Compang in

the Northern District of California. The patents-in—suit include U.S. Patent Nos. 6,970,917 and 7,343,408. These

patents are generallg directed to remote device management functionalitg. The complaint seeks an injunction

and monetarg damages. On Februarg 26, 2010, the Court issued a claim construction order. No trial date has
been set. Proceedings are ongoing.

On November 17, 2008, Spansion, Inc. and Spansion LLC (“Spansion“) filed a complaint with the U.S. ITC

against Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd. and other related Samsung companies (collectivelg "Samsung”) and

other proposed respondents, including the Compang, who purchase flash memorg chips from Samsung,

alleging infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 6,380,029; 6,080,639; 6,376,877 and 5,715,194. The ALJ has set a trial
date of Mag 3, 2010 and a target date for completion of the investigation bg the ITC of Januarg 18, 2011.
Proceedings are ongoing.

On November 20, 2008, the Compang filed a lawsuit for declaratorg judgment of non-infringement, invaliditg

and unenforceabilitg against four Eastman Kodak (“Kodak”) patents in the Dallas District Court. The

patents-in—suit include U.S. Patent Nos. 5,493,335, 6,292,218 (‘the ’218 Patent”) and 6,600,510 which are generallg

directed to digital camera technologies and U.S. Patent No. 5,226,161 which is directed to data sharing in

applications. Kodak counterclaimed for infringement of these same patents seeking an injunction and
monetarg damages. The trial is scheduled for December, 2010. On Januarg 14,2010, Kodak filed a complaint
with the ITC against the Compang, and Apple inc. alleging infringement of the ’218 Patent. The ALJ has set a
trial date of September 1, 2010 and a target date for completion of the investigation bg the ITC of Mag 23, 2011.
Proceedings are ongoing.

On December 29, 2008, Prism Technologies, LLC (‘Prism’) filed a complaint against the Compang and
Microsoft Corporation in the United States District Court for the District of Nebraska. The single patent in suit is
US Patent No. 7,290,288 (“the ’288 Patent”). The court has rescheduled the trial date to Januarg 28, 2011.



Microsoft entered into an agreement with Prism and was dismissed from this action on September 28, 2009.
On December 2, 2009, Prism filed a complaint with the ITC against the Compang alleging infringement of the

’288 Patent. The ALJ has set a trial date for August 30, 2010 and a target date for completion of the

investigation of April 5, 2011. Proceedings are ongoing.

On December 30, 2008, MSTG, Inc. (“MSTG”) filed a patent infringement lawsuit against the Compang in the

United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois alleging infringement of United States Patent

Nos. 5,920,551 (“S51”); 6,219,374; and 7,151,756. On March 18, 2009, MSTG filed an amended complaint which
added U.S. Patent Nos. 6,438,113 (“113”) and 6,198,936 ("936”) and four additional defendants to the suit. On

Julg 30, 2009, MSTG filed a second amended complaint which reduced the patents asserted against RIM to
onlg the ’551, ’936 and ’113 patents. The court has set a trial date for March 28, 2011. Proceedings are ongoing.

From time to time, the Compang is involved in other claims in the normal course of business. The following

additional patent suits were filed against the Compang since the end of fiscal 2009:

On Mag 5, 2009, Fractus, S.A. (“Fractus’) filed a lawsuit against the Compang and eight other defendants in the
United States District Court for the ED of Texas alleging infringement of nine patents (United States Patent Nos.

7,015,868; 7,123,208; 7,148,850; 7,202,822; 7,312,762; 7,394,432; 7,397,431; 7,411,556; and 7,528,782). These patents

generallg relate to antennae technologg. The complaint seeks an injunction and moneg damages. The Court
has set a trial date of Mag 2, 2011. Proceedings are ongoing.

On Julg 27, 2009, BTG international inc. (“BTG”) filed complaints with the U.S. ITC and the United States District
Court for the ED of Texas, Marshall Division, against Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd. and other related Samsung

companies (collectivelg “Samsung”) and other companies, including the Compang, alleging infringement of
United States Patent Nos. 5,394,362; 5,764,571; 5,872,735 (“the '735 Patent”); 6,104,640 (“the ‘640 Patent’) and

6,118,692 (“the ‘692 Patent”). The patents relate generallg to flash memorg chips, and BTG’s infringement

allegations against RIM are based on RlM’s use of Samsung flash memorg chips in certain RIM handhelds. In
the ED of Texas, BTG is seeking monetarg damages, and the case has been staged until the determination in
the ITC case becomes final. in the ITC, BTG is requesting that the ITC issue orders prohibiting RIM from

importing into the U.S. and selling in the U.S. RIM handhelds containing the flash memorg chips made bg

Samsung. The ALJ in the ITC case has set a trial date of June 21, 2010 and a target date for the completion of
the investigation bg the ITC of Februarg 28, 2011. On Januarg 19, 2010, BTG filed a motion to partiallg terminate
the ITC case as to the ‘735, ‘640 and ‘692 Patents. The ALJ issued a determination on Februarg 2, 2010, granting

BTG’s motion and on Februarg 22, 2010, the ITC declined to review the ALJ’s determination, therebg making it
final. Proceedings in the ITC case are ongoing.

On August 6, 2009, Intellect Wireless filed a lawsuit against the Compang, HTC, and AT&T in the United States
District Court for the Northern District of Illinois alleging infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 7,257,210; 7,305,076;

7,310,416; and 7,266,186. The patents are generallg related to wireless sgstems and contact data, caller
identification, and pictures. The complaint seeks moneg damages. Proceedings are ongoing.

On August 21, 2009, Xpoint Technologies filed a lawsuit against Research In Motion Limited, Research In Motion

Corp., and twentg-eight other defendants, in the United States District Court for the District of Delaware

alleging infringement of U.S. Patent No. 5,913,028. The patent is generallg directed to data traffic deliverg. The
complaint seeks an injunction and moneg damages. The Court has set a trial date of Mag 7, 2012. Proceedings
are ongoing.

On September 23, 2009, SimpleAir, Inc. filed a lawsuit against the Compang and 10 other defendants in the
United States District Court for the ED of Texas alleging infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 6,021,433; 7,035,914;

6,735,614; and 6,167,426. The patents are generallg directed to the generation, processing and/or deliverg of
content, notifications and updates for computing devices. The complaint seeks an injunction and moneg

damages. Proceedings are ongoing.

On October 23, 2009, Raglon LLC (‘Raglan’) filed an Amended Complaint adding the Compang and four other

defendants to an existing patent infringement suit. The original Complaint was filed on August 6, 2009 in the
United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas alleging infringement of United States Patent

No. 6,655,589. The single patent—in-suit generallg relates to traffic citation issuance. The Compang and Raglan
settled on March 30, 2010 for an amount immaterial to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

On November 2, 2009, Media Digital Corporation (“Media Digital”) filed a lawsuit against the Compang in the
United States District Court for the Northern District of Texas alleging infringement of U.S. Patent No. 7,130,778.
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The patent is generally related to touch screen control of radio stations. The Company and Media Digital
settled on January 27, 2010 for an amount immaterial to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

On November 23, 2009, Klausner Technologies lnc. filed a lawsuit against the Company and Motorola in the

United States District Court for the ED of Texas alleging infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 5,572,576 and 5,283,818.

The patents are generally directed to visual voice mail. The complaint seeks an injunction and money

damages. Klausner served RIM on March 23, 2010. Proceedings are ongoing.

On March 1, 2010, Uniloc USA, Inc. and Uniloc Private Limited (“Uniloc”) filed a lawsuit against Alt—N

Technologies Ltd. (a subsidiary of RIM Limited) and 13 other defendants in the United States District Court for

the ED of Texas alleging infringement of U.S. Patent No. 5,490,216. The patent is generally directed to video

compression and decompression. The complaint seeks an injunction and money damages. Proceedings are
ongoing.

On March 3, 2010, Smartphone Technologies LLC filed a lawsuit against the Company and 12 other defendants
in the United States District Court for the ED of Texas alleging infringement of US. Patent Nos. 6,950,645;
7,076,275; 5,742,905; 7,506.064; 6,533,342; 6,711,609 and RE40,459. The patents are generally directed to device

power management, telephonic networking, and synchronization. The complaint seeks an injunction and
money damages. Proceedings are ongoing.

On March 15, 2010, Video Enhancement Solutions LLC filed a lawsuit against Research In Motion Limited and 8

other defendants in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Georgia (Atlanta Division)

alleging infringement of U.S. Patent No. 7,397,965 and U.S. Patent No. 7,492,960. The patents are generally

directed to video compression and decompression. The complaint seeks an injunction and money damages.
Proceedings are ongoing.

On March 26, 2010, the PACid Group LLC filed a lawsuit against Research In Motion Limited, Research In Motion

Corporation and 30 other defendants in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas (Tyler

Division) alleging infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 5,963,646 and 6,049,612. The patents are generally directed

to encryption key generation and file encryption. The complaint seeks an injunction and money damages.
Proceedings are ongoing.

On March 31, 2010, MobileMedia ideas LLC filed a lawsuit against Research In Motion Limited and Research In

Motion Corporation in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas (Marshall Division)

alleging infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 5,479,476; 5,845,219; 6,055,439; 6,253,075; 6,427,078; RE.39231; 5,732,390;
5,737,394; 6,070,068; 6,389,301; 6,446,080; and 7,349,012. The patents are generally directed to mobile telephone

technologies including mobile telephone user interfaces, call control, speech signal transmission and imaging.

The complaint seeks an injunction and money damages. Proceedings are ongoing.

OSC Settlement

As described above, as part of the Settlement Agreement, the Company agreed to enter into an agreement

with an independent consultant to conduct a comprehensive examination and review of the Company and

report to the Board and the staff of the OSC on the Company’s governance practices and procedures and its
internal control over financial reporting. The Company retained Protiviti to carry out this engagement. See

“independent Governance Assessment” and Appendix A to this MD82A for a further description of Prativiti’s

engagement, its recommendations and the Company’s responses to such recommendations. A copy of
Prativiti’s recommendations will also appear on the website of the OSC.

Market Risk of Financial instruments

The Company is engaged in operating and financing activities that generate risk in three primary areas:

Foreign Exchange

The Company is exposed to foreign exchange risk as a result of transactions in currencies other than its

functional currency, the U.S. dollar. The majority of the Company’s revenues in fiscal 2010 are transacted in
U.S. dollars. Portions of the revenues are denominated in Canadian dollars, Euros and British Pounds.

Purchases of raw materials are primarily transacted in U.S. dollars. Other expenses, consisting of the majority

of salaries, certain operating costs and manufacturing overhead are incurred primarily in Canadian dollars. At

February 27, 2010, approximately 38% of cash and cash equivalents, 22% of accounts receivables and 7% of

accounts payable are denominated in foreign currencies (February 28, 2009 — 36%, 26% and 4%, respectively).

These foreign currencies primarily include the Canadian dollar, Euro and British Pound. As part of its risk

management strategy, the Company maintains net monetary asset and/or liability balances in foreign



currencies and engages in foreign currency hedging activities using derivative financial instruments, including

currency forward contracts and currency options. The Company does not use derivative instruments for
speculative purposes. The principal currencies hedged include the Canadian dollar, Euro and British Pound.

The Company has entered into forward contracts to hedge exposures relating to foreign currency anticipated
transactions and these contracts have been designated as cash flow hedges. For a derivative instrument

designated as a cash flow hedge, the effective portion of the derivative’s gain or loss is initially reported as a
component of other comprehensive income and is subsequently recognized in income when the hedged
exposure affects income. The ineffective portion of the derivative’s gain or loss is recognized in current income.
The cash flow hedges were fully effective at February 27, 2010. As at February 27, 2010, the net unrealized

gains on these forward contracts was approximately $62.2 million (February 28, 2009 — net unrealized losses
of $2.7 million). Unrealized gains associated with these contracts were recorded in Other current assets and

Accumulated other comprehensive income. Unrealized losses were recorded in accrued liabilities and
accumulated other comprehensive income.

The Company has entered into forward contracts to hedge certain monetary assets and liabilities that are

exposed to foreign currency risk. For contracts that are not subject to hedge accounting, gains and losses on
the hedge instruments are recognized in income in each period, generally offsetting the change in the US.
dollar value of the hedged asset or liability. As at February 27, 2010, net unrealized gains of $28.9 million were

recorded in respect of this amount (February 28, 2009 — net unrealized gains of $16.0 million). Unrealized gains
associated with these contracts were recorded in Other current assets and Selling, marketing and

administration. Unrealized losses were recorded in accrued liabilities and selling, marketing and
administration.

Interest Rate

Cash, cash equivalents and investments are invested in certain instruments of varying maturities.

Consequently, the Company is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of holding investments of varying
maturities. The fair value of investments, as well as the investment income derived from the investment

portfolio, will fluctuate with changes in prevailing interest rates. The Company does not currently use interest
rate derivative financial instruments in its investment portfolio.

Credit and Customer Concentration

The Company has historically been dependent on an increasing number of significant telecommunication

carriers and on larger more complex contracts with respect to sales of the majority of its products and

services. The Company is experiencing significant sales growth in North America and internationally, resulting

in the growth in its carrier customer base in terms of numbers, sales and account receivables volumes and in
some instances new or significantly increased credit limits. The Company, in the normal course of business,
monitors the financial condition of its customers and reviews the credit history of each new customer. The

Company establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that corresponds to the specific credit risk of its
customers, historical trends, and economic circumstances. The allowance as at February 27, 2010 is $2.0 million

(February 28, 2009 — $2.1 million). The Company also places insurance coverage for a portion of its foreign
accounts receivables. While the Company sells to a variety of customers, one customer comprised 14% of

accounts receivables as at February 27, 2010 (February 28, 2009 — one customer comprised 29%). Additionally,

three customers comprised 20%, 13% and 10% of the Company’s fiscal 2010 annual sales (fiscal 2009 annual
sales — three customers comprised 23%, 14% and 10%).

The Company is exposed to credit risk on derivative financial instruments arising from the potential for
counterparties to default on their contractual obligations. The Company mitigates this risk by limiting

counterparties to highly rated financial institutions and by continuously monitoring their creditworthiness. The
Company’s exposure to credit loss and market risk will vary overtime as a function of currency exchange

rates. The Company measures its counterparty credit exposure as a percentage of the total fair value of the
applicable derivative instruments. Where the net fair value of derivative instruments with any counterparty is

negative, the Company deems the credit exposure to that counterparty to be nil. As at February 27, 2010, the
maximum credit exposure to a single counterparty, measured as a percentage of the total fair value of
derivative instruments with net unrealized gains of $91.1 million was 24% (February 28, 2009 — 60%).

The Company is exposed to market price and credit risk on its investment portfolio. The Company reduces this

risk by investing in liquid, investment grade securities and by limiting exposure to any one entity or group of
related entities. As at February 27, 2010, no single issuer represented more than 8% of the total cash, cash

equivalents and investments (February 28, 2009 — no single issuer represented more than 12% of the total

cash, cash equivalents and investments).
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Market values are determined for each individual securitg in the investment portfolio. The Compang assesses

declines in the value of individual investments for impairment to determine whether the decline is

other—than—temporarg. The Compang makes this assessment bg considering available evidence, including

changes in general market conditions, specific industrg and individual compang data, the length of time and
the extent to which the fair value has been less than cost, the financial condition, the near—term prospects of

the individual investment and the Compang’s abilitg and intent to hold the debt securities to maturitg. During

fiscal 2010 and for fiscal 2009, the Cornpang did not record an other-than—temporarg impairment charge.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures and Internal Controls

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of Februarg 27, 2010, the Compang carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the

participation of the Compang’s management, including the Compang’s Co—CEOs and its Chief Financial
Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Compang’s disclosure controls and procedures,
as defined in Rules 13(a)—1S(e) and 15(d)—15(e) under the U.S. Exchange Act. Based on that evaluation, the Co-
Chief Executive Officers and the Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of such date, the Compang’s

disclosure controls and procedures were effective to give reasonable assurance that the information required

to be disclosed bg the Compang in reports that it files or submits under the US. Exchange Act is (i) recorded,

processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and
(ii) accumulated and communicated to management, including its principal executive and principal financial

officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timelg decisions regarding required
disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of the Compang is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13(a)—15(f) and 1S(d)—1S(f) under the
U.S. Exchange Act as a process designed bg, or under the supervision of, the Compang’s principal executive

and principal financial officers and effected bg the Compang’s Board of Directors, management and other

personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitg of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with US. GAAP and includes those policies and

procedures that:

- pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accuratelg and fairlg reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Compang;

- provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessarg to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with US. GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures of the Compang are

being made onlg in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the Compang; and

- provide reasonable assurance regarding the prevention or timelg detection of unauthorized acquisitions,

use or dispositions of the Compang’s assets that could have a material affect on the Compang’s financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting mag not prevent or detect

misstatements. Projections of ang evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risks that

controls mag become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures mag deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Compang’s internal control over financial reporting as of
Februarg 27, 2010. in making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth bg the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadwag Commission (COSO) in internal Control—|ntegrated Framework.

Based on this assessment, management believes that, as of Februarg 27, 2010, the Compang’s internal control
over financial reporting was effective.

The Compang’s independent auditors have issued an audit report on the Compang’s internal control over
financial reporting. This report is included with the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

During the fiscal gear ended Februarg 27, 2010, no changes were made to the Compang’s internal control over

financial reporting that have materiallg affected, or are reasonablg likelg to materiallg affect, the Compang’s
internal control over financial reporting.



APPENDIX A

Protlvltl Co. Corporate Governance Recommendations and

Responses of the Board of Directors of the Company

RECOMMENDATION

1. Board Leadership

The board should appoint a board chair to fill the currently vacant
position.

The chair of the board should be an independent director as is the
general practice among Canadian public companies and as
identified as a corporate governance practice by National Policy

58-201, Corporate Governance Guidelines. The board should adopt
a structure enabling independent directors to provide the necessary
leadership in exercising independent judgment and effectively
performing their oversight role.

If an independent director cannot be appointed and a non»
independent director assumes the position of board chair, on
independent director can be appointed to act as lead director with
disclosure of the matter. However, in such a situation, the board should

evaluate whether, in view of the substantial improvements
recommended in this report, its current leadership structure can
support the effective and independent board leadership required to
oversee management and discharge its responsibilities to the
corporation and its shareholders.

RESPONSE

This recommendation has been accepted in part and has been
addressed. The chair position has been vacant and the Board has
had an independent lead director since March 2, 2007, when the Board
adopted the recommendations of the Special Committee.

The vast majority of S8iP 500 companies in the United States have
non-independent Chairs. Of the companies that form the TSX
Composite Index, approximately 45% have a non-independent
Chair. While National Policy S8-201 (‘NPSB-201') states that the
Chair of the Board should be an independent director, NPS8-201 is
not prescriptive and “encourages issuers to consider the guidelines in
developing their own corporate governance practices’. It also
provides that where an independent Chair is not appropriate, an
independent director should be appointed to act as ‘lead director”
and either the independent chair or independent lead director should
act as the effective leader of the Board.

The Board has considered its current leadership structure and
believes it supports the effective and independent board leadership
required to oversee management and discharge its responsibilities to
the Company and its shareholders. Substantially exceeding the
guidance of NP58—20i that a board should have a majority of
independent directors, 7 of the 8 members of the Board are
independent directors. The Board’s 3 committees —the Audit and

Risk Management Committee ('A8iRM Committee’), the
Compensation, Nomination and Governance Committee (‘CNG
Committee‘) and the Strategic Planning Committee (‘SP
Committee')—are each chaired by an independent director. The
independent lead director, who acts as the effective leader of the
Board and is supported by strong independent committee chairs, is
also a member of the A82RM and the CNG Committees and has

attended all of the meetings of the SP Committee since its
inception. The A8iRM and CNG Committees are also comprised of
solely of independent directors, with each member of the A82RM and
CNG Committees meeting the heightened independence requirements
that are applicable to audit committees under U.S. securities laws. The
Board and the Company believe that this highly independent board
structure provides the necessary leadership in exercising independent
judgment and effectively performing the Board’s oversight role, and
the absence of a Board chair does not adversely affect this
determination. This board structure has been in place during the
recent improvements in corporate governance practices at the
Company. The Board is in the process of reviewing the Board
mandate with a view to updating it, including with respect to
formalizing the role and duties of a lead director.

The Board believes that the Company has been well served by its
current leadership structure. The Board will continue to monitor the
appropriateness of its current leadership structure from time to time,
including whether it is appropriate to appoint a Chair and whether the
Chair should be an independent director.
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RECOMMENDATION

2. Oversight of Organizational Leadership

(a) CEO Si Executive Officers:

The Board should develop and further refine its processes and

practices to facilitate the oversight of the Co-CEOs and executive
management in the following areas:

Chief Executive Officer

As defined in National Policy 58-201, Corporate Governance

Guidelines, the following should be provided for the Co-CEOs:

- Formalwritten position descriptions that clearly definethe role of
the CEOs and delineate management and board
responsibilities; and

- Measurable corporate goals and performance objectives that
the Co-CEOs are responsible for meeting. These goals and
objectives should be approved by the board, and they should
subsequently form the basis for objective annual assessments
of CEO performance.

Executive Officers

- Written position descriptions and defined measurable
performance objectives should also be developed for other
members of executive management and approved by the
board;

- The appointment of executive officers of the Company should be
approved by the board; and

- An ongoing process should be established, with board oversight.
for the assessment of the capabilities of executives in relation to

the Company's current. emerging and expected future needs, in
the context ofa rapidly growing organization that is maturing in
a highly competitive environment.

 
RESPONSE 

 

Position Descriptions: This recommendation has been accepted
and will be addressed as described below. NPS8-201 recommends

that the Board develop a clear position description for the chief
executive officer and management responsibilities. Messrs.
Lazaridis and Balsillie have been with the Company since 1984 and

1992. respectively, and have worked together for approximately
18 years. As a result of this long tenure and working relationship.
their respective roles are well understood at the Company and by
the Board. Nonetheless, the Board is working in conjunction with

management on position descriptions for the two Co-Chief Executive
Officers and the Company's other executive officers consistent
with NP58—20i.

Goals and Performance Objectives: This recommendation has
been accepted and has been addressed. The first level oversight
of Co-CEO and executive officer performance and compensation is

the responsibility ofthe independent CNG Committee supported by its
independent compensation consultant. As noted in the Company’s
Compensation, Discussion 82 Analysis (‘CD8iA') of its 2009
Management Information Circular (‘Z009 MIC‘), the CNG Committee
took into account six strategic goals, some measurable quantitatively
and others qualitatively, in assessing the fiscal year 2009
performance of the Co-CEOs and other executive officers. Also as
noted in the CD82A, the Co-CEO and executive officers‘ variable

incentive compensation was determined based on the Company's
financial performance on specific measurable criteria, being revenue,
diluted earnings per share and net subscriber additions as well as
their respective individual performance. The CNG Committee’s
performance assessment of the Co-CEOs and the executive officers
(based on Company strategic goal achievement. specific financial
metric achievement and individual performance), together with the
Committee's compensation recommendations were reported to, and
approved by, the independent members of the Board.

For the recently completed fiscal year ended February 27, 2010. the
above described performance considerations and process are being
followed. In addition. as part of its fiscal year 2010 performance and
compensation planning, individual performance objectives forthe fiscal
year were established for each of the Co-CEOs and executive officers
and will form part ofthe CNG Committee's fiscal year 2010 performance
assessment. The CNG Committee and the Board anticipate that the

annual assessment process will continue to be refined in future fiscal
years. The Board recognizes that this is an evolving process but also
believes that its current practices are appropriate in assessing
performance and determining fair and appropriate compensation in
the context of the Company's operations.

Appointment of Executive Officers: This recommendation has been
accepted and has been addressed. The Board approves the
appointment of executive officers. For example, at its December
2009 quarterly meeting, the Board received in advance of the
meeting. and adopted, a resolution appointing the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company to that office.

Assessment of Capabilities: This recommendation has been accepted
and is being addressed by the measures outlined in response to
recommendation 3 (Succession Planning and Leadership
Development).



RECOMMENDATION

(b) Chief Financial Officer

The Companu should consider the significant benefits of appointing
an individual as Chief Financial Officer. The individual should have the

requisite stature, skills and experience needed for a companu of the
size, scope and potential of RIM.

 
RESPONSE 

This recommendation has been accepted and has been addressed.
in March 2007, the Board appointed Mr. Brian Bidulka to the position of
Chief Accounting Officer when the Companu’s then Chief Financial
Officer moved to a different position within the Companu. For almost

three uears, Mr. Bidulka was the Companu’s senior financial officer
and carried out most of the duties of a Chief Financial Officer. In

recognition of his performance, personal development and
experience, on December 17, 2009 the Board, upon the
recommendation of the Co—CEOs, the CNG Committee and the

A8lRM Committee, appointed Mr. Bidulka as Chief Financial Officer.
The Board believes that Mr. Bidulka has the requisite stature, skills and

experience needed for a companu of the size, scope and potential of
RIM. 

(c) Delegation of Authority

The authorities delegated to management for binding the corporation
and the matters to be brought to the board for approval should be
defined in a ‘statement of approval authorities’ and approved bu the
board of directors, with periodic review and re-affirmation.

3. Succession Planning and Leadership Development

The Board should develop a succession plan for the CEO level and
define criteria to be used in selecting future chief executive officers.
Succession plans should also be developed for appropriate levels of
executive management.

Succession plans should be reviewed and approved bu the board on
an annual basis.

This recommendation has been accepted and will be addressed as

follows. The Board currentlu maintains oversight over certain
corporate activities. For example, all significant acquisitions are
presented to the Board for consideration or approval, as the Board
deems appropriate. The Board also considers and approves the
Companu’s annual operating plan. The Board, however, does
believe that a formal approval policu is appropriate and intends to
adopt such a poiicu in the near future, which will be subject to periodic
review bu the Board.

This recommendation has been accepted and is being addressed as
follows. Under the supervision of the CNG Committee, the Company is
in the process of developing a succession plan for the Co—CEOs,
executive officers and other appropriate levels of senior
management. The Board intends to review and approve succession
plans for the executive officer level on an annual basis. The Board will
use the succession plan and position descriptions referenced in
response to recommendation 2 (a), together with other appropriate
considerations at the time, for selecting future CEOs.

4. Agenda Setting and Flow of information to the Board

The board should exercise better control of the agenda-setting
process and the flow of information it receives as follows:

— An oversight matrix (a listing of board activities with related
information requirements, timing and expected board action)
should be developed to govern the agenda-setting process and
meeting calendar, along with the related flow of information to
the board and its committees. The oversight matrix should be
approved bu the board and subject to periodic review and re-
affirmation.

- Protocols should be established and adhered to, providing
adequate time for directors to review materials and consider
significant matters for approval, especiallu material
transactions and events, with circulation of all materials

sufficientlu in advance of meetings to allow directors to read
and absorb them, with due consideration of their personal
contribution to the discussion of matters on which the board is
to deliberate.

Control of Agenda and Oversight Matrix: This recommendation
has been accepted and has been addressed. The Board believes that
it has appropriate control of the agenda setting process and the flow
of information it receives. Currentlu, the agenda for each Board
meeting is set bu the lead director, with assistance from the
Corporate Secretaru and relevant committee chairs. Draft agendas
for Board committees are set bu the Chair of the committee with‘
assistance from relevant corporate officers.

Based on its experience and service as directors and officers at other
public companies, the Board believes that the agenda-setting process
and the information it receives is appropriate and not atupical. The
Board has observed an improvement in the timeliness and content of
Board materials since a new Corporate Secretaru was hired in 2008.
in addition to the above and in response to the recommendation, the
Board, the CNG and A&RM Committees have adopted annual meeting
planners which indicate their respective activities for each fiscal ueor

and the timing of the activities, including those required bu the Board
mandate and committee charters. These calendars do not include a

list of related information requirements, as this information is well
understood for recurring items and can varu from time to time
depending on ' the nature of the matter, then current
facts/circumstances, the information and its content. The Board

and the SP Committee believe that an annual meeting planner is
not required for the SP Committee because it has a narrow focus and
does not meet regularlu on a quarteriu basis.

 

 

 

 



 
RECOMMENDATION

5. Infrastructure, Practices and Processes to Support Board
Effectiveness

(a) Corporate Governance Guidelines

Corporate governance guidelines should be developed to define and
document the Companu’s approach to corporate governance and

provide direction/guidance to help directors in carruing out their
responsibilities. Corporate governance guidelines should be
reviewed on an annual basis bu the board.

Consideration should be given to publiclu disclosing the Companu's
corporate governance guidelines as It is a leading practice for larger
organizations.

 

(b) Director Orientation and Ongoing Education

As identified as corporate governance practices bu National Policu
58-201, Corporate Governance Guidelines, the following should be
developed:

- Orientation:
The board should ensure that all new directors receive a

comprehensive orientation. All new directors should fullu
understand the role of the board and its committees, as well as

the contribution individual directors are expected to make
(including, in particular, the commitment of time and resources
that the issuer expects from its directors). All new directors should
also understand the nature and operation ofthe issuer’s business.

- Continuing Education:

The board should provide continuing education opportunities for
all directors, so that individuals mau maintain or enhance their
skills and abilities as directors, as well as to ensure their knowledge
and understanding of the issuer's business remains current.

 

RESPONSE

Protocols: This recommendation has been accepted and has been
addressed. There is an unwritten, but well understood, protocol alreadu
in place. Materials for qua rterlu meetings are to be provided one week
priorto the Board/committee meetings. This timeframe is generallu met
and the Board is satisfied that it receives material sufficientlu in
advance of quarterlu meetings. Materials for intervening meetings
are provided as far in advance of the meeting as time and
circumstances permit, recognizing that such meetings, bu their
nature, are often unplanned and involve situations that are fluid,
complex and difficult to time with precision. Recognizing the benefits
ofthe Companu’s entrepreneurial culture, which enables it to respond to
opportunities more quicklu than other companies of its size, the Board
understands that circumstances do and will continue to arise where it
will need to be available on shorter notice and with less time to review

materials provided in advance of the meeting.

This recommendation has been accepted and will be addressed as
follows. The Board believes that the Companu has in place a
significant number of policies, procedures and practices relating to
corporate governance, including those set out in charters for each of
the three committees of the Board and the Board mandate, which

address governance matters often found in such issuer guidelines.
The charters of the A82RM and CNG Committees have also been

enhanced and adopted bu the Board in December 2009. A new SP
Committee Charter was also adopted bu the Board in December 2009.
The committee charters are reviewed bu the committees and the
Board annuallu. Finallu, as noted above, the Board is in the
process of reviewing the Board mandate with a view to updating it.

The Companu's current governance practices are disclosed in its
management information circular in accordance with National

Instrument 58-101. While the NASDAQ and TSX listing rules and
securities laws applicable to the Companu do not require the
Companu to publiclu disclose its corporate governance guidelines,
the Companu will review its current charters and Board mandate with
a view to augmenting the charters and mandate as the Board
determines appropriate for the Companu. If the Board adopts a
consolidated set of corporate governance guidelines, it intends to
publiclu disclose those guidelines.

The first two paragraphs of this recommendation come from
NP 58-201. The third is a Protiviti recommendation.

Orientation: This recommendation has been accepted and has

been addressed. All new directors of the Companu now receive a
comprehensive orientation. This includes: receiving a detailed briefing
from the Companu as part of the selection process; meeting the Chair
of the CNG, the lead director and other independent directors as part
of the selection process; a briefing from the Companu's internal and
external legal counsel on their legal duties, corporate and securities
obligations and the Companu's corporate governance procedures
and policies; attending a product working session; meeting with each
of the executive officers and certain other senior management, such
as the Vice-President, Investor Relations and Vice President, Legal in
order to understand the Companu’s products, operations and keu
functions; and a tour of Companu manufacturing and operations
facilities. The orientation process will be reviewed in connection with
new appointments to the Board.



RECOMMENDATION

The orientation and continuing education programs should be
regularly reviewed in the context of evolving circumstances, both
within and outside the Company, and updated to ensure that all
directors, individually and the board as a group, have the
knowledge and understanding necessary for effective and efficient
conduct of the board's affairs and to fulfill their obligations.

 
RESPONSE

Continuing Education: This recommendation has been accepted
and has been addressed. Education occurs as part of the regular
business of the Board and its committees and will continue. The

opportunities for education of Board members. at the Board and in
Board committees. have increased over the past three years.

 

To allow the Board and committees additional time to conduct their

respective business and to allow for education sessions, the Board has
moved the CNG Committee quarterly meeting to the day preceding the
A8iRM Committee and Board meeting, with a newly instituted Board
dinner, which is intended to have an educational component, following

the CNG Committee meeting. The Board intends to review the
Company’s continuing education efforts periodically as appropriate. 

(c) Director Recruiting and Succession

The board should continue its efforts to recruit additional directors

and develop an orderly succession plan to meet the ongoing needs of
the board for directors with an appropriate mix of diversity,
competencies, skills and other attributes to provide effective
oversight of the Company.

This recommendation has been accepted and has been addressed.
From time to time, the Board considers the size and composition ofthe
Board and evaluates the need and selection criteria for recruiting
additional directors. in the spring of 2009, the CNG Committee
adopted new selection criteria for recruiting a new director. Using
these selection criteria, the Board appointed a new director to the
Board in September 2009. While the Board believes that it would be
beneficial tothe Company and the Board for its other Co—CEO to rejoin
the Board in 2010, beyond that, the Board has not concluded that
additional directors should be recruited based on its current and

anticipated needs. The Board will continue to monitor its size and
composition. 

(d) Board and Director Performance Assessments

As identified as a corporate governance practice by National Policy
58-201, Corporate Governance Guidelines, the board, its committees
and each individual director should be regularly assessed regarding
his, her or its effectiveness and contribution. An assessment should
consider:

— In the case of the board or a board committee, its mandate or
charter; and

- In the case of an individual director, the applicable position
description(s), as well as the competencies and skills each
individual is expected to bring to the board.

This recommendation has been accepted and will be addressed as
follows. Consistent with its charter, the CNG Committee is responsible
for monitoring the effectiveness of the operation of the Board, its
committees and individual directors. A Board effectiveness

questionnaire and follow-up process has been developed that will
be undertaken annually. The CNG Committee and the Board will
conduct an annual performance assessment and make
improvements to the evaluation process as appropriate.

 

(e) Charters and Mandates

The board should develop the following:

- A charter for the strategic planning committee;
- Position descriptions for the chair of the audit committee and the

chair of the strategic planning committee.

6. Compliance Oversight Practices

(a) oversight of Enterprise-wide Compliance

The Board should oversee the design and implementation of a
comprehensive, integrated enterprise-wide compliance program
encompassing existing compliance initiatives and ensuring
coverage of compliance with all applicable laws and regulations
across various jurisdictions, as well as with internal corporate
policies approved by the board.

Accountability for enterprise-wide compliance should be assigned to
a designated executive, such as a chief compliance officer or the
equivalent, with responsibility for comprehensive and integrated
compliance across all parts of the organization with regular
reporting to the audit committee and the board.

This recommendation has been accepted and has been addressed.
The SP Committee and the Board has developed and adopted a
Charter for the SP Committee which includes the duties and

responsibilities of the Chair. The charter for the A8iRM Committee
was also amended in December 2009 to set out the duties and

responsibilities of its Chair.

This recommendation has been accepted and will be addressed as
follows. As part of its review and update ofthe current Board mandate.
the Board will confirm its responsibility for overseeing, directly and
through its committees, on appropriate compliance program for the
Company. Other than matters currently within the purview of the
Corporate Disclosure Committee, accountability for the compliance
program will be assigned to the Company’s existing Risk Council,
which consists of senior management members representing all of
the significant areas of the Company’s business. Pursuant to its
existing charter, the role of the Risk Council is currently to assist
management in fulfilling its responsibilities for assessing, managing
and monitoring risks. This mandate will be augmented to include the
responsibility for broader oversight of a compliance program
appropriate for the Company, including its existing compliance

initiatives, legal/regulatory compliance (other than matters currently
within the purview of the Corporate Disclosure Committee) and internal
corporate policies approved by the Board. The Risk Council will be
renamed the Risk 82 Compliance Council and will report to the Co-CEOs.

 

 



 

 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION

To discharge its oversight responsibilities, the audit committee should
ensure the effective operation of an enterprise-wide compliance program
with regular reporting on the state of compliance in the organization.

Reporting should continue to include reports on Sarbanes—O><leg
compliance, legal claims and known non—compliance incidents.
Reporting to the audit committee should also include reporting on the
enterprise—wide compliance program and the state of compliance across
the organization with focus on compliance risk exposures.

In addition, internal Audit should periodically perform reviews of the

enterprise—wide compliance function and processes to provide
assurance to the audit committee on the program’s effective and

efficient operation.

RESPONSE

The Chair of the Risk 82 Compliance Council also will make a report to the
A8iRM Committee, at least quarterly, on the compliance program and
state of compliance. The Risk Council, through its Chair, will report out to
the Board, at least quarterlg. In connection with its oversight of the
Compantjs compliance program, the Board will continue to monitor
the need for accountabilitg for the Compangs compliance program to

be assigned to a designated executive such as a chief compliance officer
or equivalent.

__s_ 

(b) Compliance Culture

In considering the future re—appointment of individuals reprimanded
bg regulatorg authorities to the honorary title of ‘Director Emeritus’.
the board should consider the messaging effect of these actions and

the impact on the organization's compliance culture.

The Board believes this recommendation is not necessary or

appropriate, but nevertheless has been addressed. Each of the
individuals was formerlg a director of long-standing. who agreed
not to stand for reelection to the board in 2007. The individuals were

appointed to the honorarg position of Director Emeritus in recognition
of their substantial contribution to the Compang and its shareholders

over many gears. The Director Emeritus position carries with it no
authoritg. no responsibilities and no access to the Compang’s
confidential information. The initial decision to confer this title was

announced bu the Compang on March 5, 2007, subsequent to which
five new independent directors have joined the Board. The Board
considered the implications of the appointment when initially made
for a one-gear term, for each subsequent one—gear reappointment
and will reconsider the implications upon the expirg of the current
one-gear term. The Board does not viewthe designation as having an
impact on the organization’s compliance culture.

Pursuant to Schedule C to the Settlement Agreement, Protiviti is to
make recommendations where it identifies ‘a deficiencg

substantial enough to require changes or improvements at the
Compang". The Board does not consider this recommendation to
be of such a nature._:s.__j 

7. Receiving Feedback from Employees and Stakeholders 

The board should proceed with its review and revisions of the
Compang’s emplogee whistleblower program to ensure it operates
effectivelg with focus on internal awareness and methods of access to
promote ease of use. The board should consider the benefits of
establishing a channel bg which outside parties can report relevant
information as a means of obtaining external feedback and gauging
potential reputational impact to the organization. As identified as a
corporate governance practice by National Policg 58-201, Corporate
Governance Guidelines, the board’s mandate should be revised to

include its responsibilitg for the implementation of measures for

receiving feedback from stakeholders — such as establishing a
process to permit stakeholders to directly contact the independent
directors.

whistleblower Program: This recommendation has been accepted
and has been addressed. As of the end of the most recent fiscal gear,

the Compang empiogees could submit anongmous whistleblower

reports to a PO. Box address. The Compang whistleblower
program now makes whistleblower reporting available to
emplogees and external parties via a web and telephone hotline
based sgstem supplied and operated bg EthicsPoint. EthicsPoint
has advised the Compang that over 2200 organizations use
EthicsPoint telephone hotline, web-based reporting and case
management services as a component of their overall governance,

risk and compliance efforts. The new sgstem allows individuals to
make whistleblower reports, including anongmous reports, to the
Compang via the Ethicspoint sgstem and enables the Compang or
the Chair of the A8iRM Committee. as appropriate, to follow up directlg
with the reporter while maintaining his or her anongmitg. All
employees have been advised of the new whistleblower program
as part of the Companljs business standards and principles
acknowledgement program which is conducted annuallg.



RECOMMENDATION
 

RESPONSE

Communications: This

 

Stakeholder recommendation has been

accepted and has been addressed. The Board believes that
stakeholders who wish to communicate with the Board are currently

able to do so. The term ‘stakeholders’ encompasses a wide variety of
constituents, including employees and shareholders, and one set of
practices in this area will not suit all situations. As part of its review of
the Board mandate contemplated in its response to recommendation 5 (a)
(Corporate Governance Guidelines), the Board will indicate in the mandate
how stakeholders can currently contact the Board and will publicize the
Board mandate on the Company’s external website. The Board will
continue to evaluate best methods for interacting with stakeholders. 

8. Strategy 

The Company's strategic plan should be approved by the strategic
planning committee, and ultimately by the full board on an annual
basis. The mandate of the board should be revised to include its

responsibility for approval of the strategic plan, as outlined in
National Policy 58-201, Corporate Governance Guidelines.

Sufficient time should be allocated for discussion and review of the

plan by the strategic planning committee and the board. as well as to
oversee on a continuous basis the progress made by management in

pursuit of the Company's strategic objectives in a rapidly changing
business environment.

This recommendation has been accepted and has been addressed.
Since the inception of the SP Committee, all members of the Board have
attended and participated in meetings of the SP Committee during which
management and the SP Committee discuss and put fonzvard strategic
initiatives forthe Company. Although the Board as a whole has not formally
voted on the strategic initiatives, all Board members have been present and
have participated in discussions concerning strategic initiatives.

The Board believes that, while it has had sufficient involvement and

oversight of the Company’s strategic initiatives, as part of its review of
the Board mandate contemplated in its response to recommendation 5(a)
(Corporate Governance Guidelines). the Board will update the mandate to
reflect its responsibility for approval of the Company’s strategic initiatives. 

9. Corporate Policy Framework 

The board should oversee the establishment of a comprehensive

corporate policy framework ensuring that corporate policies or
policy statements are developed to govern all the major risks and
critical business activities of the organization. The board should
review the corporate policy framework and approve corporate
policies with periodic review and re-affirmation.

This recommendation has been accepted and has been addressed.
The Board believes that the Company has appropriate comprehensive
policies and procedures in place to govern major risks and critical
business activities of the Company. The Company’s business
standards and principles policies are reviewed annually by the
Board and supplemented and updated as circumstances warrant.
The business standards and principles policies include a code of
ethics; handling financial complaints guidelines; employee
confidentiality and intellectual property agreement; insider trading
policy; diversity guidelines; anti-discrimination 82 anti-harassment
guidelines; anti-bullying 82 anti-violence guidelines; corporate security
policy; global, environment, health 82 safety policy; corporate disclosure
policy; and prevention of improper payments policy. The Company
and Board continue to monitor regulatory and other developments and
implement new policies and amend existing policies in response to

these developments. In addition to policies and procedures, the
Company has other mechanisms in place to monitor and address
major risks and business activities, including those discussed in
response to recommendation 10 immediately below (Risk Oversight)
and a Corporate Disclosure Committee comprised of senior executives.

in addition to the foregoing, in connection with the expanded mandate
of the Risk 82 Compliance Council outlined above, the Council will from
time to time review the current corporate policy framework in light of
the Company’s existing major areas of risk and business activities
with a view to updating existing, and implementing new, corporate
policies as appropriate. The Board and the ASJRM Committee will have
oversight of this effort using the quarterly reporting mechanisms
noted above.

 

 

 



 

 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION

10. Risk Oversight

The board should determine how it will carry out its risk oversight
responsibilities. The board should develop and formalize the related
communication and reporting protocols — at both the audit
committee and full board level — to effectively carry out its risk
oversight responsibilities including:

- Understanding the risks inherent in the organization’s strategy
and the risk appetite of management in executing that strategy;

- Ensuring the implementation of appropriate processes and
systems to manage the organization’s critical risks;

- Accessing relevant information from internal and external
sources about the critical assumptions underlying the strategy;

- Being alert to organizational behaviour and financial and other
incentives that can lead to excessive risk taking;

— Providing input to executive management regarding critical risk
issues on a timely basis; and

- Identifying significant changes to the Company’s risk profile and
their implications to the business.

RESPONSE

This recommendation has been accepted and has been addressed.
The Board has determined how it will carry out its risk oversight
responsibilities and has developed and formalized the related
communication and reporting protocols—at both the AR81M
Committee and full Board level. Risk oversight is carried out by the
Board and committees at different levels. The Board mandate

allocates responsibility for the assessment of principal business
risks in the Board. The Board, through its committees and their
respective charters, has delegated additional responsibilities for
risk oversight:

Audit Committee. In connection with the April and December, 2009
quarterly meetings, the role of the then Audit Committee was

enhanced to better encompass risk management in a number
areas. In particular, in April, the charter of the committee was
enhanced to better reflect best practices for audit committees,
better align with other Board committee charters and assume
certain duties of the disbanded Oversight Committee. Among
others, enhancements in the areas of oversight of financial
reporting process 8i internal controls, oversight of the annual
audit/quarterly reviews; oversight of the Company’s Risk
Performance and Audit group; an annual review of legal and
regulatory matters; and the review of Company policies were
made at that time. In December, the charter was further

enhanced to specifically address oversight of risk management
and to acknowledge/address the increasing focus on risk
management in the governance realm generally. As a result of
its increased role in risk management, the Audit Committee was
renamed the Audit and Risk Management Committee.

The A8lRM Committee is also responsible for the oversight of the
Company's Risk Performance and Audit Group which was started
by the Company in 2008. Pursuant to its charter approved by the
A8iRM Committee, the group's scope of work includes assessing
whether the managements risk performance, control and
governance processes are adequate and functioning such that,
among other things, risks are identified and managed; risk
management is embedded in the business; employee’s actions
are in accordance with policies, standards, procedures and
applicable laws/regulations 82 significant legislative or regulatory
issues are recognized and addressed appropriately. The group
currently consists of a Senior Vice-President and i2 employees who
have joined the Company since 2008. Pursuant to its charter,

the Senior Vice-President reports directly to the A8iRM Committee
(administratively to one of the Co-CEOs) and the group is to
perform its function in a manner that would not impair its
objectivity and independence. The group prepares an annual
audit plan which is submitted to and approved by the A82RM
Committee and the group's progress on the approved plan is
reported to the A8lRM quarterly. The group's Senior Vice-President
also meets with the A&RM Committee in-camera as appropriate.

- CNG Committee: The CNG Committee also has risk

management and control responsibilities. its charter requires
the committee to annually review: the administration of
the Company’s equity-based compensation plans; the risk
management and controls of the Company's other
compensation and benefit plans; and management’s
assessment of compliance with laws and regulations as
they pertain to its responsibilities under the Charter. it also
requires the committee to provide oversight related to
compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 for
executive compensation purposes.



RECOMMENDATION
 

RESPONSE

- SP Committee: The SP Committee also has risk oversight
responsibilities. its charter requires the committee to review
with senior management the risks relevant to the Compang’s
strategic initiatives and oversee/monitor the Compang’s review
and assessment of external developments/factors that arise
and mag impact such initiatives and participate in a periodic
review of such factors.

 

in addition to the above Board risk oversight and the oversight of the
Compangs Risk Performance and Audit Group, the Risk Council
assists management in fulfilling its responsibilities for assessing,
managing and monitoring risks. Further, the Companijs Corporate
Disclosure Committee, consisting of senior management

representatives, plags an active role in monitoring the Compang’s
obligations pursuant to U.S. and Canadian securities laws and its
compliance with such obligations. 

11. Internal Audit 

The Compang should continue its efforts to operationalize the internal
audit function and ensure that internal audit effectivelg provides the
audit committee with assurance on the state of governance, risk

management, control and compliance in the organization.

Once the internal audit function has been fullg operationalized, the
audit committee should consider the conduct of an external

assessment of the internal audit function bg a qualified

independent evaluator accredited bg the institute of internal
Auditors with subsequent reporting to the audit committee on

compliance with professional standards, as well as provide insight
on improvement opportunities relative to general good practices.

This recommendation has been accepted and will be addressed as
follows. The Company is continuing its efforts to operationalize the
Risk Performance and Audit group. As discussed immediatelg above
(Risk Oversight). the charters of the group and the A8lRM Committee
adequatelg address, in the aggregate, oversight of the state of
governance, risk management, control and compliance in the
Compang. Once the internal audit function is fullg operationalized,
the A&iRM Committee will have an external assessment conducted bu

a qualified independent evaluator accredited bu the Institute of
internal Auditors within 12 to 24 months.

 

12. Stock Options and other Equity-Based Compensation 

(a) Granting Activities

The Compang should improve the approval and documentation of stock
option and other equitg compensation grants bg formalizing and
standardizing grant request forms, adhering to pre—approved ranges
for all types of awards and documenting and retaining evidence of
approval throughout the process prior to Compensation Committee
approval. Compensation Committee review and approval is documented.

This recommendation has been accepted and has been addressed.
The company is nevertheless taking additional measures to further
enhance its processes around granting of equity awards. The
Compang has adopted a quarterlg grant process with specified
timelines for submission of requests for awards, as well as forms

and processes used to create the grant request list (including pre-
approved ranges for grants) and process for review and approval
prior to submission to the CNG Committee. While the CNG Committee
has approved ranges for all tgpes of awards, there are situations
where deviations from the range are appropriate and, in such
circumstances. the CNG Committee is advised of and, if deemed

appropriate, approves such deviations. Furthermore, in order to
enhance the measures that have alreadg been put in place, the
Compang is currentlg developing a pre-approval request form. 

(b) Administrative Activities

The Compang should formalize its documentation of the review and
execution of post—granting transactions, and improve certain sgstem
access controls.

This recommendation has been accepted and has been addressed
as follows. The Compang has implemented additional monitoring
controls over activities in the existing stock option administration
sgstem. in addition, the Compang has entered into an agreement
for the implementation of a new equitg program administration
platform and is currentlg working with the service provider on the
implementation. The implementation ofthe new platform will allowthe
Compang to further improve its access controls to sensitive
information. it will also serve as the sgstem of record for equity
related transactions. 

(c) Calculation Activities

The Compang should improve its documentation of the review of
certain activities undertaken in support of its calculation of the fair
value of equity compensation awards. in particular, the review and
data reconciliation activities performed bg the Compang in its
calculation of the fair value and compensation expense related to
equitg—based compensation should be more consistentlg executed
and documented in order to ensure consistencg and accuracg.

This recommendation has been accepted and has been addressed.
The Compang has maintained the necessarg documentation to
support the calculation of the fair value and compensation expense
related to equitg—based compensation as part of its books and
records. The Compang has discussed the recommendation relating
to the consistencg of the review activities with Protiviti and has
maintained consistent documentation as suggested bg Protiviti
since the second quarter of fiscal gear 2010.

 

 



 

il
l

l
l

lE ,

RECOMMENDATION

(d) Reporting Activities

The Company should improve the consistency of its documentation of
the review and performance of certain reporting activities (in
particular, the reconciliations and summaries prepared in this part
of the equity-based compensation accounting and reporting

process), as well as the access and formula controls over key
spreadsheets prepared and used in this part of the process to
organize and report the data prepared in the other phases
described above.

13. internal Control Over Financial Reporting and Disclosure Controls
and Procedures

The Company should implement a process to identify and assess
disclosure risks for both financial and non-financial disclosures, more

formally identify and document disclosure controls and procedures,
and regularly execute a formal testing program for DCSJP to more fully
support its periodic certification obligations.

Additional Comments

 
RESPONSE

This recommendation has been accepted in port and, to the extent
not accepted, is unnecessary for the Company. After discussion
between Protiviti and the Company about the recommendation
relating to access and formula controls over key spreadsheets, the
Board believes the Company currently maintains appropriate internal
controls over these key spreadsheets to prevent material errors in its
accounting and disclosure. The Board is advised that the design and
operation of these controls are tested by the Company on a regular
basis within the context of the Company’s Sarbanes Oxley
compliance program, and that no deficiencies have been reported
to the A&RM Committee in this regard.

 

The portion of the recommendation relating to the consistency of
documentation has been addressed. The Company has always
maintained the necessary documentation to support the review
and performance of certain reporting activities as part of its books
and records. The Company has discussed the recommendation
relating to the consistency of documentation of the review activities
with Protiviti and has maintained consistent documentation as

suggested by Protiviti since the second quarter of fiscal year 2010.

The recommendation has been accepted and will be addressed as
follows. The Company is in the process of enhancing its internal
control framework and documentation of DC&P already in place so
that identified disclosure risks, disclosure controls and testing
procedures have been performed, reviewed by management and
the results communicated to the A&RM Committee. The Company
will also formalize an annual testing plan for DC8iP to obtain
further evidence of operating effectiveness.

Attachment “I” to Protiviti’s final report describes, among other things, the consultant’s methodology and scope

of review. In Attachment “I”, under the heading ‘Access to information and People‘, Protiviti discusses

restrictions and limitations on the scope of its review. The Company has the following comments on this
section of the final report.

Pursuant to Schedule “C” to the Settlement Agreement, which was approved by the OSC, Staff of the OSC and

RIM agreed that RIM would be entitled to invoke lawyer/client privilege in relation to documents requested by

Protiviti and in witness interviews conducted by Protiviti. Protiviti accepted its engagement subject to this

restriction. Documents provided to Protiviti by the Company were redacted for lawyer/client privilege. RIM

certified that its redactions were proper and did not extend beyond those permitted by Schedule ‘C’.

At the commencement of Protiviti’s engagement, the Company and Protiviti agreed on protocols to govern
Protiviti’s access to documents and Company personnel. in view of the privilege limitation, before requested

documents were provided to Protiviti they were first reviewed by the Company’s legal counsel. In light of the

highly confidential nature of some of the materials made available to Protiviti, Protiviti and the Company

agreed that those materials would be reviewed on the company’s premises or on the premises of the

Company’s external legal counsel, with no copies taken. These procedures did not impose additional
restrictions on the documents made available to Protiviti.

Finally, although most of Protiviti’s requested interviews were conducted without incident, toward the end of its

field work Protiviti requested an opportunity to interview certain additional RIM personnel. Following the first
additional interview a disagreement arose about the manner in which the interview was conducted. RIM and

Protiviti then agreed that the balance of the additional interviews would not proceed. From its discussions with
Protiviti, RIM understood that the interviews were requested in an effort to confirm conclusions already
reached, and were not critical to Protiviti’s ability to complete its mandate.



MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING

To the Shareholders of Research In Motion Limited

Management of Research in Motion Limited is responsible for the preparation and presentation of the
Consolidated Financial Statements and all of the financial information in this Annual Report. The Consolidated

Financial Statements were prepared in accordance with United States generallg accepted accounting

principles and include certain amounts based upon estimates and judgments required for such preparation.
The financial information appearing throughout this Annual Report is consistent with the Consolidated
Financial Statements. The Consolidated Financial Statements have been reviewed bu the Audit and Risk

Management Committee and approved by the Board of Directors of Research In Motion Limited.

In fulfilling its responsibilitg for the reliabilitg and integritg of financial information, management has

developed and maintains sgstems of accounting and internal controls and budgeting procedures.

Management believes these systems and controls provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded,
transactions are executed in accordance with managements authorization and financial records are reliable

for the preparation of accurate and timelu Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Compang’s Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Board of Directors, which consists entirelg of

non—management independent directors, usuallg meets two times per fiscal quarter with management and the

independent registered public accounting firm to ensure that each is discharging its respective responsibilities,
to review the Consolidated Financial Statements and either the quarterlg review engagement report or the

independent registered public accounting firms report and to discuss significant financial reporting issues and

auditing matters. The Compang’s independent registered public accounting firm has full and unrestricted
access to the Audit and Risk Management Committee to discuss audit findings, financial reporting and other

related matters. The Audit and Risk Management Committee reports its findings to the Board of Directors for

consideration when the Board approves the Consolidated Financial Statements for issuance to the
shareholders.

The Consolidated Financial Statements for fiscal 2010, fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2008 have been audited bu

Ernst 82 Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm appointed bg the shareholders, in

accordance with Canadian generallg accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Compang

Accounting Oversight Board (United States).

Jim Balsillie

Co—CEO

Mike Lazaridis

President 82 Co—CEO

Waterloo, Ontario
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REPORT OF

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

To the Shareholders of Research In Motion Llmlted

We have audited Research In Motion Limited’s [the “Company”] internal control over financial reporting as of

February 27, 2010, based on criteria established in Internal Control — integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission [“the COSO criteria”]. The Company’s

management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance

about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our

audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a

material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control

based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the

circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external

purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over

financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that [1] pertain to the maintenance of records that,

in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the

company; [2] provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that

receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of

management and directors of the company; and [3] provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or

timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a
material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate.

in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial

reporting as of February 27, 2010, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board

(United States), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as at February 27, 2010 and February 28,

2009, and the consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years ended

February 27, 2010, February 28, 2009 and March 1, 2008 of the Company and our report dated April 1, 2010

expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

£1:-at ryaag: LL/’
Chartered Accountants

Licensed Public Accountants

Kitchener, Canada,

April 1, 2010.



- REPORT OF

INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders of Research In Motion Llmlted

We have audited the accompanging consolidated balance sheets of Research In Motion Limited [the

“Compang”] as at Februarg 27, 2010 and Februarg 28, 2009, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, shareholders’ equitg and cash flows for the years ended Februarg 27, 2010, Februarg 28, 2009 and
March 1, 2008. These financial statements are the responsibilitg of the Compang’s management. Our

responsibilitg is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generallg accepted auditing standards and the

standards of the Public Companu Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that

we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are
free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts

and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used

and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement

presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairlg, in all material respects,

the financial position of the Compang as at Februarg 27, 2010 and Februarg 28, 2009, and the results of its

operations and its cash flows for the years ended Februarg 27, 2010, February 28, 2009 and March 1, 2008, in

conformitg with United States generallg accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Compang Accounting Oversight Board

(United States), the Compang’s internal control over financial reporting as of February 27, 2010, based on

criteria established in internal Control-Integrated Framework issued bu the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadwag Commission and our report dated April 1, 2010 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

M fyouaj 41/
Chartered Accountants

Licensed Public Accountants

Kitchener, Canada,

April 1, 2010.
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RESEARCH IN MOTION LIMITED incorporated under the Laws of Ontario

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(United States dollars, in thousands)

 

 

 

 

As at

February 27, February 28,
2010 2009

Assets
Current

Cash and cash equivalents ................................................................................... .. $ 1,550,861 $ 835,546
Short-term investments . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 360,614 682,666
Accounts receivable, net ............................................................................... .. 2,593,742 2,112,117
Other receivables ............................................................................................... .. 206,373 157,728
inventories . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 621,611 682,400
Other current assets . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . .. 285,539 187,257
Deferred income tax asset .................................................................................... .. 193,916 183,872

5,812,656 4,841,586

Long-term investments ............................................................................................. .. 958,248 720,635
Property, plant and equipment, net .......................................................................... .. 1,956,581 1,334,648
Intangible assets, net ............................................................................................... .. 1,326,363 1,066,527
Goodwill ................................................................................................................... ., 150,561 137,572
Deferred income tax asset ........................................................................................ .. - 404

$ 10,204,409 $ 8,101,372 

 

 

Liabilities
Current

Accounts payable ................................................................................................. .. $ 615,620 $ 448,339
Accrued liabilities .................................................................................................. ., 1,638,260 1,238,602

Income taxes payable .......................................................................................... .. 95,650 361,460
Deferred revenue ........................................................... ..................................... .. 67,573 53,834
Deferred income tax liability ................................................................................. .. 14,674 13,116

2,431,777 2,115,351

Deferred Income tax liability .................................................................................... .. 141,382 87,917
Income taxes payable .............................................................................................. .. 28,587 23,976

2,601,746 2,227,244

Commitments and contingencies

Shareholders’ Equity
Capital stock

Preferred shares, authorized unlimited number of non-voting, cumulative,
redeemable and retractable. ............................................................................ ., - -

Common shares, authorized unlimited number of non-voting, redeemable, retractable
Class A common shares and unlimited number of voting common shares.

 

 

 

Issued -— 557,328,394 voting common shares (February 28, 2009 — 566,218,819) ....... .. 2,207,609 2,208,235
Treasury stock (note 11)
February 27, 2010 — 1,458,950 (February 28, 2009 — nil) ............................................ .. (94,463) -
Retained earnings ......................................................... .. 5,274,365 3,545,710
Additional paid-in capital ......................................................................................... .. 164,060 119,726
Accumulated other comprehensive Income ............................................................... .. 51,092 457

7,602,663 5,874,128

$ 10,204,409 $ 8,101,372 

See notes to consolidated financial statements

On behalf of the Board:

John Richardson Mike Lazaridis
Director Director



RESEARCH IN MOTION LIMITED

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equitg
(United States dollars, in thousands)

Accumulated
Additional Other

Capital Paid-In Treasurg Retained Comprehensive
Stock Capital Stock Earnings income (Loss) Total 

 

 

Balance as at March 3, 2007 ......................................... .. $2,099,696 $ 36,093 $ — $ 359,227 $ (11,516) $2,483,500
Comprehensive income (loss):

Net income ............................................................... .. - - - 1,293,867 - 1,293,867

Net change in unrealized gains on available—for—sale
investments ........................................................... .. - - - - 13,467 13,467

Net change in fair value of derivatives designated as
cash flow hedges during the gear .......................... .. - - - - 37,564 37,564

Amounts reclassified to earnings during the gear ....... .. - - - - (9,232) (9,232)
Other paid—in capital .................................................... .. - 9,626 — - - 9,626
Shares issued:

Exercise of stock options ........................................... .. 62,889 - — - - 62,889
Transfers to capital stock from stock option exercises. 7,271 (7,271) — — — —
Stock-based compensation ....................................... .. - 33,700 — — - 33,700
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation.... - 8,185 - - - 8,185

Balance as at March 1, 2008 ......................................... .. $ 2,169,856 3 80,333 $ - $1,653,094 $30,283 $ 3,933,566
Comprehensive income (loss):

Net income ............................................................... .. — — - 1,892,616 — 1,892,616

Net change in unrealized gains on available-for-sale
investments ........................................................... .. - - - - (7,161) (7,161)

Net change in fair value of derivatives designated as
cash flow hedges during the gear .......................... .. - - - - (6,168) (6,168)

Amounts reclassified to earnings during the gear ....... .. - - - — (16,497) (16,497)
Shares issued:

Exercise of stock options ........................................... .. 27,024 - - - - 27,024
Transfers to capital stock from stock option exercises. 11,355 (11,355) - — — —
Stock-based compensation ....................................... .. - 38,100 - - - 38,100
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation“. — 12,648 — - - 12,648

Balance as at Februarg 28, 2009 .................................. .. $ 2,208,235 $ 119,726 $ — $ 3,545,710 $ 457 $ 5,874,128
Comprehensive income:

Net income ............................................................... .. — - - 2,457,144 - 2,457,144

Net change in unrealized gains on available—for—sale
investments ........................................................... ., - - - - 6,803 6,803

Net change in fair value of derivatives designated as
cash flow hedges during the gear .......................... _. — - - — 28,324 28,324

Amounts reclassified to earnings during the gear ....... .. - - - - 15,508 15,508
Shares issued:

Exercise of stock options ........................................... .. 30,246 - - - - 30,246
Transfers to capital stock from stock option exercises. 15,647 (15,647) — — — -
Stock-based compensation ....................................... .. — 58,038 - - - 58,038
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation.... - 1,943 - — - 1,943
Purchase of treasurg stock ........................................ .. - - (94,463) — - (94,463)
Common shares repurchased .................................... .. (46,519) (728,489) (775,008)

Balance as at Februar 27, 2010 .................................... .. $ 2,207,609 $164,060 3 (94,463) $ 5,274,365 $51,092 $ 7,602,663    

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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RESEARCH IN MOTION LIMITED
 Consolidated Statements of Operations

(United States dollars, in thousands, except per share data)

 

 

 

 

For the Year Ended

:2 February 27, Februarg 28, March 1,
E 2010 2009 2008.LlJ

'3 Revenue
Devices and other ......................................................................... .. $ 12,535,998 $ 9,410,755 $ 4,914,366

Service and software .................................................................... .. 2,417,226 1,654,431 1,095,029

14,953,224 11,065,186 6,009,395
Cost of sales

Devices and other ......................................................................... .. 7,979,163 5,718,041 2,758,250

Service and software .................................................................... .. 389,795 249,847 170,564

8,368,958 5,967,888 2,928,814

Gross margin .................................................................................... .. 6,584,266 5,097,298 3,080,581

; Operating expenses
i 2 Research and development ........................................................... .. 964,841 684,702 359,828

v Selling, marketing and administration ........................................... .. 1,907,398 1,495,697 881,482

i‘ Amortization .................................................................................. .. 310,357 194,803 108,112

V Litigation ...................................................................................... .. 163,800 - -

3,346,396 2,375,202 1,349,422

f Income from operations ................................................................... ., 3,237,870 2,722,096 1,731,159
7 7 Investment income ........................................................................ .. 28,640 78,267 79,361

1* 2

Income before Income taxes ............................................................. .. 3,266,510 2,800,363 1,810,520

Provision for Income taxes ................................................................ .. 809,366 907,747 516,653

r Net Income ....................................................................................... .. $ 2,457,144 $ 1,892,616 $ 1,293,867
’. Earnings per share
, Basic ............................................................................................ .. $ 4.35 $ 3.35 $ 2.31

1 Diluted .......................................................................................... .. $ 4.31 $ 3.30 $ 2.26

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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RESEARCH IN MOTION LIMITED

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(United States dollars, in thousands)

For the Year Ended

 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

Februarg 27, Februarg 28, March 1,
2010 2009 2008

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income ........................................................................................... .. $ 2,457,144 $ 1,892,616 $ 1,293,867

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided bu operating
activities:

Amortization ...................................................................................... .. 615,621 327,896 177,366

Deferred income taxes ....................................................................... .. 51,363 (36,623) (67,244)

income taxes pagable ....................................................................... .. 4,611 (6,897) 4,973

Stock-based compensation ............................................................... .. 58,038 38,100 33,700
Other ................................................................................................. .. 8,806 5,867 3,303

Net changes in working capital items .................................................... .. (160,709) (769,114) 130,794

Net cash provided by operating activities ........................................... .. 3,034,874 1,451,845 1,576,759

Cash flows from Investing activities

Acquisition of long-term investments ..................................................... .. (862,977) (507,082) (757,656)

Proceeds on sale or maturitu of long-term investments ......................... .. 473,476 431,713 260,393

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment ........................................ .. (1,009,416) (833,521) (351,914)

Acquisition of intangible assets ............................................................. .. (421,400) (687,913) (374,128)
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired ........................................... .. (143,375) (48,425) (6,200)

Acquisition of short-term investments .................................................... .. (476,956) (917,316) (1,249,919)

Proceeds on sale or maturitg of short-term investments ........................ .. 970,521 739,021 1,325,487

Net cash used in investing activities ..................................................... .. (1,470,127) (1,823,523) (1,153,937)

Cash flows from financing activities
Issuance of common shares ................................................................. .. 30,246 27,024 62,889

Additional paid-in capital ............................................................. .. — - 9,626
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation ................. .. 1,943 12,648 8,185

Purchase of treasurg stock (note 11) . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. (94,463) — -
Common shares repurchased . . . . . . . . . . , . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . , .. (775,008) - -

Repayment of debt . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. (6,099) (14,305) (302)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities. (843,381) 25,367 80,398

Effect of foreign exchange gain (loss) on cash and cash equivalents (6,051) (2,541) 4,034

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents for the gear ...... .. 715,315 (348,852) 507,254

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of gear ..................................... .. 835,546 1,184,398 677,144

Cash and cash e uivaients, end of ear .............................................. .. $ 1,550,861 $ 835,546 $ 1,184,398     

See notes to consolidated financial statements

CASHFLOWS 



 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 

RESEARCH IN MOTION LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
in thousands of United States dollars, except share and per share data, and except as otherwise indicated

1. RESEARCH IN MOTION LIMITED AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Research In Motion Limited (“R|M” or the “Compang”) is a leading designer, manufacturer and marketer of innovative
wireless solutions for the worldwide mobile communications market. Through the development of integrated hardware,

software and services that support multiple wireless network standards, RIM provides platforms and solutions for seamless
access to time-sensitive information including email, phone, short messaging service (SMS), Internet and intranet-based

applications. RIM technologg also enables a broad arrag of third partg developers and manufacturers to enhance their
products and services with wireless connectivitg to data. R|M’s portfolio of award-winning products, services and

embedded technologies are used bg thousands of organizations and millions of consumers around the world and include

the BlackBerrg wireless solution, and other software and hardware. The Compang’s sales and marketing efforts include
collaboration with strategic partners and distribution channels, as well as its own supporting sales and marketing teams,

to promote the sale of its products and services. The Compang was incorporated _on March 7, 1984 under the Ontario

Business Corporations Act. The Compang's shares are traded on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the sgmbol “RIM” and
on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the sgmbol "RiMM".

Basis of presentation and preparation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all subsidiaries of the Compang with intercompang

transactions and balances eliminated on consolidation. All of the Compang’s subsidiaries are whollg-owned. These

consolidated financial statements have been prepared bg management in accordance with United States generallg

accepted accounting principles (“US GAAP”) on a basis consistent for all periods presented except as described in note 2.
Certain of the comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current gear presentation.

The Compang’s fiscal gear end date is the S2 or 53 weeks ending on the last Saturdag of Februarg, or the first Saturdag of
March. The fiscal gears ended Februarg 27, 2010, Februarg 28, 2009, and March I, 2008 comprise 52 weeks.

The significant accounting policies used in these U.S. GAAP consolidated financial statements are as follows:

Use of estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions with
respect to the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and

liabilities. Significant areas requiring the use of management estimates relate to the determination of reserves for various

litigation claims, provisions for excess and obsolete inventories and liabilities for purchase commitments with contract
manufacturers and suppliers, fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations, rogalties,

amortization expense, implied fair value of goodwill, provision for income taxes, realization of deferred income tax assets
and the related components of the valuation allowance, provisions for warrantg and the fair values of financial
instruments. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Foreign currency translation
The U.S. dollar is the functional and reporting currencg of the Compang. Foreign currencg denominated assets and

liabilities of the Compang and all of its subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars. Accordinglg, monetarg assets and
liabilities are translated using the exchange rates in effect at the consolidated balance sheet date and revenues and

expenses at the rates of exchange prevailing when the transactions occurred. Remeasurement adjustments are included in
income. Non—monetarg assets and liabilities are translated at historical exchange rates.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of balances with banks and liquid investments with maturities of three months or less
at the date of acquisition.

Accounts receivable, net
The accounts receivable balance which reflects invoiced and accrued revenue is presented net of an allowance for

doubtful accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts reflects estimates of probable losses in accounts receivables. The

Compang is dependent on a number of significant customers and on large complex contracts with respect to sales of the

majoritg of its products, software and services. The Compang expects the majoritg of its accounts receivable balances to
continue to come from large customers as it sells the majoritg of its devices and software products and service relag
access through network carriers and resellers rather than directlg.



The Company evaluates the collectability of its accounts receivables based upon a combination of factors on a periodic

basis such as specific credit risk of its customers, historical trends and economic circumstances. The Company, in the
normal course of business, monitors the financial condition of its customers and reviews the credit history of each new

customer. When the Company becomes aware of a specific customer’s inability to meet its financial obligations to the

Company (such as in the case of bankruptcy filings or material deterioration in the customer’s operating results or

financial position, and payment experiences), RIM records a specific bad debt provision to reduce the customer’s related
accounts receivable to its estimated net realizable value. if circumstances related to specific customers change, the

Company’s estimates of the recoverability of accounts receivables balances could be further adjusted. The allowance for

doubtful accounts as at February 27, 2010 is $2.0 million (February 28, 2009- $2.1 million).

While the Company sells its products and services to a variety of customers, three customers comprised 20%, 13% and 10%

of the Company's revenue (February 28, 2009 — three customers comprised 23%, 14% and 10%; March 1, 2008 — three
customers comprised 21%, 15% and 12%).

Investments

The Company’s investments, other than cost method investments of $2.5 million and equity method investments of
$4.1 million, consist of money market and other debt securities, and are classified as available-for-sale for accounting

purposes. The Company does not exercise significant influence with respect to any of these investments.

Investments with maturities one year or less, as well as any investments that management intends to hold for less than

one year, are classified as short-term investments. Investments with maturities in excess of one year are classified as long-
term investments.

The Company determines the appropriate classification of investments at the time of purchase and subsequently
reassesses the classification of such investments at each balance sheet date. Investments classified as available-for-sale

are carried at fair value with unrealized gains and losses recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) until
such investments mature or are sold. The Company uses the specific identification method of determining the cost basis in

computing realized gains or losses on available-for-sale investments which are recorded in investment income.

The Company assesses individual investments in an unrealized loss position to determine whether the unrealized loss is

other-than-temporary. The Company makes this assessment by considering available evidence, including changes in

general market conditions, specific industry and individual company data, the length of time and the extent to which the
fair value has been less than cost, the financial condition, the near-term prospects of the individual investment and the

Company's intent and ability to hold the investments. In the event that a decline in the fair value of an investment occurs
and the decline in value is considered to be other-than—temporary, an impairment charge is recorded in investment income

equal to the difference between the cost basis and the fair value of the individual investment at the balance sheet date of

the reporting period for which the assessment was made. The fair value of the investment then becomes the new cost
basis of the investment.

Effective in the second quarter of fiscal 2010, if a debt security’s market value is below its amortized cost and the

Company either intends to sell the security or it is more likely than not that the Company will be required to sell the

security before its anticipated recovery, the Company records an other-than-temporary impairment charge to investment

income for the entire amount of the impairment. For other-than-temporary impairments on debt securities that the

Company does not intend to sell and it is not more likely than not that the entity will be required to sell the security before

its anticipated recovery, the Company would separate the other-than-temporary impairment into the amount representing
the credit loss and the amount related to all other factors. The Company would record the other-than-temporary

impairment related to the credit loss as a charge to investment income and the remaining other-than-temporary

impairment would be recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income.

Derivative financial Instruments

The Company uses derivative financial instruments, including forward contracts and options, to hedge certain foreign

currency exposures. The Company does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.  



 
RESEARCH IN MOTION LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
In thousands of United States dollars, except share and per share data. and except as otherwise indicated

The Company records all derivative instruments at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets. The fair value of these
instruments is calculated based on quoted currency spot rates and interest rates. The accounting for changes in the fair

value of a derivative depends on the intended use of the derivative instrument and the resulting designation.

For derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the derivative's gain or loss is initially

reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax, and subsequently reclassified into
income in the some period or periods in which the hedged item affects income. The ineffective portion of the derivative’s

gain or loss is recognized in current income. in order for the Company to receive hedge accounting treatment, the cash
flow hedge must be highly effective in offsetting changes in the fair value of the hedged item and the relationship between

the hedging instrument and the associated hedged item must be formally documented at the inception of the hedge
relationship. Hedge effectiveness is formally assessed, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, to determine
whether the derivatives used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in the value of the hedged
items.

The Company formally documents relationships between hedging instruments and associated hedged items. This
documentation includes: identification of the specific foreign currency asset, liability or forecasted transaction being

hedged; the nature of the risk being hedged; the hedge objective; and the method of assessing hedge effectiveness. if an

anticipated transaction is deemed no longer likely to occur, the corresponding derivative instrument is de-designated as a

hedge and any associated deferred gains and losses in accumulated other comprehensive income are recognized in
income at that time. Any future changes in the fair value of the instrument are recognized in current income. The Company

did not reclassify any significant gains (losses) from accumulated other comprehensive income into income as a result of

the de-designation of any derivative instrument as a hedge during fiscal 2010.

For any derivative instruments that do not meet the requirements for hedge accounting, or for any derivative instrument for
which hedge accounting is not elected, the changes in fair value of the instruments are recognized in income in the current

period and will generally offset the changes in the US. dollar value of the associated asset, liability, or forecasted
transaction.

Inventories

Raw materials are stated at the lower of cost and replacement cost. Work in process and finished goods inventories are
stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost includes the cost of materials plus direct labour applied to the

product and the applicable share of manufacturing overhead. Cost is determined on a first-in-first-out basis.

Property, plant and equipment, net

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated amortization. No amortization is provided for

construction in progress until the assets are ready for use. Amortization is provided using the following rates and methods:

Buildings, leaseholds and other

BlackBerry operations and other information technology

Manufacturing equipment, research and development
equipment and tooling

Furniture and fixtures

Straight-line over terms between 5 and 40 years
Straight-line over terms between 3 and 5 years

Straight-line over terms between 2 and 8 years

Declining balance at 20% per annum

Intangible assets, net

Intangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and are comprised of acquired technology, licenses,

and patents. Acquired technology consists of purchased developed technology arising from the Company’s business

acquisitions. Licenses include licenses or agreements that the Company has negotiated with third parties upon use of third
parties’ technology. Patents comprise trademarks, internally developed patents, as well as individual patents or portfolios

of patents acquired from third parties. Costs capitalized and subsequently amortized include all costs necessary to

acquire intellectual property, such as patents and trademarks, as well as legal defense costs arising out of the assertion of
any Company-owned patents.



Intangible assets are amortized as follows:

Acquired technologg Straight-line over 2 to 5 gears
Licenses Straight—line over terms of the license agreements or on a

per unit basis based upon the anticipated number of units

sold during the terms, subject to a maximum of 5 gears

Patents Straight-line over 17 gears or over estimated useful life

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of business acquisitions over the fair value of identifiable net assets

acquired. Goodwill is allocated as at the date of the business combination. Goodwill is not amortized, but is tested for

impairment annuallg, or more frequentlg if events or changes in circumstances indicate the asset mag be impaired.

The Compang is organized and managed as a single reportable business segment ("reporting unit’). The impairment test

is carried out in two steps. in the first step, the carrging amount of the reporting unit including goodwill is compared with

its fair value. When the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrging amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is
considered not to be impaired, and the second step is unnecessarg.

In the event that the fair value of the reporting unit, including goodwill, is less than the carrging value, the implied fair value

of the reporting unit’s goodwill is compared with its carrging amount to measure the amount of the impairment loss, if ang.

The implied fair value of goodwill is determined in the same manner as the value of goodwill is determined in a business

combination using the fair value of the reporting unit as if it were the purchase price. when the carrging amount of the

reporting unit goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of the goodwill, an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal
to the excess and is presented as a separate line item- in the consolidated statements of operations.

Impairment of long—lived assets

The Compang reviews long—lived assets such as propertg, plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite useful
lives for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrging amount mag not be

recoverable. If the total of the expected undiscounted future cash flows is less than the carrging amount of the asset, a

loss is recognized for the excess of the carrging amount over the fair value of the asset.

Income taxes

The Compang uses the liabilitg method of tax allocation to account for income taxes. Deferred income tax assets and

liabilities are recognized based upon temporarg differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and

liabilities, and measured using enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to

reverse. The Compang records a valuation allowance to reduce deferred income tax assets to the amount that is more

likelg than not to be realized. The Compang considers both positive evidence and negative evidence, to determine whether,

based upon the weight of that evidence, a valuation allowance is required. Judgment is required in considering the relative

impact of negative and positive evidence.

Significant judgment is required in evaluating the Compang's uncertain tax positions and provisions for income taxes.
Liabilities for uncertain tax positions are recognized based on a two-step approach. The first step is to evaluate whether a

tax position has met the recognition threshold bg determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more

likelg than not to be sustained upon examination. The second step is to measure the tax position that has met the
recognition threshold as the largest amount that is more than 50% likelg of being realized upon settlement. The Compang

continuallg assesses the likelihood and amount of potential adjustments and adjusts the income tax provisions, income tax

pagable and deferred taxes in the period in which the facts that give rise to a revision become known. The Compang

recognizes interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as interest expense that is netted and reported within
investment income.

The Compang uses the flow-through method to account for investment tax credits (“ITCs”) earned on eligible scientific

research and experimental development expenditures. Under this method, the |TCs are recognized as a reduction to
income tax expense.
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RESEARCH IN MOTION LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
In thousands of United States dollars, except share and per share data, and except as otherwise indicated

Revenue recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when it is realized or realizable and earned. The Company considers revenue realized or
realizable and earned when it has persuasive evidence of an arrangement, the product has been delivered or the services

have been provided to the customer, the sales price is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. In

addition to this general policy, the following paragraphs describe the specific revenue recognition policies for each major
category of revenue.

Devices

Revenue from the sales of BlackBerry devices is recognized when title is transferred to the customer and all significant

contractual obligations that affect the customer’s final acceptance have been fulfilled. For hardware products for which
software is deemed not to be incidental, the Company recognizes revenue in accordance with industry specific software

revenue recognition guidance. The Company records reductions to revenue for estimated commitments related to price

protection and for customer incentive programs, including reseller and end-user rebates. The estimated cost of the

incentive programs are accrued based on historical experience, as a reduction to revenue in the period the Company has

sold the product and committed to a plan. Price protection is accrued as a reduction to revenue based on estimates of

future price reductions and certain agreed customer inventories at the date of the price adjustment. In addition, provisions
are made at the time of sale for warranties and royalties. For further discussion on warranties see note 13.

Service

Revenue from service is recognized rateably on a monthly basis when the service is provided. In instances where the

Company bills the customer prior to performing the service, the prebilling is recorded as deferred revenue.

Software
Revenue from licensed software is recognized at the inception of the license term and in accordance with industry specific

software revenue recognition guidance. when the fair value of a delivered element has not been established, the Company

uses the residual method to recognize revenue if the fair value of undelivered elements is determinable. Revenue from

software maintenance, unspecified upgrades and technical support contracts is recognized over the period that such items
are delivered or that services are provided.

Other

Revenue from the sale of accessories is recognized when title is transferred to the customer and all significant contractual

obligations that affect the customer’s final acceptance have been fulfilled. Technical support ("T-Support’) contracts

extending beyond the current period are recorded as deferred revenue. Revenue from repair and maintenance programs

is recognized when the service is delivered which is when the title is transferred to the customer and all significant
contractual obligations that affect the customer’s final acceptance have been fulfilled. Revenue for non-recurring

engineering contracts is recognized as specific contract milestones are met. The attainment of milestones approximates

actual performance.

Shipping and handling costs

Shipping and handling costs charged to income are included in cost of sales where they can be reasonably attributed to

certain revenue; otherwise they are included in selling, marketing and administration.

Multiple-element arrangements

The Company enters into transactions that represent multiple-element arrangements which may include any combination
of hardware and/or service or software and T-Support. These multiple-element arrangements are assessed to determine

whether they can be separated into more than one unit of accounting or element for the purpose of revenue recognition.

When the appropriate criteria for separating revenue into more than one unit of accounting is met and there is vendor
specific objective evidence of fair value for all units of accounting or elements in an arrangement, the arrangement

consideration is allocated to the separate units of accounting or elements based on each unit's relative fair value. when
the fair value of a delivered element has not been established, the Company uses the residual method to recognize

revenue if the fair value of undelivered elements is determinable. This vendor specific objective evidence of fair value is

established through prices charged for each revenue element when that element is sold separately. The revenue

recognition policies described above are then applied to each unit of accounting.



Research and development

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development costs for BlackBerry devices and licensed software to be sold,

leased or otherwise marketed are subject to capitalization beginning when a product’s technological feasibility has been

established and ending when a product is available for general release to customers. The Company’s products are

generally released soon after technological feasibility has been established and therefore costs incurred subsequent to
achievement of technological feasibility are not significant and have been expensed as incurred.

Comprehensive Income (loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change in net assets of a business enterprise during a period from
transactions and other events and circumstances from non-owner sources and includes all changes in equity during a

period except those resulting from investments by owners and distributions to owners. The Company's reportable items of

comprehensive income are cash flow hedges as described in note 17 and changes in the fair value of available-for-sale
investments as described in note 5. Realized gains or losses on available-for-sale investments are reclassified into

investment income using the specific identification basis.

Earnings per share
Earnings per share is calculated based on the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the year. The

treasury stock method is used for the calculation of the dilutive effect of stock options.

Stock-based compensation plans

The Company has stock-based compensation plans, which are described in note 1i(b).

The Company has an incentive stock option plan for officers and employees of the Company or its subsidiaries. Under the

terms of the plan, as revised in fiscal 2008, no stock options may be granted to independent directors. Prior to fiscal 2007,

the Company accounted for stock-based compensation expense based on the grant-date fair value as determined under

the intrinsic value method. Beginning in fiscal 2007, the Company adopted the modified prospective transition (‘MPT’)

method to record stock-based compensation expense. Stock-based compensation expense calculated using the MPT

approach is recognized on a prospective basis in the financial statements for all new and unvested stock options that are

ultimately expected to vest as the requisite service is rendered beginning in the Company’s fiscal 2007 year. The Company
measures stock-based compensation expense at the grant date based on the award’s fair value as calculated by the

Black-Scholes-Merton (‘BSM’) option—pricing model and is recognized rateably over the vesting period. The BSM model

requires various judgmental assumptions including volatility and expected option life. In addition, judgment is also applied

in estimating the amount of stock-based awards that are expected to be forfeited, and if actual results differ significantly
from these estimates, stock-based compensation expense and our results of operations would be impacted.

Any consideration paid by employees on exercise of stock options plus any recorded stock-based compensation within
additional paid-in capital related to that stock option is credited to capital stock.

The Company has a Restricted Share Unit Plan (the “RSU Plan’) under which eligible participants include any officer or

employee of the Company or its subsidiaries. At the Company's discretion, Restricted Share Units ('RSUs") are redeemed
for either common shares issued by the Company, common shares purchased on the open market by a trustee selected

by the Company or the cash equivalent on the vesting dates established by the Board of Directors or the Compensation,
Nomination and Governance Committee of the Board of Directors. The RSUs vest over a three-year period, either on the

third anniversary date or in equal instalments on each anniversary date over the vesting period. The Company classifies

RSUs as equity instruments as the Company has the ability and intent to settle the awards in shares. The compensation
expense is calculated based on the fair value of each RSU as determined by the closing value of the Company’s common

shares on the business day of the grant date. The Company recognizes compensation expense over the vesting period of
the RSU.

Upon issuance of the RSU, common shares for which RSUs may be exchanged will be purchased on the open market by a

trustee selected and funded by the Company. The trustee has been appointed to settle the Company's obligation to
deliver shares to individuals upon vesting. In addition, upon vesting, the trustee is required to sell enough shares to cover

the individual recipient’s minimum statutory withholding tax requirement, with the remaining shares delivered to the

individual. As the Company is considered to be the primary beneficiary of the trust, the trust is considered a variable
interest entity and is consolidated by the Company.
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RESEARCH IN MOTION LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
In thousands of United States dollars, except share and per share data, and except as otherwise indicated

The Company has a Deferred Share Unit Plan (the "DSU Plan”) adopted by the Board of Directors on December 20, 2007,

under which each independent director will be credited with Deferred Share Units (”DSUs”) in satisfaction of all or a portion

of the cash fees otherwise payable to them for serving as a director of the Company. Grants under the DSU plan replace

the stock option awards that were historically granted to independent members of the Board of Directors. At a minimum,

50% of each independent director’s annual retainer will be satisfied in the form of DSUs. The director can elect to receive

the remaining 50% in any combination of cash and DSUs. Within a specified period after such a director ceases to be a
director, DSUs will be redeemed for cash with the redemption value of each DSU equal to the weighted average trading

price of the Company’s shares over the five trading days preceding the redemption date. Alternatively, subject to receipt

of shareholder approval, the Company may elect to redeem DSUs by way of shares purchased on the open market or

issued by the Company. DSUs are accounted for as liability-classified awards and are awarded on a quarterly basis.
These awards are measured at their fair value on the date of issuance, and remeasured at each reporting period, until
settlement.

Warranty

The Company provides for the estimated costs of product warranties at the time revenue is recognized. BlackBerry devices

are generally covered by a time-limited warranty for varying periods of time. The Company's warranty obligation is

affected by product failure rates, differences in warranty periods, regulatory developments with respect to warranty

obligations in the countries in which the Company carries on business, freight expense, and material usage and other
related repair costs.

The Company's estimates of costs are based upon historical experience and expectations of future return rates and unit

warranty repair cost. If the Company experiences increased or decreased warranty activity, or increased or decreased
costs associated with servicing those obligations, revisions to the estimated warranty liability would be recognized in the

reporting period when such revisions are made.

Advertlslng costs
The Company expenses all advertising costs as incurred. These costs are included in selling, marketing and
administration.

2. ADOPTION OF ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In February 2010, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued authoritative guidance updating previously
issued guidance on accounting for subsequent events. The guidance amends previous literature to remove the requirement

for a Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) filer to disclose the date through which subsequent events have been
evaluated and reaffirms that an SEC filer is required to evaluate subsequent events through the date the financial

statements are issued. The Company adopted this authoritative guidance in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010 and the

adoption did not have a material impact on the results of operations and financial condition.

In August 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on measuring the fair value of liabilities. The guidance amends

previous literature and clarifies that in circumstances in which a quoted market price in an active market for an identical

liability is not available, an entity is required to use a valuation technique that uses quoted market price of the identical

liability when traded as an asset, the quoted market price of a similar liability or the quoted market price of a similar

liability when traded as an asset to measure fair value. If these quoted prices are not available, an entity is required to use

a valuation technique that is in accordance with existing fair value principles, such as the income or market approach. The

Company adopted this authoritative guidance in the third quarter of fiscal 2010 and the adoption did not have a material
impact on the Company's results of operations and financial condition.

In June 2009, the FASB issued the FASB Accounting Standards Codification (“the Codification”). The Codification became the
source of authoritative U.S. GAAP recognized by the FASB to be applied to nongovernmental entities. The Codification did

not change U.S. GAAP but reorganizes literature into a single source. The Codification is effective for interim periods ending
after September 15, 2009. The Company adopted the Codification and has updated its disclosure and references to US.
GAAP as required by the standard in the third quarter of fiscal 2010.

In May 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on accounting for subsequent events that was previously only

addressed in auditing literature. The guidance is largely similar to current guidance in the auditing literature with some

minor exceptions that are not intended to result in significant changes in practice. The Company adopted the authoritative



guidance and disclosure requirements in the second quarter of fiscal 2010 and the adoption did not have a material
impact on the Company’s results of operations and financial condition.

In April 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance an interim disclosures about fair value of financial instruments. The

guidance expands the fair value disclosure of financial instruments to interim periods, In addition, it requires disclosures of

the methods and significant assumptions used to estimate the fair value of financial instruments. The Company adopted
the authoritative guidance and disclosure requirements in the second quarter of fiscal 2010 and the adoption did not have

a material impact on the Company’s results of operations and financial condition.

In April 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on recognition and presentation of other-than-temporary

impairments. The guidance applies to investments in which other-than-temporary impairments may be recorded and

establishes a new model for measuring other—than—temporary impairments for debt securities. In addition, it requires

additional disclosures related to debt and equity securities. The Company adopted the authoritative guidance in the

second quarter of fiscal 2010 and the adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations
and financial condition.

In April 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on determining fair value when the volume and level of activity for the

asset or liability have significantly decreased and identifying transactions that are not orderly. The Company adopted the

authoritative guidance in the second quarter of fiscal 2010 and the adoption did not have a material impact on the

Company’s results of operations and financial condition.

In September 2006, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on fair value measurements which became effective for fiscal

gears beginning after November 15, 2007. However, in February 2008, the FASB issued further guidance which delayed the

effective date relating to fair value measurements for non-financial assets and liabilities that are not measured at fair
value on a recurring basis to November 15, 2008. The Company partially adopted the authoritative guidance on fair value

measurements in the first quarter of fiscal 2009. The Company adopted the remaining portion of the authoritative

guidance on fair value measurements relating to non—financial assets and liabilities that are not measured at fair value on

a recurring basis in the first quarter of fiscal 2010. The adoption did not have a material impact on the Company’s results

of operations and financial condition.

In December 2007, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on business combinations. The guidance is broader in scope

than previous guidance which applied only to business combinations in which control was obtained by transferring

consideration. The issued guidance applies to all transactions and other events in which one entity obtains control over

one or more other businesses. In April 2009, the FASB released further guidance with respect to business combinations

specifically accounting for assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination that arise from

contingencies, which amends and clarifies the initial recognition and measurement, subsequent measurement and

accounting, and related disclosures of assets and liabilities arising from contingencies in a business combination. This

guidance is effective for assets and liabilities arising from contingencies in business combinations for which the acquisition

date is on or after December 15, 2008. As discussed in note 9, the Company adopted the authoritative guidance on
business combinations as amended, in the first quarter of fiscal 2010 and the adoption did not have a material impact on

the Company's results of operations and financial condition. In December 2007, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on

noncontrolling interests in consolidated financial statements. The guidance requires that the noncontrolling interest in the

equity of a subsidiary be accounted for and reported as equity, provides revised guidance on the treatment of net income

and losses attributable to the noncontrolling interest and changes in ownership interests in a subsidiary and requires

additional disclosures that identify and distinguish between the interests of the controlling and noncontrolling owners. The
Company adopted the guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 2010 and the adoption did not have a material impact on the

Company’s results of operations and financial condition.

3. RECENTLY ISSUED PRONOUNCEMENTS

In January 2010, the FASB issued authoritative guidance to improve disclosures about fair value measurements. The

guidance amends previous literature to require an entity to provide a number of additional disclosures regarding fair
value measurements including significant transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 on a gross basis and the reasons for such

transfers, transfers in and out of Level 3 on a gross basis and the reasons for such transfers, the entity’s policy for
recognizing transfers between Levels and to disclose information regarding purchases, sales, issuances and settlements on

a gross basis in the Level 3 reconciliation of recurring fair value measurements. The guidance also further clarifies existing
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
In thousands of United States dollars, except share and per share data, and except as otherwise indicated

guidance on disclosure requirements around disaggregation and valuation techniques for both recurring and non-
recurring fair value measurements in either Level 2 or Level 3. The new authoritative guidance is effective for interim and
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2009, except for the requirement to separately disclose purchases, sales,
issuances and settlements in the Level 3 reconciliation which is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after

December 15, 2010. The Company will adopt the guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 2011 and the first quarter of fiscal

2012, respectively. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of this guidance will have on its
financial statement disclosures.

In October 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on revenue recognition for arrangements with multiple

deliverables. The guidance amends previous literature to require an entity to use an estimated selling price when vendor

specific objective evidence or acceptable third party evidence does not exist for any products or services included in a

multiple element arrangement. The arrangement consideration should be allocated among the products and services

based upon their relative selling prices, thus eliminating the use of the residual method of allocation. The guidance also

requires expanded qualitative and quantitative disclosures regarding significant judgements made and changes in

applying the guidance. The new authoritative guidance is effective for revenue arrangements entered into or materially

modified in fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2010 with early application permitted. The Company plans to adopt the

guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 2011 and the Company does not expect the adoption will have a material impact on
the Company's results of operations and financial condition.

In October 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance on certain revenue arrangements that include software elements.

The guidance amends previous literature to exclude tangible products containing software components and non-software

components that function together to deliver the product's essential functionality from applying software revenue

recognition guidance to those products. The new authoritative guidance is effective for revenue arrangements entered into
or materially modified in fiscal years on or after June 15, 2010 with early application permitted. The Company plans to

adopt the guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 2011 and the Company does not expect the adoption will have a material
impact on the Company’s results of operations and financial condition.

In June 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance to amend the manner in which an enterprise performs an analysis to

determine whether the enterprise’s variable interest gives it a controlling interest in the variable interest entity (“VIE”). The

guidance uses a qualitative risks and rewards approach by focusing on which enterprise has the power to direct the
activities of the VIE, the obligation to absorb the entity’s losses and rights to receive benefits from the entity. The guidance

also requires enhanced disclosures related to the VIE. The new authoritative guidance is effective for annual periods

beginning after November 15, 2009. The Company will adopt the guidance in the first quarter of fiscal 2011 and the

Company does not expect the adoption will have a material impact on the Company’s results of operations and financial
condition.

In June 2009, the FASB issued authoritative guidance amending the accounting for transfers of financial assets. The

guidance, among other things, eliminates the exceptions for qualifying special-purpose entities from the consolidation

guidance, clarifies the requirements for transferred financial assets that are eligible for sale accounting and requires
enhanced disclosures about a transferor’s continuing involvement with transferred financial assets. This new authoritative

guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after November 15, 2009. The Company will adopt the guidance in the

first quarter of fiscal 2011 and the Company does not expect the adoption will have a material impact on the Company’s

results of operations and financial condition.

In November 2008, the SEC announced a proposed roadmap for comment regarding the potential use by U.S. issuers of

financial statements prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“|FRS'). IFRS is a

comprehensive series of accounting standards published by the International Accounting Standards Board. On
February 24, 2010, the SEC issued a statement describing its position regarding global accounting standards. Among other

things, the SEC stated that it has directed its staff to execute a work plan which will include consideration of IFRS as it
exists today and after completion of various “convergence” projects currently underway between US. and international
accounting standards setters. By 2011, assuming completion of certain projects and the SEC staff’s work plan, the SEC will

decide whether to incorporate IFRS into the U.S. financial reporting system. The Company is currently assessing the impact

that this proposed change would have on the consolidated financial statements, accompanying notes and disclosures,

and will continue to monitor the development of the potential implementation of IFRS.



4. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS

The components of cash, cash equivalents and investments were as follows:

Unrealized Unrealized Recorded Cash and Cash Short-term Long-term

 

 

Cost Basis Gains Losses Basis Equivalents investments Investments

As at Februarg 27, 2010
Bank balances ................................................. .. $ 535,445 $ - $ - $ 535,445 3 535,445 $ - $ -

Moneg market fund ......................................... .. 3,278 - — 3,278 3.278 - —

Bankers acceptances and term
depos its/certificates ...................................... .. 377,596 — — 377,596 377,596 - —

Commercial paper and corporate notes/bonds 855,145 6,528 (49) 861,624 472,312 187,369 201,943

Treasurg bills/notes .......................................... .. 203,514 129 (12) 203,631 92,272 50,786 60,573

Government sponsored enterprise notes ............ .. 447,131 2,590 (13) 449,708 69,958 111,977 267,773
Asset-backed securities 393,751 5,280 (50) 398,981 — 10,482 388,499

Auction-rate securities ...................................... .. 40,527 — (7,688) 32,839 - - 32,839
Other investments ............................................ .. 6,621 - — 6,621 - - 6,621

$ 2,863,008 314,527 $ (7,812) 3 2,869,723 3 1,550,861 $ 360,614 $ 958,248

As at Februaru 28, 2009
Bank balances ................................................. .. $ 477,855 $ - $ - $ 477,855 $ 477,855 $ — $ —

Money market fund 5,000 - - 5,000 5,000 - -

Bankers acceptances and term

deposits/certificates ...................................... .. 14,963 8 - 14,971 - 14,971 —

Commercial paper and corporate notes/bonds 404,623 3,608 (443) 407,788 124,720 145,605 137,463

Treasurg bills/notes .......................................... .. 245,050 717 (153) 245,614 19,398 205,633 20,583

Government sponsored enterprise notes ............ .. 666,627 2,922 (178) 669,371 208,573 316,457 144,341

Asset-backed securities .................................... .. 379,091 2,658 (1,540) 380,209 - — 380,209
Auction-rate securities ...................................... .. 40,529 — (7,687) 32,842 — — 32,842
Other investments ............................................ .. 5,197 - - 5,197 — — 5,197

3 2,238,935 $ 9,913 $(10,001) $2,238,847 $ 835,546 $682,666 $720,635 

Realized gains and losses on available—far—sale securities comprise the following:

For the gear ended

Februaru 27, February 28, March 1,

 

2010 2009 2008

Realized gains ....................................................................................................... .. $ 439 $ 158 $ 10

Realized losses ....................................... .. (17) (1,801) (410)

Net realized gains (losses) ..................................................................................... .. $ 422 $ (1,643) $ (400) 

The contractual maturities of available-for-sale investments at Februarg 27, 2010 were as follows:
Cost Basis Fair Value

Due in one gear or less ............................................................................................................ .. $ 1,371,047 $ 1,372.752

Due in one to five gears ........................................................................................................... .. 773,471 783,451

Due after five gears ................................................................................................................. .. 173,146 168,176

No fixed maturitg date ............................................................................................................. .. 3,278 3,278 

$ 2,320,942 $ 2,327,657 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
in thousands of United States dollars, except share and per share data, and except as otherwise indicated

Investments with continuous unrealized losses for less than 12 months and greater than 12 months and their related fair
values were as follows:

 

Less than 12 months 12 months or greater Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized

Fair Value losses Fair Value losses Fair Value losses

As at February 27, 2010

Commercial paper and corporate notes/bonds ....... .. $ 93,129 $ 49 $ - $ — $ 93,129 $ 49

Treasury bills/notes ................................................. .. 91,109 12 - — 91,109 12

Government sponsored enterprise notes .................. .. 57,537 13 - - 57,537 13
Asset—backed securities ...................... .. . 18,820 50 - — 18,820 50

Auction-rate securities .............................................. .. — - 32,839 7,688 32,839 7,688

$ 260,595 $ 124 $ 32,839 $ 7,688 $ 293,434 $ 7,812 

Less than 12 months 12 months or greater Total
Unrealized Unrealized Unrealized

Fair Value losses Fair Value losses Fair Value losses

As at February 28, 2009

Commercial paper and corporate notes/bonds ....... .. $ 81,077 $ 391 3 19,997 $ 52 $ 101,074 $ 443

Treasury bills/notes ................................................. .. 130,713 153 - - 130,713 153
Government sponsored enterprise notes .................. .. 231,955 178 — - 231,955 178

Asset—backed securities ........................................... .. 125,019 1,540 - — 125,019 1,540

Auction-rate securities .............................................. .. - - 32,842 7,687 32,842 7,687

$ 568,764 $ 2,262 $ 52,839 $ 7,739 $ 621,603 $10,001 

Unrealized losses of $7.7 million primarily relate to auction—rate securities. Auction rate securities are debt instruments with

long-term nominal maturity dates for which the interest rates are reset through a dutch auction process, typically every 7,
28 or 35 days. Interest is paid at the end of each auction period, and the auction normally serves as the mechanism for

securities holders to sell their existing positions to interested buyers. As at February 27, 2010, the Company held

$40.5 million in face value of investment grade auction rate securities which are experiencing failed auctions as a result of

more sell orders than buy orders, and these auctions have not yet returned to normal operations. The interest rate for

these securities has been set at the maximum rate specified in the program documents and interest continues to be paid
every 28 days as scheduled. The Company has adjusted the reported value to reflect an unrealized loss of $7.7 million in

fiscal 2009, which the Company considers temporary and is reflected in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

In valuing these securities, the Company used a multi-year investment horizon and considered the underlying risk of the
securities and the current market interest rate environment. The Company has the ability and intent to hold these securities

until such time that market liquidity returns to normal levels, and does not consider the principal or interest amounts on

these securities to be materially at risk at this time. As there is uncertainty as to when market liquidity for auction rate

securities will return to normal, the Company has classified the failing auction rate securities as long-term investments on

the balance sheet. As at February 27, 2010, the Company does not consider these investments to be other-than-temporarily
impaired.

S. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Company defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an

orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. When determining the fair value measurements

for assets and liabilities required to be recorded at fair value, the Company considers the principal or most advantageous

market in which it would transact and considers assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or

liability such as inherent risk, non-performance risk and credit risk. The Company applies the following fair value

hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in the valuation methodologies in measuring fair value into three levels:

- Level 1 -— Unadjusted quoted prices at the measurement date for identical assets or liabilities in active markets.



- Level 2 — Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and
liabilities in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or

other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

- Level 3 — Significant unobservable inputs which are supported by little or no market activity.

The fair value hierarchy also requires the Company to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of

unobservable inputs when measuring fair value.

The carrying amounts of the Company's cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, other receivables, accounts

payable and accrued liabilities, approximate fair value due to their short maturities. when determining the fair value of its
investments held, the Company primarily relies on an independent third party valuator for the fair valuation of securities.

Pricing inputs by the service provider are generally received from two primary vendors. The pricing inputs are reviewed for

completeness, tolerance and accuracy on a daily basis by the service provider. The Company also reviews and

understands the inputs used in the valuation process and assesses the pricing of the securities for reasonableness. To do

this, the Company utilizes internally developed models to estimate fair value. Inputs into the internally developed models

may include benchmark yields, reported trades, quotes, issuer spreads, benchmark curves (including Treasury

benchmarks, LIBOR and swap curves), discount rates, derivative indices, recovery and default rates, prepayment rates,

trustee reports, bids/offers and other reference data. In the event the Company disagrees with the pricing from the service
provider, the Company will challenge the pricing and work with the service provider to determine the most reasonable fair
value.

The fair value of currency forward contracts has been estimated using market quoted currency spot rates and interest
rates. The estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that the Company could realize in a
current market exchange. Changes in assumptions could have a significant effect on the estimates.

The following table presents the Company’s assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

 

 

 

 

 

 

As at February 27, 2010 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Available-for-sale investments

Money market fund ................................................................... .. $ 3,278 $ - $ - $ 3,278

Banker acceptances and term deposits/certificates ................... .. - 377,596 - 377,596

Commerical paper and corporate notes/bonds ......................... .. — 846,496 15,128 861,624

Treasury bills/notes ................................................................... .. - 203,631 — 203,631

Government sponsored enterprise notes .................................... .. — 449,708 - 449,708

Asset-backed securities ............................................................. .. - 398,981 - 398,981
Auction-rate securities ................................................................ .. — - 32,839 32,839

Total available-for-sale investments ................ ............................ .. $ 3,278 $ 2,276,412 $ 47,967 $ 2,327,657

Derivative instruments ................................................................... .. — 97,261 - 97,261

Total assets .................................................................................. .. $ 3,278 $ 2,373,673 $ 47,967 $ 2,424,918

Llabllltles

Derivative instruments ................................................................... .. $ - $ 6,164 $ - $ 6,164

Total liabilities ............................................................................... .. $ - $ 6,164 $ - $ 6,164
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
in thousands of United States dollars, except share and per share data, and except as otherwise indicated

 

 

 

 

 

 

As at February 28, 2009 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Available—for-sale investments

Moneg market fund ................................................................. .. $ 5,000 $ - $ - $ 5,000
Bankers acceptances and term deposits/certificates ................ ., — 14,971 - 14,971

Commericai paper and corporate notes/bonds ....................... .. - 389,086 18,702 407,788

Treasury bills/notes ................................................................. .. — 245,614 - 245,614

Government sponsored enterprise notes .................................. .. — 669,371 — 669,371
Asset-backed securities ........................................................... .. - 380,209 - 380,209

Auction-rate securities .............................................................. .. — — 32,842 32,842

Total available-for-sale investments ............................................ .. $ 5,000 $ 1,699,251 $ 51,544 $ 1,755,795

Derivative instruments ................................................................. .. - 70,100 — 70,100

Total assets ................................................................................ .. $ 5,000 $ 1,769,351 $ 51,544 $ 1,825,895

Llabllltles

Derivative instruments ................................................................. .. $ - $ 56,827 $ — $ 56,827

Total liabilities ............................................................................. .. $ - $ 56,827 $ - $ 56,827

The following table summarizes the changes in fair value of the CompanL_i’s Level 3 assets for the year ended Feoruarg 27,
2010: ‘

 

  
 

 

 

 

Level 3

Balance at March 1, 2008 .............................................................................................................................. .. $ 59,418

Unrealized changes in fair value included in other comprehensive income .................................................... .. (4,457)
Accrued interest ............................................................................................................................................ .. 1,072

Transfers out of Level 3 ....................................................... .. (4,489)

Balance at Februarg 28, 2009 ............. .. .. 51,544
Accrued interest ....................................................................................................................................... .. (3)

Transfers out of Level 3 ................................................................................................................................. .. (3,574)

Balance at Februarg 27, 2010 ........................................................................................................................ .. $ 47,967

6. INVENTORIES

Inventories were comprised as follows:

Februarg 27, Februaru 28,
2010 2009

Raw materials ................................................................................................................... .. $ 490,063 $ 464,497

Work in process ................................................................................................................ .. 231,939 250,728

Finished goods .................................................................................................................. ., 17,068 35,264
Provision for excess and obsolete inventories .................................................................... .. (117,459) (68,089)

$ 621,611 $ 682,400



7. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, NET

Property, plant and equipment were comprised of the following:

February 27, 2010

   

Accumulated Net book
Cost amortization value

Land .......................................................................................................... .. $ 104,254 $ — $ 104,254

Buildings, leaseholds and other .................................................................. .. 926,747 115,216 811,531

BlackBerry operations and other information technology ............................ .. 1,152,637 484,180 668,457

Manufacturing equipment, research and development equipment, and

tooling ................................................................................................... .. 347,692 182,228 165,464
Furniture and fixtures .................................................................................. .. 346,641 139,766 206,875

$ 2,877,971 $ 921,390 $ 1,956,581

February 28, 2009
Accumulated Net book

Cost amortization value

$ 90;2S7 $ - $ 90,257

Buildings, leaseholds and other .................................................................. .. 608,213 . 70,017 538,196

BlackBerry operations and other information technology ............................ .. 732,486 316,398 416,088

Manufacturing equipment, research and development equipment, and
tooling ................................................................................................... .. 247,608 108,676 138,932

Furniture and fixtures .................................................................................. .. 244,502 93,327 151,175

$1,923,066 ' $588,418 $1,334,648 

As at February 27, 2010, the carrying amount of assets under construction was $254.3 million (February 28, 2009 —

$88.9 million). Of this amount, $110.9 million (February 28, 2009 — $50.0 million) was included in buildings, leaseholds and
other; $102.5 million (February 28, 2009 — $35.8 million) was included in BlackBerry operations and other information

technology; and $40.9 million (February 28, 2009 —— $3.2 million) was included in manufacturing equipment, research and
development equipment, and tooling.

As at February 27, 2010, $31.7 million has been classified as an asset held for sale and accordingly has been reclassified
from property, plant and equipment to other current assets.

For the year ended February 27, 2010, amortization expense related to property, plant and equipment was $344.5 million
(February 28, 2009 — $203.4 million; March 1, 2008 -— $133.1 million).

8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

Intangible assets were comprised of the following:

February 27, 2010

 

 

 

 

 

 

Accumulated Net book
Cost amortization value

Acquired technology .................................................................................... .. $ 165,791 $ 70,777 $ 95,014
Licenses ....................................................................................................... .. 711,969 196,618 515,351

Patents ......................................................................................................... .. 889,467 173,469 715,998

$ 1,767,227 $ 440.864 $ 1,326,363

February 28, 2009
Accumulated Net book

Cost amortization value

Acquired technology .................................................................................. .. $ 92,819 $ 41,518 $ 51,301

Licenses ................................................................... ..; ............................... .. 427,471 61,112 366,359
Pate nts ...................................................................................................... .. 733,632 84,765 648,867

$ 1,253,922 $ 187,395 $ 1,066,527

NOTES7-8 
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RESEARCH IN MOTION LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
in thousands of United States dollars, except share and per share data, and except as othewvise indicated

During fiscal 2010, the additions to intangible assets primarilg consisted of $104 million as part of a definitive agreement to

settle all outstanding worldwide patent litigation (‘the Vista Litigation”) with Vista Corporation (“Vista”) as described in

note 12(c), agreements with third parties totalling approximatelg $245.7 million for the use of intellectual propertg, software,

messaging services and other BlackBerrg related features and intangible assets associated with the business acquisitions
discussed in note 9.

During fiscal 2009, the Compang entered into agreements with third parties totalling $353.5 million for the use of intellectual

propertg, software, messaging services and other BlackBerrg related features. In addition, the Compang entered into

several agreements to acquire portfolios of patents relating to wireless communication technologies totalling $279.5 million.

The acquired patents were recorded as intangible assets and are being amortized over their estimated useful lives.

For the gear ended Februarg 27, 2010, amortization expense related to intangible assets was $271.1 million (Februarg 28,

2009 — $124.5 million; March 1, 2008 — $44.3 million). Total additions to intangible assets in fiscal 2010 were $531.0 million
(2009 — $721.1million).

Based on the carrging value of the identified intangible assets as at Februarg 27, 2010 and assuming no subsequent

impairment of the underlging assets, the annual amortization expense for the next five fiscal gears is expected to be as
follows: 2011 — $324 million; 2012 — $275 million; 2013 — $227 million; 2014 — $139 million; and 2015 — $61 million.

The weighted-average remaining useful life of the acquired technologg is 3.4 gears (2009 - 3.7 gears).

9. BUSINESS ACQUISITIONS

During fiscal 2010, the Compang purchased for cash consideration certain assets of a compang whose acquired

technologies will be used in next generation wireless technologies. The transaction closed on Februarg 9, 2010.

During fiscal 2010, the Compang purchased for cash consideration 100% of the common shares of Torch Mobile lnc.

(“Torch”). The transaction closed on August 21, 2009. Torch provides the Compang with web browser based technologg.

During fiscal 2010, the Compang purchased for cash consideration 100% of the common shares of a compang whose

proprietarg software will be incorporated into the Compang's software. The transaction closed on Mag 22, 2009.

During fiscal 2010, the Compang purchased 100% of the common shares of Certicom Corp. ("Certicom") at a price of CAD
$3.00 for each common share of Certicom or approximatelg CAD $131.3 million. The transaction closed on March 23, 2009.

Certicom is a leading provider of crgptographg required bg software vendors and device manufacturers looking to protect

the value of content, applications and devices with government approved securitg using Elliptic Curve Crgptographg.

The acquisitions were accounted for using the acquisition method wherebg identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed were measured at their fair values as of the date of acquisition. The excess of the acquisition price over such fair

value, if ang, is recorded as goodwill, which is not expected to be deductible for tax purposes. In-process research and

development is charged to amortization expense immediatelg after acquisition. The Compang includes the operating

results of each acquired business in the consolidated financial statements from the date of acquisition.

Effective fiscal 2010, the Compang expenses: (a) all direct costs associated with the acquisitions as incurred;

(b) compensation paid to emplogees for pre-combination services as part of the consideration paid; and (c) compensation
paid to emplogees for post-combination services as operating expenses separate from the business combination. The
Compang no longer expenses in~process research and development; instead it is capitalized and amortized over its

estimated useful life once it is readg for use. The Compang recognizes the excess of net assets acquired over
consideration paid in income.

During fiscal 2009, the Compang purchased 100% of the common shares of Chalk Media Corp (“Chalk”). The transaction

closed on Januarg 30, 2009. Chalk is the developer of Mobile chalkboard“, which enables the rapid creation and secure,

tracked deplogment of media-rich ‘Pushcasts"”“ to BlackBerrg smartphones.

During fiscal 2009, the Compang purchased 100% of the common shares of a compang whose proprietarg software is

being incorporated into the Compang’s software. The transaction closed on Februarg 13, 2009.



During fiscal 2008, the Compang purchased the assets and intellectual propertg of a compang. The transaction closed on

November 19, 2007. In addition, the Compang purchased 100% of the common shares of a compang whose proprietarg

software has been incorporated into the Compang’s software. The transaction closed on August 22, 2007.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of

acquisition along with prior gear’s acquisition allocations:

 

Februarg 27,
2010

Assets purchased
Current assets ................................................................................................ .. $ 19,282

Capital assets ................................... .. -
Deferred income tax asset .............................................................................. .. 26,000

Acquired technologg ...................................................................................... .. 72,971

In—process research and development ............................................................ .. —
Patents ........................................................................................................... .. 36,600

Goodwill ......................................................................................................... .. 12,989

167,842

Llabllltles assumed .......................................................................... ............... .. 15,072

Deferred income tax liability ............................................................................ .. 751

15,823

Net non-cash assets acquired ........................................................................... .. 152,019

Cash acquired ............................................................................................... .. 8,370

Net assets acquired .......................................................................................... .. 160,389

Excess of net assets acquired over consideration paid ................................... .. (8,588)

Consideration pald ........................................................................................... .. $ 151,801

For the gear ended

Februarg 28,
2009

$9 1,155
494

3,097

31,226

1,919

23,117

61,008

12,583

12,583

48,425
1,421

49,846

$ 49,846

March 1,
2008

341

6,200
1

6,201

$ 6,201

During fiscal 2010, the Compong recorded a gain of $8.6 million as a result of the excess of net assets acquired over

consideration paid on one of the acquisitions. In addition, the Compang expensed $6.5 million of acquisition related costs

due to the four acquisitions. Both of these items were recognized in selling, marketing and administration in the period. The

excess of net assets acquired over consideration paid resulted from the combination of the significant value attributed to

the identifiable intangible assets and the Compang’s ability to utilize tax losses of an acquiree, which was generallg not
available to other market participants.

The weighted average amortization period of the acquired technologg related to the business acquisitions completed in
fiscal 2010 is approximatelg 3.7 gears (2009 — 4.6 gears).

The weighted average amortization period of the patents related to the business acquisition completed in fiscal 2010 is

approximatelg 18.1 gears (2009 — nil gears).

Pro forma results of operations for the acquisitions have not been presented because the effects of the operations,
individuallg or in aggregate, are not considered to be material to the Compang’s consolidated results.
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RESEARCH IN MOTION LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
In thousands of United States dollars, except share and per share data, and except as otherwise indicated

10. INCOME TAXES

The difference between the amount of the provision for income taxes and the amount computed bg multiplging income
before income taxes bu the statutorg Canadian tax rate is reconciled as follows:

February 27,
2010

Statutorg Canadian tax rate ............................................................... .. 32.8%

Expected income tax provision ............................................................ .. $ 1,072,395

Differences in income taxes resulting from:

Impact of Canadian US, dollar functional currency election ............ .. (145,000)
Investment tax credits ...................................................................... ., (101,214)

Manufacturing and processing activities .......................................... .. (52,053)

Foreign exchange ............................................................................ .. 2.837

Foreign tax rate differences ............................................................. .. 5,291
Non-deductible stock compensation ................................................ .. 9,600

Adjustments to deferred tax balances for enacted changes in tax
laws and rates ............................................................................. .. 7,927

Other differences ........................................ .................................. .. 9,583

$ 809,366

February 27,
2010

income before income taxes:

Canadian ........................................................................................ .. $ 2,999,263

Foreign ............................................................................................ .. 267,247

$ 3,266,510

The provision for (recoverg of) income taxes consists of the following:

February 27,
2010

Provision for (recoverg of) income taxes:
Current Canadian ............................................................................ .. $ 695,790

Foreign ........................................................................................... .. 62,642
Deferred Canadian ......................................................................... .. 20,965

Foreign ........................................................................................... .. 29,969

$ 809,366

For the gear ended

February 28, March 1,
2009 2008

33.4% 35.7%

$ 935,881 $ 645,994

(81,173) (58,726)

(49,808) (24,984)

99,575 (30,826)

(16,273) (29,909)
10,500 10,400

1,260 (4,648)
7,785 9,352

$ 907,747 $ 516,653

For the gear ended

Februarg 28, March 1,
2009 2008

$ 2,583,976 $ 1,635,074

216,387 175,446

$ 2,800,363 $ 1,810,520

For the gear ended

Februaru 28, March 1,
2009 2008

$ 880,035 $ 555,895

68,501 31,950

(36,013) (73,294)

(4,776) 2,102

$ 907,747 $ 516,653



Deferred income tax assets and liabilities consist of the following temporary differences:

 
 

 

As at

February 27, February 28.
2010 2009

Assets

Non-deductible reserves ................................................................................................... .. $ 190,491 $ 177,669

Tax loss carryforwards ..................................................................................................... .. 34,947 11,176
Unrealized losses on financial instruments ........................................................................ .. - 1,902

Other tax carryforwards _ . _ _ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .. 12,892 3,972

Net deferred income tax assets. 238,330 194,719

Llabllltles

Capital assets .................................................................................................................. .. (161,707) (91,193)

Research and development .............................................................................................. .. (21,396) (20,283)

Unrealized gains on financial instruments ......................................................................... .. (17,367) -

Net deferred income tax liabilities ........................................................................................ .. (200,470) (111,476)

Net deferred income tax asset .......................................................................................... .. $ 37,860 $ 83,243

Deferred income tax asset — current .................................................................................... .. $ 193,916 $ 183,872

Deferred income tax liability — current ................................................................................. .. (14,674) (13,116)

Deferred income tax asset — long-term ................................................................................ .. . - 404
Deferred income tax liability — long-term ............................................................................. .. (141,382) (87,917)

$ 37,860 $ 83,243

The Company determined that it is more likely than not that it can realize its deferred income tax assets. Accordingly, no
valuation allowance is required on its deferred income tax assets as at February 27, 2010 (February 28, 2009- $nil). The

Company will continue to evaluate and examine the valuation allowance on a regular basis, and when required, the
valuation allowance may be adjusted.

The Company has not provided for Canadian deferred income taxes or foreign withholding taxes that would apply on the

distribution of the income of its non-Canadian subsidiaries, as this income is intended to be reinvested indefinitely.

The Company’s total unrecognized income tax benefits as at February 27, 2010 and February 28, 2009 were $161.2 million

and $137.4 million respectively. The change in unrecognized income tax benefits during fiscal 2010 primarily relates to

changes in measurement of existing uncertain tax positions related to the foreign exchange. A reconciliation of the

beginning and ending amount of unrecognized income tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the Company's
effective tax rate is as follows:

 (in millions)

Unrecognized income tax benefits balance as at February 28, 2009 ............................................................ .. $ 137.4

Foreign exchange ........................................................................................................................................ ._ 35.8

increase for tax positions of prior years ...................................................................................................... .. 4.2
Settlement of tax positions .......................................................................................................................... .. 0.0

Other .......................................................................................................................................................... .. (16.2)

Unreco nized income tax benefits balance as at Februar 27, 2010 ............................................................. .. 3 161.2     

As at February 27, 2010, the total unrecognized income tax benefits of $161.2 million include approximately $118.1 million of

unrecognized income tax benefits that have been netted against related deferred income tax assets. The remaining

$43.1 million is recorded within current taxes payable and other non-current taxes payable on the Company's consolidated
balance sheet as of February 27, 2010.

NOTE10
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RESEARCH IN MOTlON LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
In thousands of United States dollars, except share and per share data, and except as otherwise indicated

A summary of open tax years by major jurisdiction is presented below:
 

Canada“) ..................................................... ..
United States“) ............................................................................................................................... ..

United Kingdom ............................................................................................................................. ..

Fiscal 2003 —— 2010
Fiscal 2003 — 2010

Fiscal 2004 — 2010 

(1) Includes federal as well as provincial and state jurisdictions, as applicable.

The Company is subject to ongoing examination by tax authorities in the jurisdictions in which it operates. The Company

regularly assesses the status of these examinations and the potential for adverse outcomes to determine the adequacy of

the provision for income taxes. Specifically, the Canada Revenue Agency (‘CRA") commenced an examination of the

Company’s fiscal 2006 to fiscal 2009 Canadian corporate tax filings in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010.

The Company has other non-Canadian income tax audits pending. While the final resolution of these audits is uncertain,

the Company believes the ultimate resolution of these audits will not have a material adverse effect on its consolidated

financial position, liquidity or results of operations, The Company believes it is reasonably possible that approximately

$14.1 million of its gross unrecognized income tax benefit will decrease in the next twelve months.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized income tax benefits as interest expense that is

netted and reported within investment income. The amount of interest accrued as at February 27, 2010 was approximately

$9.3 million (February 28, 2009 — approximately $5.4 million). The amount of penalties accrued as at February 27, 2010 was

nil (February 28. 2009 — nil).

11. CAPITAL STOCK

(a) Capital stock

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of non—voting, redeemable, retractable Class A common shares,
an unlimited number of voting common shares and an unlimited number of non-voting, cumulative, redeemable.

retractable preferred shares. At February 27, 2010 and February 28, 2009, there were no Class A common shares or
preferred shares outstanding.

The Company declared a 3-for-1 stock split of the Company’s outstanding common shares on June 28, 2007. The stock
split was implemented by way of a stock dividend. Shareholders received an additional two common shares of the

Company for each common share held. The stock dividend was paid on August 20, 2007 to common shareholders of
record at the close of business on August 17, 2007. All share, earnings per share and stock option data have been adjusted
to reflect this stock dividend.



The following details the changes in issued and outstanding common shares for the three years ended February 27, 2010:

 

 

Capital Stock Treasury Stock
Stock Stock

Outstanding Outstanding
(0003) Amount (0OO's) Amount

Common shares outstanding as at March 3, 2007 ............ .. 557,613 :6 2,099,696 - $ -

Exercise of stock options .................................................. .. 5,039 62,889 - -

Transfers to capital stock resulting from stock option
exercises ....................................................................... .. - 7,271 - -

Common shares outstanding as at March 1, 2008 ............ .. 562,652 2,169,856 — —
Exercise of stock options .................................................. .. 3,565 27,024 — -
Conversion of restricted share units .................................. .. 2 - - -

Transfers to capital stock resulting from stock option
exercises ....................................................................... .. - 11,355 - -

Common shares outstanding as at February 28, 2009 ...... .. 566,219 2,208,235 - -

Exercise of stock options ............................ .. 3,408 30,246 - -
Conversion of restricted share units .................................. .. 2 _ - - -

Transfers to capital stock resulting from stock option
exercises ....................................................................... .. - 15,647 - -

Restricted share unit plan purchase of shares .................. ., - - 1,459 (94,463)

Common shares repurchased ........................................... .. (12,300) (46,519) — —

Common shares outstandin as at Februar 27, 2010 ....... .. 557,329 $ 2,207,609 1,459 $ (94,463)      

On November 4, 2009, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized a Common Share Repurchase Program for the

repurchase and cancellation, through the facilities of the NASDAQ Stock Market, common shares having an aggregate

purchase price of up to $1.2 billion, or approximately 21 million common shares based on trading prices at the time of the
authorization. This represents approximately 3.6% of the outstanding common shares of the Company at the time of the

authorization. In the third quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company repurchased 12.3 million common shares at a cost of

$775.0 million pursuant to the Common Share Repurchase Program. There was a reduction of $46.5 million to capital stock

and the amounts paid in excess of the per share paid-in capital of the common shares of $728.5 million was charged to

retained earnings. All common shares repurchased by the Company pursuant to the Common Share Repurchase Program

have been cancelled. The Common Share Repurchase Program will remain in place for up to 12 months from November 4,

2009 or until the purchases are completed or the program is terminated by the Company.

The Company had 557.4 million voting common shares outstanding, 8.9 million stock options to purchase voting common

shares outstanding, 1.4 million RSUs outstanding and 34,801 DSUS outstanding as at March 30, 2010.

(b) Stock-based compensation

Stock Option Plan
The Company recorded a charge to income and a credit to paid-in-capital of $37.0 million in fiscal 2010 (fiscal 2009 —
$38.1 million; fiscal 2008 -— $33.7 million) in relation to stock-based compensation expense.

The Company has presented excess tax benefits from the exercise of stock-based compensation awards as a financing
activity in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Stock options granted under the plan generally vest over a period of five years and are generally exercisable over a

period of six years to a maximum of ten years from the grant date. The Company issues new shares to satisfy stock
option exercises. There are 6.0 million stock options vested and not exercised as at February 27, 2010. There are 13.6 million

stock options available for future grants under the stock option plan.

In fiscal 2010, the Company completed the repricing to a higher exercise price of certain of its outstanding stock options.

This repricing followed a voluntary internal review by the Company of its historical stock option granting practices.
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RESEARCH IN MOTION LIMITED

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
In thousands of United States dollars, except share and per share data, and except as otherwise indicated

Repriced options in fiscal 2010, which were all done on a voluntary basis between the Company and the option holder ,
include 27 stock option grants to 25 individuals in respect of options to acquire 456,800 common shares (fiscal 2009 — 43

stock option grants to 40 individuals in respect of options to acquire 752,775 common shares). In addition, during fiscal

2008, the Company received $8.7 million in restitution, inclusive of interest, related to incorrectly priced stock options that

were exercised prior to fiscal 2008. As the repricing of stock options reflects an increase in the exercise price of the option,
there is no incremental stock compensation expense related to these repricing events.

As previously disclosed, the Company's Co-Chief Executive Officers voluntarily offered to assist the Company in defraying
costs incurred in connection with the Review and the Restatement by contributing CAD $10.0 million (CAD $5.0 million by

each Co-CEO) of those costs. As part of a settlement agreement reached with a pension fund, an additional CAD

$5.0 million (CAD $2.5 million by each Co-CEO) was received in the third quarter of fiscal 2008. The Company received these

voluntary payments in the second and third quarters of fiscal 2008 and were recorded net of income taxes as an increase
to additional paid-in capital. Furthermore, as part of a settlement agreement reached with the OSC, on February 5, 2009,
Messrs. Balsillie, Lazaridis and Kavelman also agreed to contribute, in aggregate, a total of approximately CAD

$83.1 million to RIM, consisting of (i) a total of CAD $38.3 million to RIM in respect of the outstanding benefit arising from

incorrectly priced stock options granted to all RIM employees from 19% to 2006, and (ii) a total of CAD $44.8 million to RIM
(CAD $15.0 million of which had previously been paid) to defray costs incurred by RIM in the investigation and remediation

of stock options, granting practices and related governance practices at RIM. These contributions are being made through
Messrs. Balsillie, Lazaridis and Kavelman undertaking not to exercise certain vested RIM options to acquire an aggregate

of 1,160,129 common shares of RIM. These options have a fair value equal to the aggregate contribution amounts

determined using a BSM calculation based on the last trading day prior to the day the OSC issued a notice of hearing in

respect of the matters giving rise to the settlement. In the first quarter of fiscal 2010, options to acquire an aggregate of
758,837 common shares of RIM expired in satisfaction of the undertakings not to exercise options. These options are
included in the disclosure of forfeitures during the period in the table below. The remaining options subject to the

undertakings are shown as outstanding, vested and exercisable as at February 27, 2010 in the table below and expire at
specified dates between February 28, 2010 and October 2013. Messrs. Balsillie, Lazaridis, Kavelman and Angelo Loberto,

previously Vice-President of Finance (currently with the Company in another role), also paid a total of CAD $9.1 million to
the OSC as an administrative penalty and towards the costs of the OSC’s investigation.

In June 2007, the Board amended the Stock Option Plan to provide that options held by directors of the Company will not

terminate upon a director ceasing to be a director of the Company if such person is appointed as a Director Emeritus of
the Board. This resulted in a modification for accounting purposes of unvested options previously granted to two directors

who where appointed Directors Emeritus during the second quarter of fiscal 2008, which in turn required the Company to
record additional compensation expense in fiscal 2008 in the amount of $3.5 million.



A summarg of option activitg since March 3, 2007 is shown below:

Options Outstanding

 

 

 

 

Weighted- I Average
Average Remaining Aggregate

Number Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
(in 000's) Price Life in Years Value

Balance as at March 3, 2007 ........................................................ .. 19,161 $ 10.85

Granted during the gear ............................................................... .. 2,518 101.60

Exercised during the gear ............................................................. .. (5,039) 10.82

Forfeited/cancelled/expired during the gear .................................. .. (174) 31.76

Balance as at March 1, 2008 ......................................................... .. 16,466 $ 28.66

Exercised during the gear ............................................................. .. (3,565) 7.60
Forfeited/cancelled/expired during the gear .................................. .. (170) 60.25

Balance as at Februarg 28, 2009 .................................................. .. 12,731 $ 27.51
Granted during the gear ........................................... .. 559 64.14

Exercised during the gear ............................................................. .. (3,408) 8.87

Forfeited/cancelled/expired during the gear .................... .. ............ .. (859) 15.03 

27, 2010 ................................................... ..

27, 2010 .................... ..

27, 2010 .............................................. ..

Balance as at Februar 9,023

8,814

5,968

$ 44.18

$ 43.62

$ 32.15

2.44

2.41

1.76

$ 307,626

$ 304,259

$ 258,577

    

 

  

 

 

   Vested and ex ected to vest as at Februar
   

 
Exercisable as at Februar

       

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (the aggregate difference

between the closing stock price of the Compang’s common shares on Februarg 27, 2010 and the exercise price for

in-the-moneg options) that would have been received bg the option holders if all in-the-moneg options had been exercised

on Februarg 27, 2010. The intrinsic value of stock options exercised during fiscal 2010, calculated using the average market
price during the period, was approximatelg $58 per share.

A summarg of unvested stock options since Februarg 28, 2009 is shown below:

Options Outstanding

Weighted
Average

Grant
Date Fair

Number (in 000's) Value 

Balance as at Februarg 28, 2009 ....................................................................... .. 4,045 $ 29.69

 

 

Granted during the period ........................................................................................................ .. 559 33.02

Vested during the period ................ .. (1,468) 24.83

Forfeited during the period ....................................................................................................... .. (80) 37.45

Balance as at Februarg 27, 2010 ............................................................................................... ., 3,056 $ 32.44 

As at Februarg 27, 2010, there was $74.7 million of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested

stock options which will be expensed over the vesting period, which, on a weighted-average basis, results in a period of

approximatelg 1.9 gears. The total fair value of stock options vested during the gear ended Februarg 27, 2010 was
$36.5 million.

Cash received from the stock options exercised for the gear ended Februarg 27, 2010 was $30.2 million (Februarg 28,
2009 —— $27.0 million). Tax benefits realized bg the Compang related to the stock options exercised was $1.9 million
(Februarg 28, 2009 —— $12.6 million; March 1, 2008 — $8.2 million).
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During the gear ended Februarg 27, 2010, there were 559 stock options granted. The weighted-average fair value of stock

options granted during fiscal 2010 and fiscal 2008 were calculated using the BSM option-pricing model with the following
assumptions:

For the gear ended

Februarg 27, March 1,

 

2010 2008

Number of options granted (OOO’s) ............................................................................................... .. 559 2,518

Weighted-average grant date fair value of stock options granted during the gear ........................ .. $ 33.02 $ 47.11

Assumptions:

Risk—free interest rate ................................................................................................................ .. 1.8% 43%

Expected life in gears ................................................................................................................ .. 4.2 4.6

Expected dividend gield ............................................................................................................ .. 0% 0%

1 Volatilit ................................................................................................................................... .. 65% 41%-57%   

* There were no stock options granted during fiscal 2009.

The Compang has not paid a dividend in the previous twelve fiscal gears and has no current expectation of paging cash
dividends on its common shares. The risk-free interest rates utilized during the life of the stock options are based on a U.S.

Treasurg securitg for an equivalent period. The Compang estimates the volatilitg of its common shares at the date of grant
based on a combination of the implied volatilitg of publiclg traded options on its common shares, and historical volatilitg,

as the Compang believes that this is a better indicator of expected volatilitg going fon/I/ard. The expected life of stock

options granted under the plan is based on historical exercise patterns, which the Compang believes are representative of
future exercise patterns.

Restricted Share Unit Plan

During fiscal 2010, the trustee purchased 1,458,950 common shares for total consideration of approximatelg $94.5 million to

complg with its obligations to deliver shares upon vesting. These purchased shares are classified as treasurg stock for

accounting purposes and included in the shareholders’ equitg section of the Compang’s consolidated balance sheet.

The Compang recorded compensation expense with respect to RSUs of $21.0 million in the gear ended Februarg 27, 2010

(Februarg 28, 2009 — $196; March 1, 2008 — $33).

A summarg of RSU activitg since Februarg 28, 2009 is shown below: 
 

Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate

Number Grant Date Contractual lnstrinsic
(in 000's) Fair Value Life in Years Value

Balance as at Februarg 28, 2009 .................................................. .. 3 $ 117.36

1' Granted during the period ............................................................ .. 1,470 66.03
3 Released during the period .......................................................... .. (2) 117.36

‘ Cancelled during the period ......................................................... .. (22) 66.06

1 Balance as at Februarg 27, 2010 ................................................... .. 1,449 $ 66.09 2.16 $ 102,713
,' Vested and ex ected to vest at Februar 27, 2010 ......................... .. 1,328 $9 66.10 2.15 $ 94,156       

> The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (the aggregate closing share
; price of the Compang’s common shares on Februarg 27, 2010) that would have been received bg RSU holders if all RSUs
I had been redeemed on Februarg 27, 2010.

I As of Februarg 27, 2010, there was $66.9 million of unrecognized compensation expense related to RSUs which will be
I expensed over the vesting period, which, on a weighted-average basis, results in a period of approximatelg 1.7 gears.
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Deferred Share Unit Plan

The Company issued 14,593 DSUs in the year ended February 27, 2010. There are 34,801 DSUS outstanding as at

February 27, 2010 (February 28, 2009 — 20,208). The Company had a liability of $2.5 million in relation to the DSU plan as
at February 27, 2010 (February 28, 2009 — $834).

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

(a) Credit Facility

The Company has $150.0 million in unsecured demand credit facilities (the 'Facilities") to support and secure operating and

financing requirements. As at February 27, 2010, the Company has utilized $6.9 million of the Facilities for outstanding
letters of credit, and $143.1 million of the Facilities are unused.

(b) Lease commitments

The Company is committed to future minimum annual lease payments under operating leases as follows:
Equipment and

 

Real Estate other Total

For the years ending
2011 ......................................................... .. $ 35,088 $ 1,917 $ 37,005

2012 ......................................................................................................... .. 30,611 1,202 31,813

2013 ......................................................................................................... ., 27,841 163 28,004

2014 ........................................................................................................ .. 26,178 - 26,178

2015 ......................................................................................................... .. 21,755 - 21,755
Thereafter ............................................................................................... ., 63,631 - 63,631

$ 205,104 $ 3,282 $ 208,386 

For the year ended February 27, 2010, the Company incurred rental expense of $39.6 million (February 28, 2009 —
$22.7 million; March 1, 2008 — $15.5 million).

(c) Litigation

On July 23, 2009, the Company settled the Visto Litigation, The key terms of the settlement involved the Company receiving
a perpetual and fully-paid license on all Visto patents, a transfer of certain Visto intellectual property, a one-time payment

by the Company of $267.5 million and the parties executing full and final releases in respect of the Vista Litigation. Of the
total payment by the Company, $163.8 million was expensed as a litigation charge in the second quarter of fiscal 2010. The

remainder of the payment was recorded as intangible assets.

The Company is involved in litigation in the normal course of its business, both as a defendant and as a plaintiff. The

Company may be subject to claims (including claims related to patent infringement, purported class actions and
derivative actions) either directly or through indemnities against these claims that it provides to certain of it partners. in

particular, the industry in which the Company competes has many participants that own, or claim to own, intellectual

property, including participants that have been issued patents and may have filed patent applications or may obtain
additional patents and proprietary rights for technologies similar to those used by the Company in its products. The

Company has received, and may receive in the future, assertions and claims from third parties that the Company's

products infringe on their patents or other intellectual property rights. Litigation has been and will likely continue to be

necessary to determine the scope, enforceability and validity of third-party proprietary rights or to establish the

Company's proprietary rights. Regardless of whether claims that the Company is infringing patents or other intellectual
property rights have any merit, those claims could be time-consuming to evaluate and defend, result in costly litigation,

divert management's attention and resources, subject the Company to significant liabilities and could have other effects.
Additional lawsuits and claims, including purported class actions and derivative actions, may also be filed or made based

upon the Company's historical stock option granting practices.

Management reviews all of the relevant facts for each claim and applies judgment in evaluating the likelihood and, if
applicable, the amount of any potential loss. Where it is considered likely for a material exposure to result and where the
amount of the claim is quantifiable, provisions for loss are made based on management’s assessment of the likely

outcome. The Company does not provide for claims that are considered unlikely to result in a significant loss, claims for
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which the outcome is not determinable or claims where the amount of the loss cannot be reasonablg estimated. Ang

settlements or awards under such claims are provided for when reasonablg determinable.

Additional lawsuits and claims, including purported class actions and derivative actions, mag be filed or made based

upon the Compang’s historical stock option granting practices. Management assesses such claims and where considered
likelg to result in a material exposure and, where the amount of the claim is quantifiable, provisions for loss are made

‘ based on management’s assessment of the likelg outcome. The Company does not provide for claims that are considered
unlikelg to result in a significant loss, claims for which the outcome is not determinable or claims where the amount of the
loss cannot be reasonablg estimated. Ang settlements or awards under such claims are provided for when reasonablg
determinable.

See the “Legal Proceedings and Regulatorg Action” section of R|M’s Annual Information Form for additional unaudited
information regarding the Compang's legal proceedings, which is included in R|M’s Annual Report on Form 40-F and “Legal
Proceedings” in the Management‘s Discussion and Analgsis (“MD&A") of financial condition and results of operations for
fiscal 2010.

I 13. PRODUCT WARRANTY
‘ The Compang estimates its warrantg costs at the time of revenue recognition based on historical warrantg claims

‘ experience and records the expense in cost of sales. The warrantg accrual balance is reviewed quarterlg to establish that it
I . materiallg reflects the remaining obligation based on the anticipated future expenditures over the balance of the obligation

period. Adjustments are made when the actual warrantg claim experience differs from estimates.

The change in the Compang’s warrantg expense and actual warrantg experience from March 3, 2007 to Februarg 27, 2010
as well as the accrued warrantg obligations as at Februarg 27, 2010 are set forth in the following table:

 Accrued warrantg obligations as at March 3, 2007

 

 

Actual warrantg experience during fiscal 2008 ............................................................................................. .. (68,166)
Fiscal 2008 warrantg provision .................................................................................................................... .. 116,045

Accrued warrantg obligations as at March 1, 2008 ....................................................................................... .. 84,548
Actual warrantg experience during fiscal 2009 ............................................................................................. .. (146,434)
Fiscal 2009 warrantg provision .................................................................................................................... .. 258,757

V Adjustments for changes in estimate .................. .. (12,536)

_¢i_a Accrued warrantg obligations as at Februarg 28, 2009 ................................................... .. 184,335
3} Actual warrantg experience during fiscal 2010 .............................................................................................. .. (416,393)
35 Fiscal 2010 warrantg provision ..................................................................................................................... .. 462,834
.2 Adjustments for changes in estimate ............................................................................................................ .. 21,541

Accrued warrant obli ations as at Februar 27, 2010 .................................................................................. .. $ 252,317    

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

 
For the gear ended 

 

I February 27, Februarg 28, March 1,
‘ 2010 2009 2008

Net income for basic and diluted earnings per share available to common
2 shareholders ............................................................................................. .. $2,457,144 $1,892,616 $1,293,867
1

L Weighted-average number of shares outstanding (00O’s) — basic .................. .. 564,492 565,059 559,778
1 Effect of dilutive securities (000’s) — stock-based compensation ..................... .. 5,267 9,097 13,052

Weighted-average number of shares and assumed conversions (0O0’s) —
diluted ....................................................................................................... .. 569,759 574,156 572,830 

Earnings per share — reported
Basic .......................................................................................................... .. $ 4.35 $ 3.35 $ 2.31

4.31 3.30 2.26
 (P;->I-Fc}



15. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

The components of comprehensive income (loss) are shown in the following table:

For the gear ended 

Februarg 27, Febmarg 28, March 1,
2010 2009 2008

Net income ......................................................................................................................... .. $2,457,144 $1,892,616 $1,293,867

Net change in unrealized gains (losses) on available- for-sale investments ...................... ,. 6,803 (7,161) 13,467
Net change in fair value of derivatives designated as cash flow hedges during the gear,

net of income taxes of $13,190 (Februarg 28, 2009 —tax recoverg of $8,641; March 1,

2008 — income taxes of $19,238) ..................................................................................... .. 28,324 (6,168) 37,564

Amounts reclassified to earnings during the gear, net of income tax recoverg of $6,079

(Februarg 28, 2009 — income taxes of $4,644; March 1, 2008 — income taxes of $5,142) .. 15,508 (16,497) (9,232)

Com rehensive income....................................................................................................... .. $2,507,779 $1,862,790 $1,335,666     

The components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are as follows:

 

 

As at

Februarg 27, Februarg 28, March 1,

2010 Z X009 2008

Accumulated net unrealized gains (losses) on available- for-sale investments ...................... .. $ 6,715 $(88) $ 7,073
Accumulated net unrealized gains on derivative instruments designated as cash flow

hedges ................................................................................................................................ .. 44,377 545 23,210

Total accumulated other com rehensive income ................................................................... .. $51,092 $457 $30,283    

The components of unrealized gains (losses) on derivative instruments are as follows:

 

As at

Februarg 27, Februarg 28,
2010 2009

Unrealized gains included in other current assets ................................................................................... .. $97,261 $70,100
Unrealized losses included in accrued liabilities ...................................................................................... .. (6,164) (56,827)

Net fair value of unrealized ains on derivative instruments ................................................................... .. $91,097 $ 13,273    

16. SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION

(a) Cash flows resulting from net changes in working capital items are as follows:

For the gear ended 

 

Februarg 27, Februarg 28, March 1,
2010 2009 2008

Accounts receivable ............................................................................................................. .. $(480,610) $(936,514) $(602,055)

Other receivables ................................................................................................................ .. (44,719) (83,039) (34,515)

inventories ........................................................................................................................... .. 60,789 (286,133) (140,360)
Other current assets ............................................................................................................ .. (52,737) (50,280) (26,161)

Accounts pagable ............................................................................................................... .. 167,281 177,263 140,806
Accrued liabilities ................................................................................................................. ,_ 442,065 506,859 383,020

Income taxes pagable ........................................................................................................ .. (266,517) (113,868) 401,270
Deferred revenue ......... .. 13,739 16,598 8,789

$(160,709) $(769,114) $ 130,794 
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(b) Certain statement of cash flow information related to interest and income taxes paid is summarized as follows:

For the year ended 

February 27, February 28, March 1,
2010 2009 2008

Interest paid during the year ................................................................................................ .. $ - $ 502 $ 518
Income taxes aid durin the ear ...................................................................................... ..     

$1,081,720 $946,237 $216,095

(c) The following items are included in the accrued liabilities balance:

 

  

As at

February 27, February 28,
2010 2009

Marketing costs ....................................................................................................................................... .. $ 91,554 $ 91,160
Vendor inventory liabilities.. 125,761 18,000
Warranty ................................................................................................................................................. .. 252,316 184,335

383,939 279,476

Rebates ................................................................................................................................................... .. 146,304 134,788

Other ....................................................................................................................................................... .. 638,386 530,843

$1,638,260 $1,238,602 

Other accrued liabilities as noted in the above chart, include, among other things, salaries, payroll withholding taxes and

incentive accruals, none of which are greater than 5% of the current liability balance.

(d) Additional information

Advertising expense, which includes media, agency and promotional expenses totalling $790.8 million (February 28, 2009 —
$718.9 million; March 1, 2008 — $336.0 million) is included in selling, marketing and administration expense.

Selling, marketing and administration expense for the fiscal year includes $58.4 million with respect to foreign exchange
losses (February 28, 2009 — loss of $6.1 million; March 1, 2008 — loss of $5.3 million). For the year ended February 27, 2010,
the Company recorded a $54.3 million charge primarily relating to the reversal of foreign exchange gains previously
recorded in fiscal 2009 on the revaluation of Canadian dollar denominated tax liability balances. Throughout fiscal 2009,

foreign exchange gains were offset by foreign exchange losses incurred as a part of the Company’s risk management
foreign currency hedging program. With the enactment of changes to the functional currency tax legislation by the
Government of Canada in the first quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company changed the basis for calculating its income tax

provision for its Canadian operations from Canadian dollars, to the U.S. dollar, its reporting currency with an effective date
being the beginning of fiscal 2009. The gains realized on the revaluation of these tax liabilities previously denominated in
Canadian dollars throughout fiscal 2009 were reversed upon enactment of the changes to the rules in the first quarter of
fiscal 2010.



     

17. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Values of financial instruments outstanding were as follows:

Februarg 27, 2010

Notional Carrging Estimated
Amount Amount FairValue
 

Assets (Liabilities)

Currencg forward contracts — asset .................................................................................. .. $2,630,304 $97,261 $97,261
Currenc forward contracts—liabilit ............................................................................................. .. $ 574,776 $(6,164) $(6,164)

 

    

Februarg 28, 2009

Notional Carrging Estimated
Amount Amount Fairvalue
 

Assets (Llabllltles)

Currencg forward contracts - asset .......................................................................................... .. $1,147,709 $70,100 $70,100
Currenc forward contracts—liabilit ............................................................................................... .. $ 975,543 $(S6,827) $66,827)

 

  
   

The Compang uses derivative instruments to manage exposures to foreign exchange risk resulting from transactions in
currencies other than its functional currencg, the US. dollar. The Compang’s risk management objective in holding
derivative instruments is to reduce the volatilitg of current and future income as a result of changes in foreign currencg. To
limit its exposure to adverse movements in foreign currencg exchange rates, the Compang enters into foreign currencg
forward and option contracts.

The majoritg of the Company's revenues in fiscal 2010 are transacted in US. dollars. However, portions of the revenues are
denominated in, Canadian dollars, Euros, and British Pounds. Purchases of raw materials are primarilg transacted in US.
dollars. Other expenses, consisting of the majoritg of salaries, certain operating costs and manufacturing overhead are
incurred primarilg in Canadian dollars. The Campang enters into forward contracts to hedge portions of these anticipated
transactions to reduce the volatilitg on income associated with the foreign currencg exposures. The Compang also enters
into forward contracts to reduce the effects of foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the revaluation of certain

foreign currencg monetarg assets and liabilities. At Februarg 27, 2010 approximatelg 38% of cash and cash equivalents,
22% of accounts receivables and 7% of accounts pagable and accrued liabilities are denominated in foreign currencies

(Februarg 28, 2009 — 36%, 26% and 4%, respectivelg).

The Compang enters into forward contracts to hedge exposures relating to foreign currencg anticipated transactions.
These contracts have been designated as cash flow hedges, with the effective portion of the change in fair value initiallg
recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income and subsequently reclassified to income in the period in which the
cash flows from the associated hedged transactions affect income. Ang ineffective portion of the change in fair value of
the cash flow hedge is recognized in current period income. As at Februarg 27, 2010 and Februarg 28, 2009, the derivatives
designated as cash flow hedges were considered to be fullg effective with no resulting portions being designated as
ineffective. The maturitg dates of these instruments range from March 2010 to December 2012. As at February 27, 2010, the
net unrealized gains on these forward contracts was $62.2 million (February 28, 2009 — net unrealized losses of $2.7 million;
March 1, 2008 — net unrealized gains of $34.6 million). Unrealized gains associated with these contracts were recorded in
other current assets and accumulated other comprehensive income. Unrealized losses were recorded in accrued liabilities
and accumulated other comprehensive income. In fiscal 2011, $59.5 million of net unrealized gains on these forward
contracts will be reclassified to income.

The following table shows the fair values of derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges in the consolidated
balance sheets:

AS Gt 

Februarg 27, 2010 Februarg 28, 2009
Balance Sheet Balance Sheet
Classification Fair Value Classification Fair Value

Other current assets $66,246 Other current assets $48,074
Accrued liabilities $ 4,039 Accrued liabilities $ 50,756

    
Currencg forward contracts — asset
Currenc forward contracts — liabilit  
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The following table show the impact of derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges on the consolidated
statements of operations for the gear ended Februarg 27, 2010:

Amount of Gain (Loss) Location of Gain (Loss) Amount of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in OCI on Reclassified from Reclassified from
Derivative Instruments Accumulated OCI into Accumulated OCI into

(Effective Portion) Income (Effective Portion) Income (Effective Portion)

Currencg Forward Contracts $51,812 Revenue I $(34,204)
3 ‘ Currencg Forward Contracts $3,069 Cost of sales $ 4,706

i , Currencg Forward Contracts $ 1,897 Selling, marketing and administration $ 2,809
1 : Currenc Forward Contracts $4,966 Research and develoment :3 6,270

 
The following table show the impact of derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges on the consolidated
statements of operations for the gear ended Februarg 28, 2009:

E: Amount of Gain (Loss) Location of Gain (Loss) Amount of Gain (Loss)
' s Recognized in OCI on Reclassified from Reclassified from

Derivative Instruments Accumulated OCI into Accumulated OCI into
(Effective Portion) income (Effective Portion) Income (Effective Portion)

Currencg Forward Contracts $ 47,272 Revenue $ 43,212
Currencg Forward Contracts $ (9,991) Cost of sales $(4,425)

Currencg Forward Contracts $(14,986) Selling, marketing and administration $(6,638)
Currenc Forward Contracts $(24,9T7) Research and develoment $(11,063)

 
As part of its risk management strategg, the Company mag maintain net monetarg asset and/or liabilitg balances in
foreign currencies. The Compang enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to hedge certain monetarg assets and
liabilities that are exposed to foreign currencg risk. The principal currencies hedged include the Canadian dollar, Euro, and
British Pound. These contracts are not subject to hedge accounting, and ang gains or losses are recognized in income

each period, offsetting the change in the U.S. dollar value of the asset or liabilitg. The maturitg dates of these instruments

range from March 2010 to Mag 2010. As at Februarg 27, 2010, net unrealized gains of $28.9 million were recorded in respect
of these instruments (Februarg 28, 2009 — net unrealized gains of $16.0 million; March 1, 2009 — net unrealized losses of

$6.9 million). Unrealized gains associated with these contracts were recorded in other current assets and selling, marketing
and administration. Unrealized losses were recorded in accrued liabilities and selling, marketing and administration.

, The following table shows the fair values of derivative instruments that are not subject to hedge accounting in the
consolidated balance sheets:

i T As at

‘ Februarg 27, 2010 Februarg 28, 2009Balance Sheet Balance Sheet
Classification Fair Value Classification Fair Value

Currencg forward contracts — asset Other current assets $31,014 Other current assets $22,026
Currenc forward contracts — liabilit Accrued liabilities $ 2,126 Accrued liabilities $ 6,071

 

  
 

 
     

The following table shows the impact of derivative instruments that are not subject to hedge accounting on the
consolidated statement of operations for the gear ended Februarg 27, 2010:

Location of Loss Recognized in Income Amount of Loss in Income
on Derivative Instruments on Derivative Instruments

Currenc Forward Contracts Sellin, marketin and administration $65,125)
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The following table shows the impact of derivative instruments that are not subject to hedge accounting on the
consolidated statement of operations for the gear ended Februarg 28, 2009:

Location of Gain Recognized in Income Amount of Gain in Income
on Derivative instruments on Derivative Instruments

Sellin, marketin and administration $24,782

The Compang is exposed to credit risk on derivative financial instruments arising from the potential for counterparties to
default on their contractual obligations. The Compang mitigates this risk bg limiting counterparties to highlg rated financial
institutions and bu continuouslg monitoring their creditworthiness. The Compang’s exposure to credit loss and market risk
will varg over time as a function of currencg exchange rates. The Company measures its counterpartg credit exposure as a
percentage of the total fair value of the applicable derivative instruments. Where the net fair value of derivative instruments
with ang counterpartg is negative, the Compang deems the credit exposure to that counterpartg to be nil. As at
Februarg 27, 2010, the maximum credit exposure to a single counterpartg, measured as a percentage of the total fair value
of derivative instruments with net unrealized gains was 24% (Februarg 28, 2009 — 60%; March 1, 2008 — 40%).

 

 Currenc Forward Contracts

The Compang is exposed to market and credit risk on its investment portfolio. The Company reduces this risk bg investing
in liquid, investment grade securities and by limiting exposure to ang one entitg or group of related entities. As at
Februarg 27, 2010, no single issuer represented more than 8% of the total cash, cash equivalents and investments
(Februarg 28, 2009, no single issuer represented more than 12% of the total cash, cash equivalents and investments).

Cash and cash equivalents and investments are invested in certain instruments of varging maturities. Consequentlg, the
Compang is exposed to interest rate risk as a result of holding investments of varging maturities. The fair value of
investments, as well as the investment income derived from the investment portfolio, will fluctuate with changes in

prevailing interest rates. The Companu does not currentlg utilize interest rate derivative instruments in its investment
portfolio.

NOTE17
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} . 13. SEGMENT DISCLOSURES
The Company is organized and managed as a single reportable business segment. The Compang’s operations are

substantiallg all related to the research, design, manufacture and sales of wireless communications products, services and
software.

Selected financial information is as follows:

1 Revenue, classified by major geographic segments in which our customers are located, was as follows:

L For the year ended
1 February 27, Februaru 28, March 1,
, 2010 2009 2008

9 Revenue
‘ Canada .................................................................................................. .. $ 843,762 $ 887,005 $ 438,302

A, United States .......................................................................................... .. 8,619,762 6,967,598 3,528,858

1 United Kingdom ...................................................................................... .. 1,447,417 711,536 461,592
‘ Other ...................................................................................................... .. 4,042,283 2,499,047 1,580,643

r $14,953,224 $11,065,186 $6,009,395

3 Revenue
1 Canada ................................................................................................ .. 5.6% 8.0% 7.3%

, United States .......................................................................................... .. 57.7% 63.0% 58.7%
: United Kingdom ......................................... .. 9.7% 6.4% 7.7%
1 Other ...................................................................................................... .. 27.0% 22.6% 26.3%I 

I , 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

 

 

?_ 

 

 

. For the year ended

1 Februarg 27, Februari; 28, March 1,
1 ~ 2010 2009 2008I

'1 Revenue mix
,5 Devices ................................................................................................... .. $ 12,115,765 $9,089,736 19 4,768,610
3 Service ........ .. 2,158,591 1,402,560 860,641

» Softwa re ................................................................................................. .. 258,635 251,871 234,388

‘; 420,233 321,019 145,756
$14,953,224 $11,065,186 $6,009,395

As at

Februaru 27, February 28,

I 2010 2009

I 4 Capital assets, intangible assets and goodwill
Canada ......................................................................................................................... .. $ 2,605,267 $ 1,948,337

r United States ................................................................................................................. 682,291 482,826
" = United Kingdom ..... .. 46,009 49,454

Other ............................................................................................................................. .. 99,938 58,130

$ 3,433,505 $2,538,747

Total assets 
 

Canada ................................................................................................... .. $ 4,502,522 $3,218,640 

52 United States ................................................................................................................. .. 4,059,174 2,646,783

L; United Kingdom ............................................................................................................ .. 1,195,534 1,931,387
.3 Other ............................................................................................................................. .. 447,179 304,562
_j.e_ 

$10,204,409 $ 8,101,372?. 


